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This is an English translation of the German Annual Report 2017  
published by SPORTTOTAL AG.
The German Annual Report has been published in the German  
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger). In the event of the German Annual 
Report 2017 of SPORTTOTAL AG and this English translation comprising 
differences, the published and audited original German version shall 
prevail.

In accordance with Section 328 Paragraph 2 of the German Commercial 
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch - HGB), we point out that the translation is 
not a legally binding publication and that the auditor‘s report has not 
been attached for this reason. 

In accordance with Section 322 Paragraph 3 Sentence 1 HGB, the  
auditor issued an unqualified auditor‘s opinion. Please refer to the  
original German version of the auditor‘s report for further information.

Please note:
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Performance indicators overview

01/01 - 31/12/2017 01/01/ – 31/12/2016*
EUR thousand   EUR thousand

Revenue         60,278 59,649
Revenue – discontinued operations   4,531 8,806
Revenue – continued operations 55,747 50,843
EBIT  1,487 -6,222
EBIT - continued operations   515 -3,610
EBT   1,308 -6,635
EBT - continued operations 336 -3,962
Equity     19,165 7,540
Total assets 34,279 22,266
Equity ratio 55.9% 33.9%

* Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 5
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In the financial year 2017, your company has experienced some fun-
damental changes - far more than merely the renaming of the compa-
ny from _wige MEDIA AG to SPORTTOTAL AG. This change of name, 
however, stands symbolically for our restructuring process: We were 
aware that after several disappointing years, we first had to reco-
ver your trust in us. Unambiguous assessments regarding the future  
sustainability of our business and consistent decisions were called for. 
The result: We divested all business segments in which we do not see 
ourselves among the top players. At the same time, we developed a 
new business model, designed to increase the value of your company 
– and to make it even more valuable in future. Our interim conclu-
sion: Market capitalisation has more than doubled in the period from
1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 – including two successful capital
increases with which we financed our transformation.

Finally, we achieved a spot landing with regard to revenue and ear-
nings - exactly as forecast, despite the massive restructuring measures. 
The revenue of 60 million Euros and our EBIT of 1.5 million Euros (of 
which 1.2 million Euros resulted from the book profit from the sale 
of subsidiaries) was something astounding considering this year‘s res-
tructuring measures. From an operative perspective, we are quite satis-
fied with an - although very small - operating profit of 0.3 million Euros 
in this year of our transformation.

Dear Shareholders,

SPORTTOTAL CEO Peter Lauterbach visiting Microsoft‘s #DPK17 in Leipzig
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A robust basis for growth

Today, the SPORTTOTAL - Group is a technology and media company 
operating in the rapidly scalable digital sector with video platforms and 
communities (DIGITAL), in the high-margin national and international 
project sector (VENUES) as well as in the live events (LIVE) business. All 
business segments are lucrative. Our DIGITAL business segment with 
sporttotal.tv offers tremendous opportunities for growth with highly  
attractive margins and easily predictable cash inflows over longer periods. 
 In the first year, we are fully on track: With our founding partners  
Allianz, Deutsche Telekom, Deutsche Post and Bild as well as a superior 
 technology, we installed the first 200 systems on German amateur 
football fields in 2017. Using an intelligent, self-learning algorithm, 
our high-tech cameras follow the match fully automatically, which 
we broadcast live and on demand at sporttotal.tv as well as on the 
high-coverage amateur sports portal fussball.de. The viewer interest 
in enormous. Because we provide the viewers with far more options 
than traditional linear TV broadcasting stations can. With us, the viewer 
decides when he wants to watch the match and using an app he can 
even act as director, change perspectives and directly share scenes on 
social media. Using sporttotal.tv is free of charge, as the digital services 
are funded by advertising and sponsors. With Hyundai we have been 
able to gain an exclusive sponsor in the automotive sector, which will 
support us for at least three years. 

SPORTTOTAL AG booth at the SPOBIS 2018 in Düsseldorf
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We pursue an ambitious goal and intend to become the largest vi-
deo platform in the field of amateur sports in Europe with sporttotal.
tv – including additional features (analytics), interactive functions and 
a constantly growing community. Thanks to a ten-year contact, sport-
total.tv is the video arm of the DFB in amateur football – and we are 
currently preparing to expand on an international level. But also in 
the VENUES segment, our more international focus of the recent years 
has paid off: Here, SPORTTOTAL benefits from its unique expertise – a 
project business with low fixed costs and highly attractive margins. 
Time and again, SPORTTOTAL is awarded tenders in which it competes 
with major international corporations. In the LIVE business segment, 
SPORTTOTAL generates stable and predictable revenues. Even though 
the return and absolute income is modest in this field, this business 
remains attractive due to the extremely low capital intensity and risk. 
The return on capital employed is considerable in this field. This way, 
SPORTTOTAL combines rapidly scalable revenues and earnings with 
its new structure with a high degression of fixed costs as well as struc-
turally profitable and predictable revenues and earnings. Or in other 
words: A robust basis for growth.

For 2020, our target remains unchanged with a revenue of 100 
million Euros and a 10% EBIT margin 

For 2018, we expect a revenue in the range of 50 to 70 million Euros 
and an EBIT between -3 million and 3 million Euros. In doing so, we 
strive to compensate a sales volume of approximately 14 million 
Euros through organic growth compared to 2017: Because the profit 
and loss statement for 2017 still includes similar revenues from busi-
ness segments which have been sold in the meantime.

Peter Lauterbach on the stage at the #DPK17 in Leipzig
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For the year 2019, we are planning a sales bandwidth of 70 to 80 million 
Euros and an EBIT margin of 7 to 9%; and from today‘s perspective, 
the planned minimum sales volume of 100 million Euros and an EBIT 
margin of at least 10% are easily achievable for 2020. Judging by the 
potential of our DIGITAL segment, this goal now even appears rather 
conservative.

Value-driven growth

We are fully aware that you would prefer a forecast with nar-
rower bandwidths. However, the wide range of options exis-
ting within the scope of our expansion is difficult to determi-
ne – not only because potential projects may reach volumes 
between 10 and 30 million Euros in the VENUES segment. We have 
taken highly probable scenarios into account in our forecast range. 

These scenarios have in common that we will be creating the basis for 
an expansion to further sports disciplines and for going international 
with sporttotal.tv in 2018. For this, we will start on some pilot projects 
and carry out lots of tests. Our Berlin-based development lab, which 
we are resolutely taking to the next level, will develop and test several 
value-adding contents; and also in 2018, we will invest heavily to make 
the brand even better known and test various applications. We are 
confident that an increasing number of pay and sponsoring concepts 
will be implemented next to football.

With the sporttotal.tv application, you can be your own director
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Less capital intensity – better results per share

This means that the capital intensity of our business model has drop-
ped compared to our original expectations. As we have been previ-
ously only able to use borrowed capital for financing our growth to a 
very limited extent, this is excellent news for you: Now we will have to 
conduct less capital increases until 2020 than originally expected. Due 
to the minimised dilution, you can now expect a better result per share 
than in our original scenario. You see: We strive to make your company 
even more valuable in the years to come! 

And I would like to add this personal comment: We have never befo-
re worked with more pleasure than today. An idea, which acts as our 
foundation. Top projects, which we are developing continuously. Excel-
lent partners, which we can rely on. A performance-oriented, power-
ful team with a positive, entrepreneurial enthusiasm for SPORTTOTAL! 
It motivates me every day, to be part of this company.

Your 
Peter Lauterbach 

Peter Lauterbach on the stage of the SPOBIS 2018 in Düsseldorf
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Peter Lauterbach

Since the end of May 2013  
CEO of SPORTTOTAL AG

2011 Appointed to the Manage-
ment Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, 
contributed the ByLauterbach 
GmbH as non-monetary capital

2007 – 2011 Formula 1 Presen-
ter, SKY Deutschland GmbH

Since 2003 Founder and CEO of 
ByLauterbach GmbH 

Oliver Grodowski 

Since March 2016 CTO of 
SPORTTOTAL AG

2014 Appointed Senior Vice 
President Tech

2013 Joined _wige as Head of 
Research & Development Race 
Director of the Federation Inter-
nationale De L‘Automobile FIA 
(Formula 1 and Formula E)

Previously: Start-up of various IT 
companies, including Develop IT, 
ISTARI Sport
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We take sports to the max.  
LIVE. DIGITAL. EMOTIONAL.

The history of SPORTTOTAL AG (previously _wige MEDIA AG) is a his-
tory of extraordinary ideas and technical innovations in the world of TV 
broadcasting. We have had the honour to shape and make the world‘s 
major sports events, like the Olympic Games, Football Worldcups or 
Formula 1 races, come alive for decades – as a broadcaster, specialist 
for content production as well as organiser and marketer.
Since 1979, our company acts as a partner of leading sports event or-
ganisers, major associations and strong brands.

Since 2017, our company operates under the name of SPORTTOTAL 
AG. The new name represents the strategic direction and the core 
business of our company much better than the previous one. We are, 
love, produce, broadcast and market sports. As a content specialist 
for companies and TV channels, marketers and coordinators of sports 
events or equipper of entire sporting venues, we will continue to act 
for you in future.
LIVE. DIGITAL. EMOTIONAL.

Facts 
• Founding year: 1979 under the name of WIGE Data Datenservice GmbH 
• Year of the company‘s initial public offering: 2000 
• Change of name: 2017 to SPORTTOTAL AG 
• Number of employees: 150 (as of February 2018) 
• Locations: Berlin, Cologne (Headquarters), Munich, Rheinbach, Stuttgart
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DFB and SPORTTOTAL enter into a 10-year partnership
The new company name is also the starting shot for a new life cycle 
of your company. And we are proud to declare that our new strategy 
is paying off. This becomes most evident when regarding our start-up 
sporttotal.tv: After a successful pilot phase, the German Football As-
sociation (DFB), the DFB GmbH, in which the business activities of the 
association are integrated, and the sporttotal.tv gmbh entered into a 
long-term cooperation for raising the visibility and presenting amateur 
football. 

The joint aim of the cooperation is to equip amateur clubs in Germa-
ny starting at the fourth highest leagues with a special video techno-
logy, which enables the live broadcasting of football matches in top 
quality and fully automatically at the online portal sporttotal.tv. Here, 
the viewer can act as his own director, determine the perspective and 
share scenes in social media. Using the football broadcasts is free of 
charge, as sporttotal.tv finances itself through advertising. The coope-
ration with the DFB is initially planned for ten years. In addition, sport-
total.tv works together with the amateur football portal FUSSBALL.DE, 
which is run by the DFB and its state associations in cooperation with 
the Deutsche Post AG.

Operative highlights 2017/2018 
SPORTTOTAL AG
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This partnership gives us tremendous planning reliability and a special 
market advantage over potential competitors for ten years. This step 
will also help us intensify our top-level partnerships (Allianz, Bild, Deut-
sche Post, Telekom) on our journey together as well as to successfully 
recruit further partners.

Hyundai to become long-term advertising partner  
of SPORTTOTAL

Hyundai Motor Deutschland GmbH and sporttotal.tv 
gmbh have agreed on a long-term advertising partner-
ship. Until 2020, Hyundai will comprehensively adverti-
se its products on sporttotal.tv. Football sponsoring is 
a core element of the Hyundai marketing strategy and 
establishes an emotional relationship with fans and 
customers on the basis of their common passion for 
football. This creates popular products like the ama-
teur‘s goal of the month, sponsored by Hyundai, as 
well as prize competitions and activation campaigns 
etc. also in cooperation with the textile giant KiK. A  
clear indication that sporttotal.tv is extremely attracti-
ve for advertising partners with its very interesting tar-
get group, i.e. amateur athletes, and their many fans.

German Sports Aid Foundation and SPORTTOTAL start a partnership

Time for the next step: With its strategic partnership with the Ger-
man Sports Aid Foundation (Deutsche Sporthilfe), sporttotal.tv is now 
expanding its portfolio. Since 2017, the streaming platform has been 
broadcasting amateur sports, to begin with mainly football, from the 
fourth highest league upwards - live, on demand and in highlight clips. 
Now the portal is expanding its ranges by adding further disciplines. 

HYUNDAI AMATOR DES MONATS Gewinnspiel

Markus Schrick, CEO Hyundai Motor Germany, 
handed over the vehicles with an eye-catching 
design to SPORTTOTAL CEO Peter Lauterbach
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Expansion partner is the German Sports Aid Foundation which alrea-
dy has an own channel at sporttotal.tv. Here, you can find reports on 
sporting events as well as exclusive insights into the everyday life of 
various top athletes. The athletes supported by the foundation – inclu-
ding world champions and 
European champions, like 
the world champion in judo 
Alexander Wieczerzak – 
provide glimpses into their 
training, competition pre-
paration as well as perso-
nal insights into their goals, 
expectations and mindsets. 
Apart from its commitment 
together with the German 
Sports Aid Foundation, 
sporttotal.tv is currently 
also in the middle of tes-
ting the broadcasting of ot-
her popular amateur sports 
such as basketball, handball 
and hockey. For instance, 
we have already successfully broadcasted Bundesliga matches of the 
German hockey association. You see, sporttotal.tv is increasing to grow 
and is gaining more and more attention.

Campaign launch with Jung von Matt/sports

And we just can‘t get enough! In order to gain an even better position, 
sporttotal.tv is pulling out all the stops: Our streaming portal for ama-
teur football has started an advertising campaign in order to gain even 
more national attention for our services. The spot developed by Jung 
von Matt/sports shows the heroes of the bottom German leagues stri-
king the poses of world stars like Ronaldo, Balotelli etc. The campaign 
shows that it doesn‘t always have to be the crème de la crème. The boys 
from the local team can also play football. „The stars from next door“. 

Dr. Michael Ilgner (Deutsche Sporthilfe / German Sports Aid 
Foundation), Alexander Wieczerzak (World Champion in Judo) 
with Peter Lauterbach (SPORTTOTAL CEO)
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SPORTTOTAL opens development lab in Berlin

In order to secure an optimal place in the memory of the users, we 
strive to create an interdisciplinary digital experience. For this reason, 
sporttotal.tv opened a development lab in Berlin in January 2018. As 
Vice President, Kasar Masood is in charge of the Team Digital Tech-
nology which will further develop the technology and programming 
for our amateur sports video platform sporttotal.tv as well as the as-
sociated products. Several analysis features as well as various inter-
active tools are being successively developed for sporttotal.tv and the 

growing amateur sports community. Kasar Masood can draw 
on more than 20 years of experience in the area of software 
engineering and most recently acted as Director of Techno-
logy & Operations (Global Mobile Platforms) at the interna-
tional media group Viacom International Media Networks. In 
addition, the segment is among others enhanced by Danny 
Preussler. As Head of Mobile Engineering the Google Deve-
loper Expert will manage the team of developers.
Apart from an optimum user experience, we expect a varie-
ty of new revenue potential in particular from the analysis 
features. Now, we have the opportunity to develop products 
which are extremely interesting for many clubs and other in-
terest groups; and which will help us tap into new markets in 
the technology and software segment in future. Kasar Masood
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Installed sporttotal.tv system at FC Viktoria Köln 1904 e.V.

The logos of the four founding partners of sporttotal.tv
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SPORTTOTAL optimises content think tank and stages „Intelligent 
World Drive“ for Mercedes

Within the scope of the renaming process, your company has changed 
in many areas. In order to create more efficient company structures for 
customers and employees, the former editorial and marketing depart-
ments of SPORTTOTAL were merged to the CONTENT MARKETING 
segment at the beginning of 2017. This optimisation of processes and 
workflows gave rise to improved customer services, a uniform, trans-
parent service portfolio as well as the foundation for a successful res-

tructuring of the company for entering into the digital age.
The change is particularly noticeable in how we deal with our few, but 
very good partners, who are more friends than customers. And exactly 
this approach is reflected in the quality of our current product range: 
Social Media Content Campaign and Atmosphere Media Cloud. The two 
products stand for really good content where the focus lies clearly on 
motion pictures and which enable fantastic projects for our partners.

A special project led us to five different continents in five months: Mer-
cedes-Benz started its „Intelligent World Drive“, the first automated 
test drive of a production vehicle around the globe. In Europe, China, 
Australia, Africa and the USA, the S-Class is collecting data in order to 
make the driving assistance technology even better and to adopt it to 
the various markets. SPORTTOTAL accompanied Mercedes on its jour-
ney around the world and captured the adventure on film for the social 
media channels of the automotive manufacturer.
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Porsche as an indispensable partner of SPORTTOTAL

Long-term customers have a special standing at our company.  
A very good example for this is the successful collaboration with the  
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG. SPORTTOTAL (then the _wige GROUP) has 
been responsible for the concept development, organisation and imple-
mentation of driver events and Porsche Experience trips since January 
2014. Porsche Experience consists of the Porsche Travel Experience 
which offers adventure trips and tours worldwide, Porsche Track Ex-
perience within the scope of which professional driving trainings take 
place focusing on Europe‘s major race tracks as well as Porsche Ice 
Experience winter driving training courses on snow and ice in the far 
north of Finland.

MakingOf Fotos from various film sets of the CONTENT MARKETING GmbH,
e.g. for Mercedes Benz and Volkswagen Motorsport
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Race track technology nearly completely installed in Kuwait 

SPORTTOTAL VENUES is close to finalising the installation phase for 
the „Kuwait Motortown“ project. Despite a very tight schedule and the  
respective coordination-related challenges, the system was nearly  
completely installed by the end of 2017. Currently, a smaller  
SPORTTOTAL crew is working on the last fine-tuning tasks and the 
onboarding of local staff so that the race track with „grade 1“ FIA licen-
sing (which means that even Formular 1 races can be carried out here) 
can take up regular operation. And the next major race track project 
is just around the corner with a preliminary contact for the technical 
equipment of the track in Nalchik (Russia).

High-end mediatisation: ADAC Zurich 24h-race on the Nürburgring

In May 2017, 205,000 spectators flocked to the Nürburgring. During 
the four-day event, SPORTTOTAL once again ensured a perfect staging 
of the „Green Hell“. Here, too, hospitality, marketing and mediatisa-
tion were implemented with huge success. For this, SPORTTOTAL now 
acted for the second time as producer for the „Nürburgring Award 
Night“ with over 350 guests from the business, sports and media. This 
24h-race is by far no longer a normal race. The race has turned into a 
media highlight for lots of motor sports enthusiasts, which continue 
to optimise from year to year. Always keeping pace with the times. 

Some images of the „24h-race at the Nürburgring“ and the “ Nürburgring Award 
Night“, among others with Laura Wontorra, Oliver Pocher and the musician and 
racing driver Smudo
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SPORTTOTAL acts as producer for the „Ball des Sports“ event

In February 2017, SPORTTOTAL was as in the previous years entrusted 
with the realisation of the „Ball des Sports“ event. For this, we created 
a world of experience including an after show party for 2,000 guests. 
The presentation areas of the sponsors, the special accreditation  
system as well as the successful realisation topped off the evening. Our 
reassignment for the year 2018 underlines this good and productive 
collaboration. 
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The shares
DAX with new record highs

The German stock index DAX which includes the 30 major German 
companies according to market capitalisation and exchange turnover 
trading on the German stock exchange, benefited in 2017 from the 
good economic data, business results and expectations as well as from 
the continuously loose monetary policy in Europe, achieving new re-
cord highs. Nevertheless the development of the DAX in the course of 
2017 proved to be sensitive to the political developments in Europe, 
geopolitical tensions in the world as well as the exchange rate trend of 
the Euro compared to the US Dollar. The stock index started the year 
2017 with an opening rate of 11,426 points. Although the conflict in 
Syria produced uncertainty at the beginning of April and slowed down 
the price development, the DAX exceeded the previous all-time high 
of 12,390 points on 24 April – spurred on by the pro-European outco-
me of the elections in France. On 15 May, the index reached the 12,800 
point mark for the first time and then the next mark at 12,900 points on 
19 June. The index then dropped again to slightly under 12,000 points 
until the end of August. The main reason for this was probably the 
interest hike of the American Federal Reserve System (FED) and thus 
the expectation of a generally more restricted monetary policy, also 
in Europe. But also the considerable rise of the Euro and the half-year 
results of DAX corporations which were behind expectations, will have 
had an impact. In addition, there were the geopolitical tensions bet-
ween North Korea and the USA. 
In September, the index then recovered and continued its rally, under 
the positive impact of the good economic and business figures. Follo-
wing a price increase, the index reached the 13,000 mark on 12 Octo-
ber. On 7 November, the DAX then recorded a new all-time high with 
the annual high at 13,525.56 points. Subsequently, the strong Euro 
initially caused a correction; at the end of the year, the stock exchanges 
however benefited not least from the expected positive effects of the 
US tax reform. On 29 December, the DAX closed the year with a plus of 
13% or 12,917.64 points, compared to the beginning of the year.

After the DAX had started into the year 2018 at an opening price of 
12,897.69 points, the positive price development continued at first 
– not least due to the positive impulses on the US stock exchanges. 
Within the course of 23 January 2018, the index passed the previous 
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record high and set a new record high at 13,596.89 points (closing 
price 23 January 2018: 13,339.60 points). Subsequently, in particular 
the strong Euro and the rising interest rates forced the DAX to lose. 
The fear that the interest could rise faster than expected, resulted in 
sell-offs on the US and Asian stock exchanges, tearing the DAX down 
with them, which on 13 February 2018 closed the day after a price 
slump at 12,196.5 points. On 28 February 2018, the DAX then slightly 
recovered closing the day at 12,435.85.

DAXsector All Media temporarily disengages from the development 
of the DAX.

The market index DAXsector All Media holds all 52 listed companies 
from the media sector, including SPORTTOTAL AG. After the index had 
started into the year at 290.83 points, it exceeded the 300 point mark 
already at the end of January. Until the end of August, the index then in 
principle followed the price development of the DAX. On 2 June 2017, 
the annual high for 2017 of 333.81 points was achieved. From the end 
of August, the index then showed a considerably weaker performance 
than the DAX. The closing price on 29 August 2017 also marked the 
annual low with 289.79 points. This was mainly due to the poor busi-
ness figures and forecasts of the DAX heavyweights in the index, such 
as ProSieben- Sat.1 Media SE. Only towards the end of the year 2017, 
did the index manage to recover slightly. At the end of the year, DAX-
sector All Media closed at 320.18 points, gaining about 10% compared 
to the beginning of the year. 

In the year 2018, the index set off at 320.28 points and showed a con-
siderably stronger performance than the DAX during the first two 
months. Record results like for the index value Ströer SE + CO. KGAA, 
as well as probably also factors such as the change at the head of Pro-
SiebenSat.1 Media SE generated a dynamic development and caused 
the index to once again develop contrary to the DAX. In the course 
of 27 February 2018, the index new record high of 347.09 points and 
closed the day on 28 February 2018 with 343.79 points – which was a 
plus of 7.3% since the beginning of 2018.
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Price development of the SPORTTOTAL shares in comparison

SPORTTOTAL AG shares show a strong performance

The shares of the SPORTTOTAL AG started the stock market year 2017 
at € 2.39. Despite a high volatility, the price development showed a 
significant upward trend which was not even slowed down by the  
capital increase in March 2017. The growth trend then increased signi-
ficantly after the news that the Allianz Deutschland AG, Deutsche Post 
AG and Telekom Deutschland will support the new service range of 
sporttotal.tv as founding partners. The rally then continued, accompa-
nied by ground breaking company news such as the cooperation with 
Hyundai and the DFB and positive impulses of various capital market 
conferences. 

On 20 July 2017, the general meeting decided on the renaming of the 
company from _wige MEDIA AG to SPORTTOTAL AG, thus underlining 
the focus on the new, digital business model. The official renaming of 
the shares, upon which the _wige MEDIA AG vanished from the stock 
exchange list and where now SPORTTOTAL can be found under the 
known ISIN, was carried out following the registration of the new name 
in the commercial register at the beginning of September. 

However, the shares of the SPORTTOTAL AG were not able to escape 
the downward trend of the DAXsector All Media index at the end of 
August and the beginning of September; it then nevertheless recove-
red again quickly, supported by positive company news such as the  
expansion of sporttotal.tv to Austria or the opening of a digital  



development lab in Berlin. The capital increase in November triggered 
a price adjustment in the same month. On 6 November, the day of the 
capital increase, the price had previously reached the annual high for 
2017 of € 4.45; in the following the shares then however lost conside-
rably and dropped to below the € 4 mark on 6 December. Neverthe-
less the shares, which closed the year on 29 December 2017 at € 3.81, 
achieved a record growth of 59% in the course of 2017, thus exceeding 
the performance of the DAX and DAXsector All Media by far.

The shares started into the year 2018 with € 3.81 and crossed the € 
4- marked for the first time on the very next day. In particular the news 
of a strategic partnership between the sports city of Düsseldorf and 
sporttotal.tv had a positive impact. The shares then came under pres-
sure after a press release by the Commission on Concentration in the 
Media (KEK) stating that the BILD GmbH & Co. KG intended to acquire 
5% of the share capital of the sporttotal.tv gmbh. After clarification of 
the situation by SPORTTOTAL AG, i.e. that this was merely a normal 
prior notification in the run-up to contractual negotiations and that 
the other founding partners - Allianz Deutschland AG and Deutsche 
Post AG - too, could exercise similar options, the price soon recovered 
and achieved the current annual high for 2018 within the course of 23 
February 2018 with € 4.70. The SPORTTOTAL shares closed the day on 
28 February 2018 at € 4.45 – which was a plus of nearly 17% compared 
to the beginning of the year.

In the overall year 2017, the average daily trading volume amounted 
to 17,932 shares on Xetra or 20,816 shares taking into account all Ger-
man stock exchanges. Thus, the average daily trading volume on Xetra 
more than doubled in comparison to the previous year period (2016: 
Xetra - 8,238 shares, all German stock exchanges – 9,703 shares). Her-
eby, the final quarter was definitely the strongest, with an average daily 
trading volume of 23,837 shares on Xetra and taking into account all 
German stock exchanges even 27,304. 

Analyses see the fair value of the shares at up to 5 Euros

Currently, the shares of the SPORTTOTAL AG are regularly monitored 
by four research analysts. The analyses see the fair value of the shares 
between € 4.10 and € 5. Whilst Kepler Cheuvreux recommends in its 
analysis to hold on to the shares, the analysts of DZ Bank, Warburg and 
Montega AG recommend to sell the shares.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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Market capitalisation and shareholder structure

On 28 February 2018, the share capital of SPORTTOTAL AG amounted 
to € 21,420,529 broken down into 21,420,529 shares. 1,608,288 shares 
originated from the capital increase at the end of March / beginning 
of April 2017. The shares had been issued at a subscription price of € 
2.50 per share. The gross issuing proceeds amounted to € 4.01 million 
and were used to strengthen the working capital basis as well as for 
the further expansion of the subsidiary sporttotal.tv. 
An additional 1,946,666 shares originated from the capital increased 
in November 2017. They had been issued at a subscription price of € 
4.10 per share. The gross issuing proceedings amounted to € 7.98 and 
is intended to be used for the further expansion of sporttotal.tv.

For up to 171,849 shares, convertible bonds from the convertible bond 
programme 2014/2019 are still outstanding.

Based on the voting rights notifications received by 28 February 2018, 
the shareholder structure is currently as follows:

Shareholder structure
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Investor relations
The SPORTTOTAL AG has set itself the objective to transparently in-
form current and future shareholders. The status of the current busi-
ness development as well as all capital market relevant notifications 
are regularly published on the website of the company under Investor 
Relations. In addition, shareholders and interested parties subscribe 
for an IR newsletter. The IR team will also be happy to answer all que-
ries arising.

Furthermore, the Management Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG atten-
ded a total of nine capital market conferences in the financial year 
2017, e.g. including the DVFA autumn conference, the German Equity 
Forum and the Munich Capital Market Conference as well as organi-
sing five road shows.

In 2018, the SPORTOTAL AG has already organised two capital market 
conferences and two road shows in the first two months of the finan-
cial year. The considerably increased attendance of conferences and 
road shows as well as the transparent and constant provision of infor-
mation to the shareholders and capital market participants has certain-
ly contributed to the very dynamic share price development, which is 
why more capital market conferences and road shows are planned for 
the course of 2018.

The financial calendar can be checked out under Investor Relations 
on the website of SPORTTOTAL AG.
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Statement of compliance in accordance with Section 161 of the 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on the recommendations of the 
government commission German Corporate Governance Codex

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG 
(formerly: _wige MEDIA AG) most recently issued a statement of 
compliance pursuant to Section 161 AktG in April 2017. The following 
statement refers to the period from the publication of the last statement 
of compliance up to and including 19 May 2017 regarding the German 
Corporate Governance Codex (hereinafter also referred to as the 
„Codex“ or „DCGK“) as amended on 5 May 2015. For the period after 
20 May 2017, the below statement refers to the recommendations of 
the Codex as amended on 7 February 2017, published on 24 April 2017 
and 19 May 2017 (amended version) in the German Federal Gazette.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the  
SPORTTOTAL AG declare that the recommendations of the  
„Government Commission German Corporate Governance Codex“ are 
and have been complied with, with the following exceptions:

Section 3.8 DCGK
Exceeding the statutory provisions, the Codex recommends the 
members of the Management Board to agree on a corresponding 
deductible in the D&O insurance also for the Supervisory Board.

A deductible for the Supervisory Board members has however been 
waived. In the opinion of the SPORTTOTAL AG, the agreement 
regarding a deductible has no impacts on the sense of responsibility 
and loyalty with which the Supervisory Board carries out the tasks and 
functions entrusted to it.

Section 4.1.3 DCGK
The Codex recommends to provide employees and third parties with 
appropriate facilities to give hints regarding legal infringements in 
the company is a sheltered setting. This is generally understood as 
an institutionalised whistle-blower system, enabling the reporting 
of infringements while preserving the anonymity and confidentiality 
of the whistle-blower. Currently, there is no such system, and the 
introduction of such a system is not intended. In the opinion of the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board the disadvantages of 
such a system significantly outweigh the advantages, as neither the 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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abuse of the system nor negative impacts on the company atmosphere 
and the motivation of the employees can be excluded by creating an 
atmosphere of mutual distrust.

Sections 4.1.5, 5.1.2 and 5.4.1 DCGK
The Codex recommends to respect diversity when recruiting staff 
for executive positions in companies (Section 4.1.5 DCGK), in the 
compilation of the Management Board (Section 5.1.2 DCGK) and the 
Supervisory Board (Section 5.4.1 DCGK) (Diversity) and to in particular 
aim for an appropriate representation of women. 

Diversity is generally taken into account in the recruitment of staff for 
executive positions. However, our main focus lies on the professional 
qualifications and experience of the potential candidates (women 
and men). The same applies for the Supervisory Board and for the 
appointment of board positions and election proposals for members 
of the Supervisory Board.

Section 4.2.3 DCGK
When concluding management board employment agreements, 
the codex recommends to ensure that payments including ancillary 
benefits due upon the premature termination of the board activities 
do not exceed two annual remunerations (compensation cap) and not 
to pay more than owed for the residual period of the employment 
agreement. 

This recommendation could only be taken into account for a still 
ongoing management board employment agreement (grandfathering).

In addition, the Codex recommends that the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board shall provide the general meeting with a one-off 
information about the basic principles of the remuneration system as 
well as on any amendments.

The remuneration system of the Management Board shall be explained 
in detail in the annually published financial report of SPORTTOTAL AG. 
Based on the above, the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board of SPORTTOTAL AG believe that the information requirements 
of the shareholders are sufficiently complied with.
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Section 4.2.5 DCGK
In Section 4.2.5 (3), the Codex recommends reports exceeding the 
statutory provisions and the German Accounting Standard (DRS 17) in 
the remuneration report, and provides two specimen tables in Annex I 
of the Codex for this purpose. SPORTTOTAL AG does not comply with 
this recommendation.

The remuneration report and the presentation of the management 
board salaries in the consolidated financial statement of the 
SPORTTOTAL AG correspond to the statutory provisions taking into 
account the additional requirements of DRS 17. In the opinion of the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board this ensures a full and 
proper presentation of the management board salaries so that the 
justified interests of the shareholders for information are fully complied 
with.

Section 5.3.1 DCGK
The Codex recommends, depending on the specific circumstances 
of the company and the number of Supervisory Board members, to 
establish qualified committees. 

As the Supervisory of the SPORTTOTAL AG consists of three members, 
no committees will be established within the Supervisory Board, as in 
accordance with Section 108 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG) all members of the Supervisory Board will have to take part in 
the passing of resolutions. Accordingly, neither an audit committee 
(Section 5.3.2.) nor a nomination committee has been established 
(Section 5.3.3.).

Section 5.4.1 DCGK
Apart from the definition of concrete objectives for its compilation, 
the Supervisory Board shall develop a competency profile for the 
entire body and take this into account in the proposals to the general 
meeting regarding the new appointment of members. 

In its election proposals for the general meeting, the Supervisory Board 
shall comply with the statutory provisions and the recommendations of 
the Codex with regard to the personal requirements of the members of the 
Supervisory Board. In doing so, the individual professional and personal 
competencies with particular focus on the company-specific situation and 
its requirements shall always be taken into account in the considerations. 
The development of a competency profile for the entire body, is on the 
other hand deemed dispensable by the Supervisory Board.



ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Section 5.4.6 DCGK
The Codex recommends and personalised disclosure of the 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board members in the Annex or the 
Management Report, broken down into individual components.
As the Supervisory Board consists of only three members, the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG 
deem it sufficient, to disclose a personalised overview of the 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board members.

Section 7.1.2 DCGK
The Codex recommends the publication of consolidated financial 
statements within 90 days after the end of the financial year and of 
interim reports within 45 days after the end of the period under report.

Due to the relatively small size of the company and the on the other hand 
large amount of time required for the consolidation of the subsidiaries 
as well as for the preparation and audit of the consolidated financial 
statement, it has not yet been possible to prepare the consolidated 
financial statement within 90 days after the end of the financial year 
and the interim report within 45 days after the end of the period under 
report.

The SPORTTOTAL AG therefore reliably publishes the consolidated 
financial statements within 120 days after the end of the financial year 
and the interim report within 60 days after the end of the period under 
report.

Cologne, in March 2018

On behalf of the Supervisory Board   On behalf of the Management Board
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board -  - Chairman of the Management Board-
signed: Dr. Michael Kern    signed: Peter Lauterbach
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Supervisory Board Report for the  
financial year 2017

Dear Shareholders, 
Dear Sir or Madam, 

As the previous years, 2017 was characterised by the strategic realign-
ment of SPORTTOTAL AG towards its goal to become a provider of 
digital content: The sale of the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh and the 
51% participation in the sports media group GmbH, the as-planned 
development of sporttotal.tv as well as the sustainable development 
of the international project business were important milestones. The 
Supervisory Board expressly thanks CEO Peter Lauterbach and CTO 
Oliver Grodowski as well as all staff members for their outstanding 
work and extraordinary commitment.
 
The Supervisory Board in the financial year 2017

In 2017, the Supervisory Board consisted of three members,  
Hans J. Zimmermann, Jens Reidel, and the Chairman Dr. Michael Kern. 
No committees were established. 
In the financial year 2017, a total of four ordinary Supervisory Board 
meetings were held, i.e. on 8 February, 27 April, 20 July, and 7 Novem-
ber as well as four extraordinary meetings on 6 April, 19 September, 28 
September and 6 November.
The Supervisory Board regularly advised and monitored the activities 
of the Management Board in the financial year 2017, in accordance 
with the statutory provisions and the articles of association of SPORT-
TOTAL AG. The Supervisory Board was informed about all decisions of 
major importance for the company at an early stage and was included 
in the decision-making process. The Management Board informed the 
Supervisory Board regularly and comprehensively about the planned 
and actual course of business, liquidity planning, financing as well as 
the strategic further development of the company. The Supervisory 
Board was informed about the current development of business as well 
as opportunities and risks of further developments orally and in writing 
also outside the ordinary / extraordinary Supervisory Board meetings. 
The Supervisory Board is convinced that the company identifies poten-
tial risks at an early stage and constantly monitors compliance.
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Main agenda items of Supervisory Board meetings
 
Apart from the already mentioned contents of the meetings, the Su-
pervisory Board dealt with the following main agenda items in the year 
2017: 

• Verification and consultation regarding the sale of business segments 
and participations: The sale of the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh and 
the participation in the sports media group GmbH was analysed, nego-
tiated and finally approved by the Supervisory Board within the scope 
of the Supervisory Board meetings. 

• Implementation of key projects: The Supervisory Board was among 
other things regularly informed about the current situation and plan-
ning of the subsidiary sporttotal.tv gmbh. The Management Board 
reported on the development, measures and upcoming milestones. 
In particular, the Supervisory Board intensively negotiated with the 
Management Board in the matter of the financing of the expansion 
measures. 

• Capital measures: In April 2017, the Supervisory Board decided on 
and approved the capital increase from approved capital while gran-
ting the shareholders a subscription right for the enhancement of the 
working capital and in particular for the investment of the company 
in the expansion of the subsidiary sporttotal.tv., whereby a total of 
1,602,288 new shares were issued at a price of € 2.50 per new share. 
Within the scope of the additional capital increase from approved ca-
pital conducted in November 2017 in form of a private placement un-
der exclusion of subscription rights, a total of 1,946,666 new shares at 
the price of € 4.10 each were placed mainly with institutional investors 
in Germany and aboard. The Supervisory Board expressly welcomes 
the approach of the Management Board, to conduct capital increases 
only for clearly defined investment projects and to thus keep the dilu-
tion effect as low as possible. 
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Corporate Governance

The Supervisory Board compared the management of the SPORTTO-
TAL AG with the contents of the German Corporate Governance Co-
dex as amended on 7 February 2017. The recommendations of the 
government commission are largely complied with. Due to the size of 
the company, the SPORTTOTAL AG in some duly substantiated cases 
deviates from the recommendations. The annual statement of com-
pliance decided on and published by the Management Board and Su-
pervisory Board in March 2018 in accordance with Section 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) can be retrieved by the share-
holders and interested parties on the website of SPORTTOTAL AG at 
any time.

Annual and consolidated financial statement

The audit and tax consulting firm Trusted Advice AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Düsseldorf, selected 
by the general meeting on 20 July 2017, audited the financial state-
ment of the SPORTTOTAL AG as required by the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) as well as on the consolidated financial statement of 
the SPORTTOTAL AG prepared for the financial year 2017 and granted 
both statements an unqualified audit opinion.
The Supervisory Board extensively discussed and audited the state-
ment in a meeting held on 27 March 2018. All necessary documents as 
well as the relevant audit reports were presented to the members of 
the Supervisory Board in due time.  In the meeting, the auditors of the 
audit firm reported on the results of their audit and answered all ques-
tions in detail. They informed the Supervisory Board about services 
provided in addition to the audit and that no conflict of interest exists. 
The Supervisory Board approved the result of the audit conducted by 
the auditors and thus officially approved the financial statement and 
the consolidated financial statement. Thus the annual statement of the 
SPORTTOTAL AG has been official approved.
Last but not least, I would like to thank my Supervisory Board collea-
gues for their trusting and constructive cooperation in the Supervisory 
Board.

Cologne, 27 March 2018
Dr. Michael Kern
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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1 SPORTTOTAL AG in figures 

 

      

  01.01 – 
31.12.2017 

01.01 – 
31.12.2016* 

  
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Revenue 60,278 59,649 

Revenue – discontinued operations 4,531 8,806 

Revenue – continued operations 55,747 50,843 
      
EBIT  1,487 -6,222 
EBIT – continued operations 515 -3,610 
      
EBT   1,308 -6,635 
EBT – continued operations 336 -3,962 
      
Equity 19,165 7,540 
Total assets 34,279 22,266 
Equity ratio 55.9% 33.9% 
      

 
 
* Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 5 
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2 Basic information on the Group; Business model and introduction 
of the individual companies 

This management report makes use of the option to combine the consolidated financial 
statement and the management report of the SPORTTOTAL AG to a single document. This 
summarised management report outlines the business development including operating 
results as well as the situation of the SPORTTOTAL Group and the SPORTTOTAL AG. The 
information provided on the SPORTTOTAL AG in accordance with the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) is specified in a separate section. 

 

2.1 Overview and business models 

The SPORTTOTAL Group (hereinafter also referred to as "SPORTTOTAL" "SPORTTOTAL 
Group" or "Group") is a technology and media company operating in the scalable digital 
sector with video platforms and communities (DIGITAL), in the high-margin national and 
international project sector (VENUES) as well as in the live events (LIVE) business.  

The company group, which previously acted under the name of _wige MEDIA AG, under-
went a restructuring process in the year 2017. On 20 July 2017, the general meeting voted 
in favour of the renaming of the company group, in order to account for the Group's new 
focus on sports content and its new digital, scalable business model. The change of the 
name to SPORTTOTAL AG was registered in the commercial register on 1 September 
2017.  

The parent company SPORTTOTAL AG acts essentially as a management and financial 
holding. The economic outturn of the SPORTTOTAL AG therefore depends to a large ex-
tent directly on the economic outturn of the subsidiaries. 

 

The company group now mainly focusses on three business segments: 

 

2.1.1 VENUES 
The VENUES segment unites all activities related to the technical equipment of sporting 
venues. This includes race-control technology, camera and security technology as well  as 
communication systems and the associated online connectivity and networks as well as 
project-specific software developments. For instance, major international projects over the 
past years included the Formula 1 track in Sochi, "Kuwait Motor Town" as well as the re-
cently announced race track project in Nalchik, Russia. This business segment is repre-
sented by the SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH (formerly _wige SOLUTIONS gmbh) in the 
SPORTTOTAL Group. The Group already divested large parts of its service portfolio in the 
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area of media technology at the end of 2016. 

 

2.1.2 DIGITAL 

The DIGITAL business segment in particular bundles the activities of the  
sporttotal.tv gmbh, hereinafter referred to as the "sporttotal.tv", which is a fast growing 
portal for online sports videos and live streaming in the area of amateur sports. In coop-
eration with the German Football Association (DFB) and other sports associations, sports 
results are provided live and on demand (video-on-demand). For example, the viewer can 
act as his own director, determine the perspective and share scenes on social media.  

Currently, the focus of the portal which is financed through advertising and sponsors lies 
on amateur football in Germany; whereby further countries are intended to follow. In July 
2017, sporttotal.tv concluded a 10-year agreement with the DFB on the marketing and 
use of audiovisual recordings in the area of amateur football. In return, sporttotal.tv 
equips amateur clubs in Germany starting from the fourth highest league with a special 
video technology, which enables the live broadcasting of football matches in top quality 
and fully automatically. Summaries of the matches are for instance available at 
www.fussball.de and the highlight of the week is presented at www.bild.de.  

From the start, we have worked together with the Allianz Deutschland AG, the 
Deutsche Post AG and the Telekom Deutschland GmbH as cooperation and advertising 
partners, who help us finance the portal, support us with their respective services and who 
in return have been able to ensure their media presence on the portal as well as options 
regarding a later participation in the company. BILD (AXEL Springer SE) supports the plat-
form as media partner, and we succeeded in recruiting the Hyundai Motor Company as an 
exclusive partner in the automotive field. 

In addition, we plan to successively expand the platform by adding more sports disci-
plines and pay services. The recently founded development lab of sporttotal.tv in Berl in is 
in charge of the further development of the service and analysis range of the platform, by 
bundling the competencies of highly specialised programmers and software developers. 

 

2.1.3 LIVE 

This business segment unites the areas of production, editorial coverage and live broad-
casting and/or the recording of major events from all areas of sports and entertainment 
as well as their worldwide marketing. Also the audiovisual accompaniment of company 
events, marketing initiatives, the production of image films or contributions for the corpo-
rate TV channels of major companies belong to the portfolio of this business segment. 
The ADAC Zurich 24-hour race at the Nürburgring is one of the well-known larger pro-
jects. Clients requesting our services for exclusive events, marketing initiatives and corpo-

http://www.fussball.de/
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rate TV are for example Porsche, Audi, Mercedes/AMG, Red Bull, VW or the Deutsche Post 
AG. And the LIVE segment of the SPORTTOTAL Group also provides services for the Por-
sche Driving Experience project. This business segment is represented by the companies 
SPORTTOTAL LIVE Gmbh, hereinafter referred to as "LIVE" (which used the name 
_wige LIVE gmbh until 12 October 2017), SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH, hereinafter referred 
to as "EVENT" (which used the name _wige EVENT gmbh until 16 November 2017) and 
SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, hereinafter referred to as  
"CONTENT MARKETING" (which used the name _wige CONTENT MARKETING gmbh unti l  
15 November 2017). The _wige MARKETING gmbh merged with CONTENT MARKETING 
with effect from 1 January 2017; its service portfolio, i.e. in particular the licence marketing 
business, is therefore fully integrated in CONTENT MARKETING.  

 

2.1.4 Discontinued business segments  
 

_wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, hereinafter referred to as "SOUTH&BROWSE" 

SOUTH&BROWSE, whose business is the production of popular TV formats in the fields of 
entertainment, knowledge and society, or in other words "Factual Entertainment" on be-
half of renowned TV stations such as ZDF, ProSiebenSat.1 and Bayerischer Rundfunk, was 
sold to All3Media on 30 September 2017.  

 
sport media group Gmbh, hereinafter referred to as "sport media group" 

The sport media group with its websites www.motorsport-total.com and www.formel1.de 
is a leading operator of motorsports portals in Germany, Austria and Switzerland, whose 
most important source of income are the advertising revenues generated from operating 
the website. The company was sold on 31 July 2017. 

 

2.2 Objectives and strategy 

With sporttotal.tv, SPORTTOTAL banks on a scalable digital business model with which it 
has already achieved a very good market position in the amateur football sector in Ger-
many. The medium-term target in the DIGITAL business segment is the European market 
leadership for digital sports video platforms. The further content-related expansion is 
planned to be achieved by adding new sports disciplines and pay services as well as by 
opening up new territories, i.e. initially other European countries, and aims at a ROI target 
of ≥ 40 % p.a.: The installation of cameras at amateur clubs or sports venue operators and 
country-specific expansion initiatives are in general intended to amortise within a period 
of about two years. Decreasing material input costs due to a quantity scaling of the in-
stalled cameras and only under-proportionally increasing personnel expenses due to the 
high degree of automation of the broadcasting technology will have a further positive 

http://www.motorsport-total.com/
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impact on the result when business segment experiences further growth.  

With its long-term client relationships, the LIVE business segment ensures recurring and 
stable sales, whilst generating reliable income contributions. In addition, both the DIGITAL 
and the VENUES business segment benefit from the expertise in the areas of production, 
editorial coverage and international marketing of motion picture content and the result-
ing business contact with world-renowned brand companies. The business segment 
needs organic and sustainable growth with new clients and events.  

The technical equipment of sports venues in the VENUES business segment offers very 
attractive opportunities for an additional sales and earnings potential, despite the gener-
ally strong volatility in the project business. With projects like Sochi and Kuwait, the 
SPORTOTAL VENUES GmbH has gained an international reputation from which it benefits 
with regard to the award of tenders for new, international major projects. A team of spe-
cialists, low overheads and a detailed project controlling ensure that each project is real-
ised profitably and delivers positive income contributions for the SPORTTOTAL AG. In the 
VENUES business segment, SPORTTOTAL intends to further strengthen and expand the 
positioning as the leading international specialist for the technical equipment of sports 
venues. 

With this risk-diversifying business model which on the one hand uses the growth oppor-
tunities in the project business with sports venues as well as on the other hand the growth 
opportunities in the scalable digital business while also counting on a reliable, sustainable 
core business, the SPORTTOTAL AG is extremely well positioned in the sports video con-
tent market.   

 

2.3 Management systems and performance indicators 
The fundamental goal of entrepreneurial activity is the improvement and/or stabilisation of 
profits in the individual business segments. The strategic management of the companies is 
carried out by the Chairman of the Board Peter Lauterbach as well as the CTO Oliver 
Grodowski. Whilst Peter Lauterbach acts as CEO for all subsidiaries, Oliver Grodowski is cur-
rently only appointed as CTO in the subsidiaries with a focus on technology. Together with 
the Management Board members, the (Senior) Vice Presidents with operational responsibility 
(middle management) manage SPORTTOTAL. In doing so, the individual companies operate 
as independent profit centres. The reporting to the Management Board for the purpose of 
performance measurement and the allocation of resources is combined in three segments. 
The allocation of the companies to the segments is based on the structure of the relevant 
value and success drivers (e.g. target clients, technology, product, market environment) , with 
the aim of keeping the segments as homogeneous as possible. 

Various, exclusively financial performance indicators such as sales revenues and EBIT for the 
segment reporting required for the management of the Group; the performance indicator 
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EBT is also separately reported in the Group. The performance indicators are taken from the 
ongoing accounting of the companies. For important individual projects (assignments, offers) 
both preliminary and post costing analyses are implemented and assessed on the basis of 
these performance indicators. 

The achievement of the agreed operative goals are continuously monitored by the Manage-
ment Board. For this, in particular the regular monthly reports are used, in which the individ-
ual performance indicators, the projects and the overhead costs are analysed and scrutinised. 
The monthly reports form the basis for the quarterly forecasts which serve as management 
tool. This way it is ensured that we can react promptly to current business developments. A 
constant exchange with the Supervisory Board is ensured; the Supervisory Board is informed 
about all relevant events and developments in a timely manner. 

 

2.4 Research and development  

The SPORTTOTAL Group does not engage in research and development in the traditional 
sense, but with an own research and development department. New products and technolo-
gies are developed in response to market requirements in the individual segments. In par-
ticular in the VENUES business segment, short- to medium-term solutions are developed and 
implemented in the area of race track technology to meet the constantly growing market 
requirements, in order to remain successful in the future, to offer innovative solutions to cli-
ents in all core areas and to in doing so ensure the sustainable success of the Group. In the 
sporttotal.tv unit, our main focus is also on a constant further development of our technolo-
gy. For instance, the quality and functionality of the installed cameras are constantly checked 
and we are in continuous exchange with the manufacturer with regard to the improvement of 
the software and products. Since the beginning of 2018, our newly established development 
lab in Berlin is responsible for the constant further development of the range of services and 
analysis services on the platform www.sporttotal.tv. And our specialised programmers and 
software developers, succeed in meeting the constantly growing and ever changing require-
ments of the digital sector. 
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3 Economic report 

3.1 Macroeconomic framework conditions and segment-specific market environment 

3.1.1 Macroeconomic framework conditions  

Germany with stable growth 

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy grew faster than 
expected in the autumn with an increase of 3.7% in 2017. This means that growth accelerated 
yet again compared to the previous year (+3.2%)1, in particular due to increases in trade, in-
dustrial production and investments which benefited from the continuously favourable de-
velopment in the financial market environment2.  

In the Euro zone, which expanded by 2.4% in total, the growth was mainly driven by Spain 
and Germany. Here, in particular this German economy experienced a growth of 2.5% in 
2017, far more dynamically than in the previous year (2016: +1.9%).3 According to the Annual 
Economic Report issued by the German Federal Government, the price-adjusted gross do-
mestic product (GDP) increased by 2.2% in the year 2017.4  

Inflation to remain at a low level 

In 2017, inflation continued to remain under the target level of 2%. This is why in its econom-
ic report, the European Central Bank assumes that extensive monetary impulses will continue 
to be necessary to ensure that inflation approaches the target level.5 The ECB's Governing 
Council therefore left the key interest rate unchanged and continues the purchasing pro-
gramme for government bonds and other assets – from January 2018 until September 2018 
at the time being over a volume of up to EUR 30 billion a month. 

According to the German Federal Statistical Office, the annual average inflation in Germany 
amounted to 1.8% which was not only higher than in the Euro zone as a whole (1.5%6), but 
also more than three times as high than in the previous year (+0.5%). Hereby, in particular 
the energy prices (+3,1%) and the prices for food (+3%) experienced an increase.  

With 1.1 percentage points, private consumption continued to be an essential driver for the 
economic growth in Germany7. The overall economic development has an indirect impact on 

                                                 
1 International Monetary Fund: World Economic Outlook Update, 22 January 2018, P. 1 a. P. 8 Table  
2 International Monetary Fund: World Economic Outlook, October 2017, P. 19 
3 International Monetary Fund: World Economic Outlook Update, 22 January 2018, P. 8, Table 
4 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy: Annual Economic Report 2018, P. 7  
5 European Central Bank: Economic Report 8/2017 (28.12.2017), P. 2 
6 European Central Bank: Economic Report 8/2017 (28.12.2017), P. 3 
7 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy: Annual Economic Report 2018, P. 43 
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the business development of SPORTTOTAL to the extent that consumer goods companies are 
expected to continue to have a high interest to increase private consumption or maintain it at 
a high level by means of advertising placements. Online platforms like sporttotal.tv with a 
strong increase in users and attractive video content are therefore especially interesting for 
advertising companies. That sporttotal.tv has already in the start up phase succeeded in re-
cruiting renowned companies as cooperation and sponsoring / advertising partners during 
the course of the year, underlines this. A significant impact of the overall economic develop-
ment either worldwide or in Germany on the segments VENUES and LIVE can however not be 
established. 

 

3.1.2 Segment-specific market environment  

VENUES 

International motorsports market experiences significant growth 

SPORTTOTAL equips both existing as well as new motorsports race tracks with the latest 
technology. This market, too, shows a highly dynamic development: The market analysts of 
the US market research institute IndustryARC have predicted an average annual growth of 
9.6% and a market volume of 6.5 billion US-Dollars for the global motorsports market in 
2022.8  

 

DIGITAL 

Online and mobile video are booming, sports contents especially popular 
According to PWC, the development of the global digital advertising market reached a mile-
stone in 2017: For the first time, the revenues generated from online marketing have exceed-
ed the TV advertising revenues.9 
In Germany, the gross advertising revenues from online advertising in 2017 amounted to EUR 
2.99 billion and thus experienced an only slight increase compared to the previous year ac-
cording to Nielsen (2016: EUR 2.94 billion). A reason for this is that in Germany advertising 
companies continue to focus more heavily on TV advertising than compared to other coun-
tries worldwide. The gross advertising revenues generated by mobile advertising however 
reported a growth of nearly 42%, amounting to EUR 663 billion, which is distinctly higher 

                                                 
8 Industry ARC: Motorsports Market: By Channel (Broadcasting Revenue, Ticketing Revenue, Merchandising Revenue, Advert i s -
ing/SponsorshipRevenue, Race Hosting Fees Revenue) - Forecast (2016-2022)”, November 2016 
9 PwC: Global entertainment and media outlook 2017-2021, quoted from Adweek, Page 2 
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than in the previous year (2016: EUR 467 billion) 10. Even if the overall volume of the online 
advertising market hardly changed in Germany, it becomes apparent that advertising market-
ers are focusing more and more on mobile channels. 
On the digital advertising market, the instream video advertising segment which is of particu-
lar interest for sporttotal.tv experienced a significant growth. This becomes apparent in the 
figures presented in the VPRT autumn forecast 2017. According to this, revenues soared up 
from EUR 396 million in the Year 2016 to EUR 488 million in the year 2017. This corresponds 
to a growth of 23%.11 
This development is also confirmed by the user statistics in the area of video streaming. Con-
sequently, the number of "accumulated net viewers" rose from 7.17 million in December 2017 
to 10.39 million in January 2017 according to AGF. What is interesting is that the proportion 
of users in the three age groups 14-29, 30-49 and 50-64 is almost identical.12 This shows, that 
in large parts of society video streaming has established itself as a common way of using 
media. A forecast by Bitkom for the year 2017 reckons with strong growth in the fields of 
streaming financed by advertising as well as for pay models.13 
Also the increasing number of smart TVs which are connected directly to the Internet repre-
sent an opportunity for a greater dissemination of video streaming and video-on-demand 
contents. Currently, 31.9% of the homes with a TV also have at least one smart TV. 14 
The current analysis by Google for its video platform Youtube shows that in particular sports 
contents are popular among users. Accordingly, the watch time for sports contents increased 
significantly in 2017. Concrete examples, mentioned by Google, are interviews with athletes 
which recorded an increased watch time of 60% as well as funny sports videos, whose watch 
time doubled. The increase in the watch time of football highlight videos was especially high 
at over 80%. This shows that sports and in particular football content is one of the main driv-
ers for online video consumption.15 
 
Forecast: Dynamic market with a high growth potential 
Nearly all market experts reckon with an ever greater shift of advertising expenses from TV 
towards digital media. By 2020, PwC anticipates a worldwide revenue of 93.5 bi l l ion USD on 
the digital advertising market; whereby in particular the strong growth on mobile devices wil l 
play a lead role. By 2020, this will account for more than half of all online advertising revenue. 
Even though compared to other countries, the advertisers are still investing heavily in TV ad-
vertisements in Germany, the trend towards online advertising and in particular mobile online 
advertising will continue to manifest itself. 

                                                 
10 Nielsen, quoted from VPRT  
11 VPRT autumn forecast 2017 (as of: October 2017), P. 15 
12 VPRT media use analysis 2017: Media use in Germany 2017 
13 Bitkom press release: Revenue from video streaming nearly pass the billion   
14 State media authorities: Digitalisation report 2017, Page 36 et seq. 
15 Google blog post: 3 ways online video is changing - what it means to be a sports fan, S. 2-3 
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PwC, for instance, assumes that the market for internet videos will experience a 60% increase 
compared to 2016 in 2021.16 And the growing number of smart TVs will promote video 
streaming even further. These developments produce an extremely dynamic market envi-
ronment for sporttotal.tv and tremendous growth opportunities. 
 

LIVE 

24h-race at the Nürburgring - a TV success story 

The live and event sector is a further important business segment for SPORTTOTAL. Among 
other things, the company provides the services in the areas of TV production, timekeeping, 
international marketing, sponsoring packages, media-technical equipment and event man-
agement within the scope of the ADAC Zurich 24h-race at the Nürburgring. 

The event was extremely successful in 2017, as the TV ratings of the broadcasting specialist-
interest channel RTL NITRO prove. On the one hand, the German TV world record for the 
longest live broadcast with a total length of 26 hours and 20 minutes was set. On the other 
hand, the channel was on the first day of the broadcast able to achieve a new record high 
with an average market share of 3.3% for a Saturday in the target group of men age 14 to 
59.17 This proves that motorsports events in Germany continue to enjoy high popularity. 

 

Event trips are popular holiday activities  

With Porsche Experience (Porsche Travel Experience, Porsche Track Experience, Porsche Ice 
Experience) SPORTTOTAL as full service provider for a manufacturer combines a positive 
brand experience with the personal likes of current and potential clients for special and event 
trips. In a survey conducted by the German Tourist Association for instance, 30% of the Ger-
mans declare that attending events is the most important part of the trip for them. The com-
bination of holiday and exclusive experiences is also relevant for a considerable target 
group.18 In general, Germans are currently more and more willing to spend money on trips: 
Thus according to the data of the GfK, an 18% increase in revenue 19 is expected for the 
summer season 2018. These data already include the entries for January 2018, which is the 
month with the highest monthly revenue.  
 

                                                 
16 PwC: German entertainment and media outlook 2017-2021, P4 
17 RTL NITRO press release: RTL NITRO sets a new TV world record, downloaded on 22 February 2018 
18 German Tourist Association (DTV): Figures - Data – Facts 2016. P.23 
19 GfK Travel Insights, January 2018. http://www.gfk.com/de/insights/news/travel-insights-januar-2018/  

http://www.gfk.com/de/insights/news/travel-insights-januar-2018/
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3.2 Business development 

3.2.1 Business development of the Group 

 

 
Continued operations 

 
Continued operations 

 
2017 

 
2016 

 
EUR thousand 

 
EUR thousand 

 
  

  Revenue 55,747 
 

50,843 
Changes in inventories -272 

 
708 

Cost of materials -4,527 
 

-642 
Purchased services -40,241 

 
-39,716 

 
  

 
  

Gross income 10,707 
 

11,193 

 
  

 
  

Own work capitalised 25 
 

0 
Other operating income 3,117 

 
3,013 

Personnel expenses -8,087 
 

-10,911 
Other operating expenses -4,624 

 
-4,767 

 
  

 
  

EBITDA  1,138 
 

-1,472 

 
  

  Depreciation, amortisation and write-
downs -623 

 
-1,621 

Fair value adjustments 0 
 

-517 

 
  

 
  

EBIT  515 
 

-3,610 

 
  

  Financial result -179 
 

-352 

 
  

 
  

EBT  336 
 

-3,962 

 
  

  
 

3.2.2 Business development in the segments 

The following section outlines the development of the segments of the SPORTTOTAL Group. 
At this point we would also like to refer to the segment report, under "D – Segment Report" 
of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Other than the previous management 
and segmentation based on legal entities, the three business segments LIVE, VENUES and 
DIGITAL were established at the beginning of the financial year 2017, in which the activities of 
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the Group are bundled. Likewise, the financial performance indicators (sales revenues and 
EBIT) of the segments are reported pursuant to IFRS (not consolidated) and not pursuant to 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) as in the previous year (the previous year figures have 
been adapted accordingly). 

VENUES 

Following the economic separation from a wide range of activities in the area of media tech-
nology already completed at the end of 2016, the main focus in this segment is now on the 
concept development, planning, manufacturing, supply and start-up of electric infrastructure 
for sports venues and race tracks.  

In the past financial year, we concentrated on the completion of the major international as-
signment regarding the technical equipment of a race track project in Kuwait. The assign-
ment covered the complete equipment of the race track with the latest race track technology 
and technical infrastructure (timekeeping, communication, data network, video surveillance, 
etc.). The project work went according to plan and we managed to bring the project close to 
completion towards the end of the year. Additional promising major projects are currently in 
the acquisition phase.  

The sales revenues in the VENUES segment amounted to EUR 9,292 thousand in 2017; and 
we achieved an EBIT of EUR 1,975 thousand. 

DIGITAL 

In the future, the essential drivers behind the sales and earnings in the DIGITAL segment wil l , 
after the disposal of the sport media group GmbH and the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, be 
the set-up of the new amateur sports streaming service in cooperation with the German 
Football Association by sporttotal.tv gmbh.  
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Pilot phase successfully accomplished  

At the beginning of 2017 we initially broadcasted selected amateur football matches in the 
return round within the scope of a pilot phase, after having previously installed the necessary 
camera systems equipped with an innovative 180 degree technology in the stadiums. These 
enable the fully automatic broadcasting of football matches in high quality. Once the pilot 
phase was successfully completed after the first half of 2017, we then added additional ama-
teur clubs throughout Germany.  

Exclusive strategic partnerships  

In the foundation and set-up phase, we already succeeded in recruiting the Allianz Deutsch-
land AG, the Deutsche Post AG and the Telekom Deutschland GmbH as partners. In addition, 
we have engaged the Axel Springer Group (BILD) as media partner, which produces a weekly 
highlight show on the games prepared by sporttotal.tv since the return round of the 
2016/2017 season. The fact that we have also gained the Hyundai Motor Deutschland GmbH 
as an exclusive automotive partner in 2017 with whom we have entered into a long-term  
cooperation, shows the attractiveness and potential of the concept for potential advertising 
partners. 

Installed technology base growing according to plan 

The installation of the camera systems after completion of the pilot phase went according to 
plan. All in all, 200 camera systems were installed; the investment volume at the end of the 
financial year 2017 amounted to approx. EUR 2,500 thousand. 

The sponsoring activities of the strategic partners provide support in the set-up phase 

The achieved reaches in the meanwhile experienced a sustainable positive development. In 
2017, we were able to achieve revenue to the sum of EUR 2,184 thousand in the continued 
areas of the DIGITAL segment, largely from the advertising and sponsoring activities of the 
mentioned strategic partners. Despite the incurring foundation and set-up costs, we are close 
to a break-even in 2017. In total, we achieved revenues to the sum of EUR 6,847 thousand 
and an EBIT of EUR -49 thousand in the DIGITAL segment (including discontinued areas). 

LIVE 

In the area of project planning, implementation, marketing and medialisation of major sports 
events, corporate events and adventure trips, we achieved a significant increase in sales reve-
nue and EBIT in nearly all areas.  

For instance, the sales volume in the Porsche Experience project rose to EUR 21,746 thousand 
due to a further slight increase in the number of events and participants as well as due to 
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additionally acquired assignments within the scope of this event series (PY EUR 19,622 thou-
sand).  

Apart from that, - as in the previous years - the ADAC Zurich 24h-race at the Nürburgring as 
well as further high-class sports events like the GT Masters Series and the Red Bull Air Race 
had a major impact on the revenue and earnings of the year 2017.  

In this segment, the concept development, planning and implementation of incentive trips 
and other sophisticated corporate events were also part of the service portfolio in this seg-
ment and experienced an increased demand in 2017.  

On the other hand, we divested the activities associated with nürburgring.tv (NBR.tv) within 
the scope of the strategic repositioning of the SPORTTOTAL Group, taking effect on 1 March 
2017. The resulting proportional reduction of the originally planned sales volume for the rel-
evant projects in 2017 by approx. EUR 800 thousand in total, was nearly entirely compen-
sated for by the acquisition of projects in the areas of the creation, production and distribu-
tion of innovative motion picture contents. 

In total, the LIVE segment achieved an EBIT of EUR 2,182 thousand (approx. 6.0%) with a rev-
enue of EUR 36,160 thousand.  

DISCONTINUED BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

The disposal of all shareholdings in the _wige BROADCAST gmbh - already commenced in 
the previous year - was finalised in January 2017. On the occasion of this disposal, further 
assets were sold in 2017, so that the respective services are no longer a part of the service 
portfolio of the SPORTTOTAL Group. 

For the broadcasting services in the motorsports season 2016/2017 as well as for selected 
media technology services / productions, cooperation agreements were concluded with the 
buyers regarding ongoing contracts in terms of the in some cases long-term client relations 
of the SPORTTOTAL Group.    

Within the scope of a further restructuring and focussing of the activities of the SPORTTOTAL 
Group, the Management Board decided in April and July 2017 with the approval of the Su-
pervisory Board, to sell all shares in the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh (100%) and the sport 
media group GmbH (51%) held by the Group. The revenues generated in these business 
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segments, which in the previous year had still reported as independent segments, amounted 
to EUR 4,663 thousand in 2017 with an EBIT of EUR -155 thousand. In connection with the 
disposal of these activities, we were able to gain EUR 1,127 thousand. Pursuant to IFRS 5, this 
income is recognised as a separate item in the income in the profit and loss statement. 

OTHER / HOLDING 

The SPORTTOTAL Group is managed by a financial and management holding, in which the 
cross-divisional administration, representation and financing activities are bundled. External 
revenues of the holding, for which the services are provided by the subsidiaries, are allocated 
to the relevant operative segments for reporting.  

The amounts remaining in 2017 after the above specified measures and the consolidation 
measures relate to sales revenue associated with the discontinued activities in the area of 
media and broadcasting technology. In 2017, these were recognised in the holding for the 
last time, as a reconciliation of the ongoing, mainly long-term client relations in 2017 was 
waived. The cooperation agreements concluded with the acquiring parties did not generate a 
significant margin.  

From the year 2018 onwards it is planned that the service-providing segments of the Group 
will act as contracting partner in their dealings with the clients, and that the SPORTTOTAL AG 
will concentrate solely on its role as financial and management holding.  

Taking into account the holding costs not allocated to the individual segments and including 
gains on disposals, the EBIT in this segment amounts to EUR -2.621 thousand. 

 

3.2.3 Forecast-Actual comparison 

The business development of the Group in the financial year 2017 in some areas did not cor-
respond to the forecasts set out in the management report of the previous year. However, it 
complies with the targets defined by the company after the publication of the financial 
statement within the scope of the capital market communication.   

While the sales revenue in the continued operations amounted to EUR 55,747 thousand 
which was nearly EUR 5 million above the previous year figures, however approx.  
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EUR 3.3 million lower than the original forecasts, the EBIT for the continued operations was 
EUR 515 thousand and remained EUR 661 thousand below the figures originally planned. 
Taking into account the EBIT from the discontinued operations, i.e. EUR 972 thousand (in-
cluding the income from sales), the originally planned EBIT of approx. EUR 1.5 million in total 
was achieved. This is based on the disposal of the shares in the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE 
gmbh as well as the sport media group GmbH. With the EBIT of the continued operations - 
EUR 515 thousand - the comprehensive restructuring is already starting to take effect. 

A main reason for the variance from the plan is the extended start and set-up phase of the 
amateur sports platform in the DIGITAL segment, contrary to the original considerations. In 
this case, the investments in the follow-up to the successful pilot phase did go according to 
plan and even the planned reaches could be achieved, however not monetised as hoped for. 
To this extent, the achieved sales revenue of EUR 2,184 thousand remain EUR 2,204 thousand 
behind the planned EUR 4,388 thousand. On the earnings side, we fortunately were able to 
achieve a slightly positive EBIT. We however failed to meet the target of EUR 619 thousand. 

In connection with the development of this business segment, increased expenses incurred 
for the holding again in 2017, in particular for the legal and economic accompaniment of the 
introduction phase, so that here too the planned result of EUR -2.952 thousand was signifi-
cantly failed with EUR -3,748 thousand (before gains from disposals).  

These effects were partly compensated with a significantly better result than planned in the 
VENUES segment (EBIT +EUR 656 thousand). 

The EBIT in the LIVE segment was as planned.  

An additional, obviously not planned EBIT of EUR 1,127 thousand was achieved from the dis-
posal of the shares in the _wige SOUTH & BROWSE gmbh and the sport media group GmbH. 
This is pleasing, in view of the current income of the two companies in 2017 which was in 
both cases lower than planned.  
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3.3 Net assets, financial position and results of operations 

3.3.1 Results of operations 

The sales revenue of the continued operations can be broken down into the segments as 
follows in the financial year 2017: 

 
Continued operations Continued operations 

 
2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

 
  

 VENUES 9,292 12,764 

 
  

 DIGITAL 2,184 0 

 
  

 LIVE 36,160 31,121 
      

 
  

 Segments subtotal 47,636 43,885 

 
  

 Other / reconciliation 8,111 6,958 
      

 
  

 SPORTTOTAL – Group 55,747 50,843 

 
  

 
 

Compared to the previous year, consolidated sales experienced an increase of 9.6% in the 
continued operations. In the LIVE segments, increases in sales were achieved throughout the 
entire service range. On the other hand, the loss of sales revenue in the VENUES segment due 
to the disposal of large parts of the media technology segment in the previous year, was not 
able to be fully compensated by the realisation of revenue from the race track project in Ku-
wait. The DIGITAL segment which is currently in the set-up phase, contributed to the consoli-
dated sales by generating revenue mainly from the advertising and sponsoring activities of 
the strategic partners. 

Apart from its function as financial and management holding of the SPORTTOTAL Group, the 
SPORTTOTAL AG also acts as general contractor for selected clients. To the extent that parts 
of these assignments are executed by other companies of the Group, the resulting revenue is 
allocated to the relevant segments. Where the execution of the assignments involves broad-
casting technology, and is carried out by the former subsidiary _wige BROADCAST gmbh, the 
sales are recognised under the SPORTTOTAL AG in its capacity as supplier (in the area of 
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Other/Broadcasting). From 2018, an essential part of this recognised revenue will cease to 
exist, once the relevant client relationships are finally assigned to the buyer. 

The other operating income mainly include cost recharges in connection with the imple-
mentation of adventure trips in 2017. 

The cost of materials (purchased services) increased by EUR 4,410 thousand to EUR 44,768 
thousand in the past financial year, which is mainly due to the race track project in Kuwait.  

With regard to the discontinuation of three business segments and further activities at the 
end of the last as well as within the course of the current financial year along with the sale 
and the associated restructuring measures in administration, the number of employees in the 
Group was reduced. Personnel expenses therefore dropped by EUR 2,824 thousand to EUR 
8,087 thousand. 

The other operating expenses remained nearly unchanged to the previous year at EUR 
4,624 thousand. 

The tax expenses/income relates to the accrual of deferred tax liabilities in connection with 
invoiceable sales revenue corresponding to the project progress (percentage-of-completion) 
in the race track project in Kuwait. In addition, deferred tax assets relating to existing tax 
losses carried forward were released as the probability of future offset options with regard to 
the dynamic development of the business model and the management structure of the 
Group could not be conclusively assessed.  

Taking into account the current status of the strategic considerations, the tax losses carried 
forward existing in the group of companies of the SPORTTOTAL Group, will probably howev-
er not be available as an offsetting option for the expected positive results in the DIGITAL 
segment also in future.  

In turn, the future results planned in the group of companies will be encumbered by in-
creased expenses in the financial and management structure.  

The result of the discontinued operations includes a profit from the deconsolidation of the 
sold subsidiaries to the sum of EUR 1,127 thousand. After deducting the current income of 
these two companies, the result from discontinued operations amounts to EUR 1,001 thou-
sand. 
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Summarised results of operations 

The results of operations and revenue in the individual segments are stable. Also, the major 
assignment for the race track in Kuwait was able to be nearly fully completed by 31 Decem-
ber 2017 according to schedule, thus making a significant contribution to the consolidated 
result. To this extent, a significantly improved EBIT was achieved in the financial year 2017 
compared to the previous year despite increased expenses within the scope of the develop-
ment and set-up phase. In addition, the sales of the subsidiaries sport media group GmbH 
(51%) and _wige SOUTH&BROWSE contributed to an all in all positive EBIT. 

 

3.3.2 Financial position of the Group  

In the financial year, the Group obtained a positive result of EUR 301 thousand from the 
continued operations. The cash flow from operating activities is nevertheless markedly 
negative at EUR -7,378 thousand, due to a significant increase of the working capital, in 
particular in connection with the race track project in Kuwait and an increased revenue 
generation at sporttotal.tv in December.  

The cash inflow from financing activities increased from EUR 5,834 thousand in 2016 to 
EUR 12,397 thousand in the past financial year 2017. This change mainly results from the two 
capital increases carried out in the spring and in the autumn of the year 2017, which were 
and are intended for the further set-up and expansion of the DIGITAL segment. 

The cash flow from investment activities is also markedly positive with EUR 3,975 thousand 
even after cash outflows for investments in property, plant and equipment to the sum of EUR 
2,637 thousand. This is due to the cash inflows from the disposal of shares in the fully consol-
idated companies as well as due to the disposal of property, plant and equipment in the area 
of media technology with an impact on liquidity in 2017.  

In total, the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period experienced a significant 
increase by EUR 9,172 thousand to EUR 12,692 thousand. In this context, it must be noted 
that in the opinion of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board as of 31 December 
2017, SPORTTOTAL has sufficient financial means for realising its growth objectives in par-
ticular in the DIGITAL segment.  
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3.3.3 Net assets of the Group 

On 31 December 2017, the total assets of the Group increased by EUR 12,013 thousand to 
EUR 34,279 thousand (PY: EUR 22,266 thousand). In particular due to the capital increases 
carried out in April and November, the cash and cash equivalents on the assets side rose 
from EUR 11,812 thousand to EUR 15,692 thousand. Correspondingly, the subscribed capital 
and the capital reserve increased by EUR 11,975 thousand in total.  

In the area of the non-current assets, the disposal of essential intangible assets and the 
goodwill resulting from the disposal of the shares in the sport media group GmbH, stood 
opposed to investments in property, plant and equipment at sporttotal.tv in the form of 
camera systems. The recognition of intangible assets was therefore reduced by EUR 3,287 
thousand to EUR 1,091 thousand, whilst property, plant and equipment experienced an in-
crease of EUR 1,674 thousand.  

Deferred tax assets experienced a reduction by EUR 475 thousand compared to the previ-
ous year, largely due to the formation of deferred tax liabilities in connection with invoiceable 
sales revenue corresponding to the project progress of the race track project in Kuwait. In 
addition, the reduction of deferred tax assets from tax losses carried forward stood opposed 
to the disposal of deferred tax liabilities in connection with the disposal of the goodwill. 

All in all, the non-current assets experienced a reduction by EUR 6,967 thousand to EUR 4,902 
thousand compared to the previous year.  

In the area of current assets receivables due by 31 December 2017 increased by EUR 3,298 
thousand to EUR 6,592 thousand. In addition, amounts owed by clients from production or-
ders are recognised at EUR 4,652 thousand.  

Equity increased in particular due to the capital increases as well as various conversions car-
ried out in 2017, from EUR 6,926 thousand to EUR 19,165 thousand. The first capital increase 
in April 2017 contributed to the increase in equity with 1,608,288 newly issued no-par bearer 
shares and gross issuing proceeds of EUR 4,021 thousand and the second capital increase in 
November 2017 with 1,946,666 newly issued no-par bearer shares and gross issuing pro-
ceeds of EUR 7,981 thousand. 

The reduction of the non-current liabilities to EUR 1,058 thousand (PY: EUR 2,221 thousand) 
is on the one hand due to further conversions (convertible bond 2014/2019) in the financial 
year 2017; whereby the bond liability remains at EUR 306 thousand (PY: 634). In addition, the 
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reduction of non-current lease liabilities in the wake of the disposal of the broadcasting and 
media technology area contributed to the reduction of the non-current liabilities. 

The current liabilities experienced a slight increase compared to the previous year, by EUR 
1,551 thousand to EUR 14,056 thousand. Regarding the financial liabilities, the repayment of 
loans and finance lease obligations in the wake of the disposal of the broadcasting and me-
dia technology area over EUR 1,075 thousand, stands opposed to a new loan taken out at the 
Postbank AG to the sum of EUR 2,500 thousand - with a value of EUR 2,240 thousand on the 
day under report. This loan was initially intended for financing the set-up and expansion of 
the sporttotal.tv business, was then however repaid within the scope of an amended financ-
ing concept in January 2018. The cash deposit initially fully exploiting the granted loan facility 
of EUR 2,500 thousand in accordance with the originally planned development of the loan 
relationship was released.   

The received prepayments in connection with the event trips scheduled for 2018 rose in con-
nection with the increased number of events compared to the previous year, by EUR 1,567 
thousand to EUR 6,299 thousand. The trade payables - largely in connection with the imple-
mentation of the race track project in Kuwait - also exceeded the previous year's figures at 
the date under report. In contrast, the other current liabilities dropped from EUR 1,720 thou-
sand to EUR 1,022 thousand, in particular due to the repayment of liabilities towards employ-
ees from outstanding annual leave.  

Debts in connection with the assets intended for disposal concerned the disposal of  
BROADCAST in the previous year and could be derecognised as planned after the final exe-
cution in 2017. 
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4 Notes on the annual financial statement of SPORTTOTAL AG pre-
pared in accordance with the German Commercial Code  

SPORTTOTAL AG acts essentially as a management and financial holding. The economic 
outturn of the SPORTTOTAL AG therefore to a large extent depends directly on the eco-
nomic outturn of the subsidiaries. 
 

The annual statement of SPORTTOTAL AG is prepared in accordance with the provisions of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) as well as the supplementary regulations of the Stock 
Corporation Act. 

 

4.1 Net assets, financial position and results of operations of SPORTTOTAL AG 

4.1.1 Net assets  

With total assets of EUR 25,189 thousand as of 31 December 2017 (PY: EUR 17,257 thousand), 
the assets amount to EUR 12,942 thousand (PY: EUR 12,189 thousand).  

The amount of financial assets increased by EUR 1,012 thousand, whereby the reduction of 
the shares in affiliated companies by EUR 1,912 thousand to EUR 8,236 thousand (PY: 
EUR 10,148 thousand) in connection with the disposal of the shares in the 
_wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh and the sport media group GmbH stood opposed to an in-
crease of the loans to affiliated companies by EUR 2,900 thousand to EUR 3,800 thousand. 
This only refers to loans to the sporttotal.tv gmbh. 

The other loans to the sum of EUR 480 thousand resulted from a loan to the Chairman of the 
Board Peter Lauterbach with a final maturity in the year 2022. 

The receivables from affiliated companies amounted to EUR 3,794 thousand (PY: EUR 
2,093 thousand) and consist of EUR 1,394 thousand in receivables from  
SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, resulting mainly from the profit and loss trans-
fer agreement as well as from the project financing of the subsidiaries SPORTTOTAL VENUES 
GmbH (EUR 1,276 thousand) and  sporttotal.tv gmbh (EUR 980 thousand). 

The other assets experienced a drop from EUR 960 thousand to EUR 260 thousand com-
pared to the previous year, mainly resulting from the derecognition of a recourse claim in 
connection with a provision formed in the previous years for process risks, which is not ex-
pected to be used. The figures from the previous year also included a VAT receivable at the 
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date under report to the sum of EUR 634 thousand. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised at EUR 652 thousand, whereby the decline by EUR 435 
thousand in comparison to the previous year largely related to the reduction of deferred tax 
on tax losses carried forward. 

The subscribed capital was increased by two capital increases as well as various conversions 
(convertible bond 2014/2019) from EUR 17,652 thousand to EUR 21,416 thousand. The capi-
tal increases and conversion also led to an increase of the capital reserve form EUR 6.210 
thousand in the previous year to EUR 14,872 thousand. 

The decline in provisions from EUR 2,090 thousand to EUR 1,350 thousand mainly resulted 
from the reversal of the provision for potential claims in connection with the insolvency of a 
former subsidiary. An implementation is no longer considered likely. A provision for antici-
pated losses over EUR 254 thousand formed in the previous year was implemented. During 
the period under report, the provisions include a long-term bonus granted to the Chairman 
of the Board over EUR 271 thousand. 

The liabilities of the companies dropped by EUR 1,063 thousand compared to the previous 
year and amounted to EUR 950 thousand during the period under report; EUR 396 thousand 
of which are due to the convertible bond as a result of the exercise of conversion rights. 

4.1.2 Net assets  

At the end of 2017, the net assets of the company are primarily determined by inflows from 
two capital increases and the disposal of shares in subsidiaries. Based on this, the liquid as-
sets amounted to EUR 6,960 thousand on the balance sheet date.  

The available funds are intended for a further expansion of sporttotal.tv, which requires a 
high investment pace and is according to plan financed by the company with loans. 

In the opinion of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, the company has suffi-
cient financial funds as of 12 December 2017 to realise the investment objectives.  
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4.1.3 Results of operations 

The results of operations of SPORTTOTAL AG continue to be influenced by the existing profit 
and loss transfer agreements and thus largely by the business development of the subsidiar-
ies. 

The revenue of EUR 12,184 thousand achieved by SPORTTOTAL AG (PY: EUR 15,967 thou-
sand) results from client assignments, for which the SPORTTOTAL AG has for several years 
now been acting as contracting partner and contractor in its function as management and 
financial holding. Starting from the year 2018, it is planned that the SPORTTOTAL AG wil l  fo-
cus exclusively on its role as financial and management holding.   

In addition, the annual financial statement of the SPORTTOTAL AG in accordance with the 
German Commercial Code identifies intra-group charges for the provision of group internal 
services in the sales revenue. 

The decline in sales was largely due to the transfer of activities in connection with the mar-
keting, concept development, planning and implementation of the ADAC Zurich 24h-race 
carried out at the end of 2016 to the SPORTTOTAL LIVE GmbH subsidiary.  

The other operating income amounting to EUR 1,840 thousand (PY: EUR 5,198 thousand) 
mainly includes income from the disposal of the shares in the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh 
(EUR 447 thousand) and the sport media group GmbH (EUR 614 thousand). In addition, the 
provision for potential claims of the insolvency administrator of a former subsidiary to the 
sum of EUR 599 thousand were reversed, as it is deemed no longer required. In the previous 
year, in particular the income from the transfer of the "24h race" to LIVE (EUR 3.5 million) and 
the income from the transfer of EVENT to CONTENT MARKETING (EUR 1.5 million) were in-
cluded.  

The personnel expenses for the financial year 2017 amounted to EUR 2,864 thousand (PY: 
EUR 3,592 thousand). The decline is mainly due to the restructuring measures in connection 
with a modified group structure (disposal of subsidiaries) as well as the assignment of opera-
tional activities from the holding to the operating companies. 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs amount to EUR 152 thousand. The previous 
year figure of EUR 2,243 thousand included the write-off of receivables owed by the subsidi-
ary _wige BROADCAST gmbh due to a waiver of the debt in the run-up to the sale of this 
company.  
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The significant rise in the other operating expenses to EUR 3,580 thousand (PY: EUR 2,939 
thousand) resulted from a EUR 541 thousand derecognition of the recourse claim reported in 
the balance sheet in connection with the revered provision (also see "other operating in-
come"). In addition, there was a rise in expenses for legal and management consultation ser-
vices as well as costs associated with capital measures.  

On the basis of profit transfer agreements, profits to the sum of EUR 1,556 thousand 
(PY: EUR 1,337 thousand) were realised; no losses were absorbed in the past financial year 
(PY: EUR 269 thousand) so that the income from investment improved by approx. EUR 488 
thousand in comparison to the previous year. 

Income taxes to the sum of EUR -485 thousand are based on the reduction of deferred tax 
assets (EUR 435 thousand) as well as additional tax payments for the previous years (EUR 50 
thousand). With regard to the future usability of tax losses carried forward in the group of 
companies of the SPORTTOTAL AG, it had to be taken into account that according to the cur-
rent status of consideration regarding the DIGITAL segment, essential earnings potential of 
the Group will probably not be available for offsetting. On the other hand, increased expens-
es will incur in the SPORTTOTAL AG in the future in connection with its financing and man-
agement function, which will reduce the future loss offsetting potential within the group of 
companies. 

The annual result for 2017 amounted to EUR -2.268 thousand (PY: EUR -3,320 thousand). 

Summarised results of operations 

The annual result for 2017 of the SPORTTOTAL AG was – as already in the previous year – 
strongly influenced by the disposal of shares in the subsidiaries. The income from the dispos-
al of the shares in the _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh as well as in the sport media group 
GmbH to the total sum of approx. EUR 1,060 thousand as well as the improved income from 
investment compared to the previous year of approx. EUR 1,556 thousand however stood 
opposed to increased other operating expenses which resulted mainly from the increase in 
legal and consultation services as well as in connection with the implemented capital 
measures. 
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4.2 Forecast, opportunities and risk report of the SPORTTOTAL AG 

The economic development of the SPORTTOTAL AG depends directly or indirectly on the 
economic results of its subsidiaries. Directly for the subsidiaries with whom a profit transfer 
agreement has been concluded. Indirectly for the remaining subsidiaries whose economic 
success or failure manifests itself in form of distributed profits or value adjustments in the 
SPORTTOTAL AG.  

For further information on opportunities and risks, we refer to Section 5. 

  



Summarised Management Report 2017 
 
 
 

PAGE 62 

5 Forecast, opportunities and risk report of the Group 

The following information is provided as a forecast which may by definition be subject to 
uncertainties. Essential deviations to future-related statements are possible. 

 

5.1 Forecast and opportunities report 

5.1.1 Overall outlook 

The upturn continues in Germany  

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) expects the growth momentum to continue to in-
crease in the next two years. According to the IMF, the economic growth worldwide will ex-
perience a growth of 3.9% each in 2018 and in 2019 (2017: 3.7%). The IMF forecasts for the 
Euro zone anticipate 2.2%, and 2.0% in the following year (2017: 1.8%). For Germany, growth 
is expected to be not quite as dynamic as in the previous year with an increase of 2.3% in the 
year 2018 and a slightly lower 2.0% for the year 2019 (2017: 2.5%).20 In the developed coun-
tries, including Germany, the economic development may be subject to the negative effects 
of a core inflation rising faster than expected and the respectively rising interest rates. The 
German Federal Government however with its forecast of a price-adjusted GDP of 2.4% ex-
pects the upturn to remain strong in Germany. Employment, salaries and thus the consump-
tion of the German citizens are noticeably increasing according to the Federal Government. 21 

As an attractive advertising and sponsoring platform, sporttotal.tv benefits from pri-
vate consumption 

The German and European economy is expected to experience a robust and moderate 
growth in the years to come. Low interest rates and the continued low core inflation continue 
to boost private consumer spendings. In the opinion of the Management, advertising com-
panies will therefore focus more strongly on attractive advertising / sponsoring formats and 
fast-growing online platforms, in order to convert the willingness of the people to consume 
into purchases. As an online sports video platform, sporttotal.tv with strong growth rates 
provides an attractive advertising / sponsoring environment and is therefore in an ideal posi-
tion to benefit from this development.  

The overall economic development worldwide is on the other hand not expected to have a 
major impact on the business development of SPORTTOTAL according to the Management. 

                                                 
20 International Monetary Fund: World Economic Outlook Update, 22 January 2018, P. 1 a. P. 8 Table  
21 German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy: Annual Economic Report 2018, P. 40-43 
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Decisions on prestigious infrastructure projects like the building of sports venues as well as 
the production and marketing of sports and entertainment formats will, based on the long-
term experience of SPORTTOTAL, be made largely independent of the overall economic 
growth. 

 

5.1.2 Forecast for SPORTTOTAL 

The fundamental changes in terms of a consistent restructuring of the entire Group already 
initiated in 2016, were supplemented by further measures in particular in the first quarter of 
2017 which have been completed in the meanwhile. The now significantly changed focus is 
now also projected externally by the restructuring of all companies in the Group.  

In future, SPORTTOTAL will focus on the core areas which promise high growth rates and wil l  
increase the corporate value: The scalable digital business with video platforms and commu-
nities (DIGITAL), the high-margin project business (VENUES) and the largely stable business 
live events business (LIVE). 

For the financial year 2018, SPORTTOTAL expects a revenue of EUR 50-70 million and an EBIT 
between EUR -3 and 3 million. With this, the sales volume from the now sold business seg-
ments (EUR 14 million in 2017) should be able to be compensated for with organic growth. 

The range is on the one hand based on the particularities of the international project busi-
ness. Although the major Nalchik project planned for 2018 has already been pre-
contractually secured, there are nevertheless uncertainties - just as for the other projects cur-
rently under negotiation - with regard to the date of the final contract conclusion and conse-
quently for the start of the project work. Accordingly, the type and scope of the project work 
to be implemented in 2018 as well as its expected impact on the Group's results of opera-
tions cannot be conclusively assessed even if the status of the negotiations is already far ad-
vanced (as in the case of the Nalchik project). On the other hand, the focus of sportto-
tal.tv gmbh remains on the set-up of reaches, additional features and monetisation also in 
2018. Here, it may be useful for the long-term development of the company to accept short-
term financial burdens. For the Management, the expected fundamental and long-term value 
development is most important. On this basis, there are larger ranges than usual for revenue 
and EBIT.   

For 2019, the Management currently expects a revenue of EUR 70-80 million with an EBIT 
margin of 7-9%. From today's perspective, the revenue threshold of EUR 100 million will be 
exceeded in 2020 – with an EBIT margin of min. 10%. Taking into account the market poten-

http://sporttotal.tv/
http://sporttotal.tv/
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tials which exist in particular in the DIGITAL segment, this assessment is rather conservative in 
the view of the Management. 

 

5.1.3 Opportunities 

The transformation to SPORTTOTAL and the focus on the business segments DIGITAL, VEN-
UES and LIVE give the company the opportunity to focus on the identified growth drivers. In 
this context, the DIGITAL sector with sporttotal.tv plays an important role. The digital adver-
tising / sponsoring market is constantly growing and will in future overtake traditional TV 
advertising. Here, sports events are especially attractive as they belong to the most popular 
content consumed online by the users – no matter whether as a live stream or on-demand. 

sporttotal.tv offers an ideal environment for advertisers: More than 200 systems were in-
stalled according to plan in the first year and the online community continues to grow. The 
cooperation with the partners Allianz Deutschland AG, Telekom Deutschland GmbH, 
Deutsche Post AG, Bild and Hyundai will support this process accordingly. In addition, 
SPORTTOTAL is already working on the internationalisation of the project as well as the ex-
pansion to further sports disciplines. Thus the target is clearly defined: sporttotal.tv is to be-
come the largest video platform for amateur sports in Europe.  

Also in the future, the VENUES sector shall continue to act as growth driver for SPORTTOTAL. 
The international expertise which the company has gained over the past years will support 
the goal to win projects for the equipment of new and/or existing sports venues with media 
and special technology.  
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5.2 Risk report 

5.2.1 Risk management 

SPORTTOTAL AG is responsible for the risk management in its subsidiaries. In the whole 
Group, we rely on a holistic system which actively involves the individual segments and em-
ployees (bottom-up). This system ensures that in particular developments threatening the 
existence of the companies are detected at an early state and that corresponding (counter) 
measures can be taken. These measures and responsibilities are comprehensively and con-
sistently documented in the risk management system. The assessment of risks is carried out 
at regular intervals separately for each business segment. At the same time, the counter-
measures are continuously monitored and reviewed in terms of effectiveness. 

A standardised procedure is used for the early identification of risks across all segments of 
the SPORTTOTAL Group. 

In order to investigate the risks, the potential risks are classified and allocated to central risk 
areas, such as: Environment, sales, finances, residual risks, shares, data protection, organisa-
tion, compliance, personnel, fraud/corruption, production, environmental protection, IT, repu-
tation risks and tax. Potential risks are only recorded on a qualitative basis. This classification 
enables the major risks to be detected directly. The following risk categories were used: 

Risk category 0:  No risk 

Risk category 1:  Minor risks which can neither have a significant impact on the annual 
result nor on the corporate value 

Risk category 2:  Average risks which may cause an impact on the annual financial 
statement 

Risk category 3:  High risks which may have a strong impact on the annual result or 
cause a noticeable reduction of the corporate value 

Risk category 4:  Serious risks which may result in annual loss and a significant reduction 
of the corporate value 

Risk category 5:  Company-threatening risks which in all likelihood will jeopardise the 
continued existence of the company  

All in all, 78.2% of the detected risks are allocated to risk classes 1 and 2. In only two cases 
(PY: 3) was a risk allocated to category 4 (serious risks). 

Countermeasures have been identified for all high and serious risks. Taking into account the 
countermeasures, the overall risk situation is relatively moderate. 
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The risk management system also shows the risks for which provisions have already been set 
up.  

Apart from the risk factors set out below, SPORTTOTAL is also subject to further risks which 
are deemed negligible at the moment but which may also have an impact on business.  

In the opinion of the Management Board, the risks set out in the risk report are currently ad-
equately taken into account in the future developments set out in the forecast report.  

 

5.2.2 Macroeconomic risks and industry risks 

The operational activities of the various segments of the Group are influenced by cyclical and 
macroeconomic developments. The dependency on the automotive industry and on motor-
sports continues to be seen as a risk. With the sporttotal.tv business area, an independent 
business segment was established which is not active in the field of motorsports. This is in-
tended to reduce the dependency on the automotive industry and motorsports sector. 

The motorsports area however remains to be of importance for SPORTTOTAL. At present, the 
company expects an at least constant or even increased spending of the major motorsports 
organisers for the motorsports area, so that no negative impact must be expected at the 
moment. 

The establishment of the sporttotal.tv business area in turn creates a dependency in the ama-
teur sports sector. Contrary to the dependency in the motorsports area, sporttotal.tv however 
in accordance with its business model does not strive long-term contractual relationships. It 
goes without saying that the development of an innovative business model is linked to in-
creased uncertainties (both opportunities and risks). For the limitation of such risks, a detailed 
planning was conducted in 2016/2017 on the basis of a benchmark analysis and the market 
research study of an external research and consulting company active in the sports sector. 

All in all, SPORTTOTAL assesses the macroeconomic risks and industry risks as average. 

 

5.2.3 Assignment-related and procurement risks  

Capacity utilisation risks caused by a volatile project business  

For series productions, the assignment terms are traditionally rather limited in the media sec-
tor. Generally, the terms of assignments do not exceed a year and often they are even signifi-
cantly shorter. Contractual terms and the resulting assignment-related risks are systematically 
recorded and early measures are initiated for keeping up the assignments. We intend to 
counter this risk in particular by establishing the sporttotal.tv business area, as in accordance 
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with the business model of sporttotal.tv, cameras are permanently installed in sports venues 
and thus a permanent or at least several years of broadcasting of sports events is expected.  

Moreover, SPORTTOTAL counteracts short assignment terms by establishing and cultivating 
long-standing and permanent client relations. This way SPORTTOTAL has succeeded in gen-
erating a major share of its revenue with existing clients.  

Within the scope of major infrastructure projects, there are risks associated with tedious ten-
der processes and the resulting relatively low planning capability of the assignments. 

All in all, SPORTTOTAL assesses the capacity utilisation risks caused by a volatile project busi-
ness as high. 

Procurement risks 

In order to compensate for the risk immanent to the project business with regard to over-
heads, SPORTTOTAL in a wider scope works with external resources. In addition, the Group 
strives to only then keep technical resources in stock itself if these are scheduled for firmly 
placed assignments. 

This means that both the staff as well as technical production means must be acquired ac-
cording to assignments, which in turn increases the procurement risk. SPORTTOTAL however 
do not purchase any critical components or services. The purchased goods or services are in 
general interchangeable so that they do not constitute any special or strategic procurement 
risks. By placing widely spread enquires and concluding long-term supply contracts and price 
maintenance agreements, the dependency from individual suppliers is significantly reduced.  

Credit checks are always conducted for important suppliers. In addition, we occasionally enter 
into exclusivity agreements. 

A procurement risk exists in the dependency from the supplier Pixellot, which supplies the 
specialised cameras for sporttotal.tv. Of course, the generally existing insolvency risk of a cen-
tral supplier always constitutes a non-negligible risk. This risk has been allocated to risk cate-
gory 3 which means that it constitutes a high risk for the Group. The loss of the camera sys-
tem and software supplier of sporttotal.tv would not constitute a company-threatening risk in 
the opinion of the Management. However, a suitable replacement would probably cause con-
siderable inconveniences with regard to costs and time.  

On the basis of the measures taken for the limitation of risks, SPORTTOTAL assesses the pro-
curement risks as low in general. Merely the dependency on the supplier Pixellot constitute a 
high risk for the SPORTTOTAL Group. 
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5.2.4 Technology-based and system-based risks 

In the race track business, the installed technology plays an essential role. The technical ob-
solescence of the equipment constitutes a fundamental risk. As SPORTTOTAL however does 
not keep any race track equipment in stock, no essential risks can be identified here.  

To ensure a smooth IT-supported flow of the processes and work in all departments and in 
order to meet the increasing demands of digitalisation, we strive the further development of 
the digital office environment. This is intended to further pursue and guarantee the constant 
availability of the IT-supported systems and programmes as well as the storage and protec-
tion of the digital data.  

According to SPORTTOTAL, the currently identified risks related to technology and systems 
can be assessed as average on the whole.  

 

5.2.5 Personnel risks  

An important success factor of SPORTTOTAL are the personal competencies and professional 
skills of its employees, who constitute an important competitive factor. In the "War for Tal-
ents", a possible departure of specialist and executives constitutes a potential risk as this is 
not only linked to a loss of important expertise but within the scope of the recruitment and 
new employment of personnel may also result in bottlenecks for the internal resources. The 
risk grows depending on the proportion of services required for a product. An important el-
ement for counteracting this, then as now remains the internal transfer of knowledge within 
the individual teams in order to spread expertise and ensure that services can be provided by 
more than one staff member. In addition to brand awareness, the attractive products of 
SPORTTOTAL are co-responsible for the good positioning in the quest for qualified employ-
ees and the current situation on the market. 

According to SPORTTOTAL, the currently known personnel risks can be assessed as low. 

 

5.2.6 Financial risks 

The financial risks of the Group mainly concern liquidity and default risks. 

The two fully placed capital increases in 2017 made an essential contribution to the mainte-
nance of the Group's ability to meet its payment obligations. The expansion of the sportto-
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tal.tv business model is based on the available liquidity resources as well as additional third-
party means. In order to rapidly realise the planned growth, a further capital increase was 
successfully conducted at the end of 2017. 

Based on the medium-term planning which requires a stable accomplishment of the targets 
by the subsidiaries and the resulting financial planning it may be assumed that SPORTTOTAL 
will maintain a stable liquidity situation in the coming 12 months. The future liquidity situa-
tion is heavily influenced by the investment pace regarding the roll out of the specialised 
cameras for sporttotal.tv. In order to achieve its ambitious growth objectives, SPORTTOTAL 
also in the future continues to depend on further third-party financing / financing sources 
which are constantly evaluated. For SPORTTOTAL, securing liquidity remains a serious risk.  

In order to avoid delays in payment or difficulties with regard to the collection of receivables, 
the development and structure of the receivables are permanently monitored. The central, 
software-based receivables management for the entire Group is integrated in the SPORTTO-
TAL AG. 

Bad debts continue to constitute a latent risk which is why the receivables management as an 
integral part of the risk management is constantly expanding. This does not only involve 
monitoring, but in particular the implementation of effective protective mechanisms such as 
advance payments. 

The vast majority of the clients, i.e. especially the major clients, are companies and associa-
tions which remain very stable even during periods of an economic crisis. This way the de-
fault risk of receivables is reduced in general.  

Interest rate risks with an impact on the amount of interest due for variable-rate l iabil ities, 
result from changes in the market interest rates. Interest rate risks are countered by entering 
into loans with fixed interest rates as well as by the manual and/or contractual netting of cur-
rent accounts. 

Selectively variable interest rates are agreed for ensuring more favourable interest rates. A 
fixed interest rate at market conditions throughout the entire term has been agreed for the 
convertible bond 2014/2019 issued in March 2014. 

Because of the fixed interest conditions for the convertible bond and the otherwise low level 
of interest-bearing liabilities, the interest risk for SPORTTOTAL is low. 
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5.2.7 Legal risks 

Apart from operational and financial risks, regularly also legal risks may occur within the 
scope of the business activities. Potential risks are communicated to the departments and as 
far as possible limited at contract conclusion. External law firms are engaged to provide legal 
advice on exposed contracts which are of fundamental importance for SPORTTOTAL. 

In the context of the restructuring of the Group and the increased development of new busi-
ness areas, the complexity and heterogeneity of the contractual relations has grown signifi-
cantly compared to the previous years. For this reason, the company decided on a centralisa-
tion of the management in the field of contract controlling by implementing a Contract Man-
agement system, in order to identify and limit contractual risks at an early stage. All in all, the 
legal risks are classified as average.  

Apart from the general risks resulting from the already concluded contracts, in particular the 
outcome of legal disputes may cause significant damage to SPORTTOTAL and generate high 
costs. The currently known pending proceedings which result from the current operating ac-
tivities of SPORTTOTAL are however all in all of a minor importance; material damages and 
costs are not to be expected. All pending proceedings have been taken into account in the 
provisions at an amount based on the expected risks from today's perspective. 

 

5.2.8 Company-threatening risks 

Taking into account the measures taken and the resulting planning for 2018, merely the liq-
uidation risk of SPORTTOTAL is assessed as serious, however not company-threatening. Cur-
rently there is no considerable probability of company-threatening risks which jeopardise the 
continuation of SPORTTOTAL. The SPORTTOTAL AG has taken all required steps it deems 
required to identify such risks at an early stage in order to be able to initiate countermeas-
ures. 
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6 Corporate governance report (Declaration on corporate govern-
ance) 

The principles of good and responsible corporate governance determine the actions of the 
management and supervisory boards of SPORTTOTAL AG. The Management Board reports 
on this in its declaration on corporate governance in accordance with the reporting obliga-
tions required by the law with the introduction of Section 289f of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB). This declaration includes the former corporate governance report in accordance 
with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Codex (DCGK). This general 
focussing on the recommendations and suggestions of the DCGK supports the goal for listed 
companies to promote the trust of the domestic and international investors as well as of the 
clients, the employees and the public in the management and supervision of German listed 
companies. 

The declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Codex pursuant to 
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) including exemptions has been pub-
lished on the website (www.sporttotal.com) on a permanent basis. 

 

6.1 Basic principles of company management  

The SPORTTOTAL AG is a stock company whose management system in accordance with the 
articles of association passed by the shareholders corresponds to the dual system of the 
German Stock Corporation Law with a Management Board as executive body and the Super-
visory Board as supervisory and advisory body. 

The Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG consists of at least one or several members 
which are appointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board. The Management Board man-
ages the business of the company on its own responsibility. The Management Board requires 
the approval of the Supervisory Board in particular for major, high-risk or unusual transac-
tions as well as for fundamental resolutions. 

The Supervisory Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG advises the Management Board and supervis-
es its management activities. The board consists of three members who are generally elected 
within the scope of the general meeting. 

The Management Board reports to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis orally and in 
writing and in a timely and comprehensive manner, in particular on the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group. 
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6.2 Share transactions of board members  
The members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board as well as related parties 
are obligated in accordance with Article 19 (1) of the Market Abuse Directive to disclose any 
reportable business transactions with shares or debt instruments of the SPORTTOTAL AG or 
with associated derivatives or other financial instruments, where the value of the transactions 
conducted by the member or a related party amounts to or exceeds EUR 5 thousand within a 
calendar year. The business transactions reported to the company in the past financial year 
have been duly and properly published at www.sporttotal.com. 

 

6.3 Essential characteristics of the control and risk management system relating to ac-
counting (Sec. 289 (2) German Commercial Code (HGB)) 

The aim of the accounting related internal control and risk management system is to ensure 
that financial reporting is standardised and in compliance with the statutory provisions, the 
principle of orderly bookkeeping and the internal guidelines. The control and risk manage-
ment system of SPORTTOTAL AG contains instruments and measures which are coordinated 
to prevent error risks in financial reporting or to detect, assess and eliminate such risks at an 
early stage. In this context, procedures for risk prevention and/or for the identifica-
tion/control of risks are established in the financial reporting department since many years 
and which are tailored to the convenient size of the department, the many years of experi-
ence of the staff as well as the amount of work incurring and which comply with the require-
ments of the Management Board. 

The overall responsibility for all processes for the preparation of the annual financial state-
ment of the SPORTTOTAL AG lie in the area of responsibility of the Chairman of the Man-
agement Board, Mr Peter Lauterbach, to whom the financial reporting department reports. 

The financial reporting process of the SPORTTOTAL AG is designed to match the size of the 
Group so that the accounting data maintained in IT systems is initially collected for the indi-
vidual companies, which are all allocated to own accounting areas, and used to prepare the 
individual financial statements and these are then joined together to a consolidated financial 
statement in accordance with IFRS adjustments.  

Essential information and circumstances relevant for the financial reporting of SPORTTOTAL 
are discussed with the individual business segments prior to collection and then critical ly re-
viewed by the financial reporting department in order to verify their conformity with the ap-
plicable financial reporting provisions.  
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In order to ensure compliance with the regulations on IT security, adequate access and similar 
regulations are determined in the IT systems for financial reporting.  

Apart from the direct risk of errors due to the non-compliance of accounting rules, risks may 
arise from the failure to comply with formal requirements as well as deadlines and appoint-
ments. In order to prevent and/or reduce these risks and to document the workflows re-
quired for the preparation of financial statements, a financial statement calendar has been 
created.  

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are reviewed and audited by auditors 
within the scope of the group audit with regard to compliance with the applicable financial 
reporting regulations, to the extent required for the audit of SPORTTOTAL AG. The annual 
financial statement and the consolidated annual financial statement of SPORTTOTAL AG are 
subject to an obligatory statutory audit. 

 

6.4 Basic principles of the Compliance Management System 

The SPORTTOTAL Group conducts its business affairs responsibly and in compliance with the 
statutory provisions, internal and external regulations and ethic principles. SPORTTOTAL de-
fines Compliance as the legally and ethically impeccable conduct of the employees in day-to-
day business. No breaches of laws, codex and other regulations are tolerated. The Manage-
ment Board commits itself fully to Compliance, as this is essential for the economic success of 
the company. 
The guiding principles of our business conduct are defined in 11 clauses which are designed 
to ensure the constantly lawful, responsible and ethically impeccable conduct of the employ-
ees. New employees are already familiarised with these guiding principles at their employ-
ment; and the guiding principles are also available on the Internet.  

The Compliance Management System of the Group is designed for preventing, detecting and 
dealing with breaches against our principles. It is currently adapted to the changing require-
ments of our business environment and our internal structure. In view of the now compre-
hensive restructuring of the Group, the Compliance Management System is currently also 
subject to an in-depth transformation process. For instance, the new business segment sport-
total.tv lays down potentially significantly changed requirements to the process of the identi-
fication of compliance risks so that among others this area need to be adapted. 

Once the restructuring has been completed, tasks, processes, authorisations and reporting 
channels must be reflected in terms of a resilient Compliance structure; many parts need to 
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be additionally defined or redefined and - where not done so in sufficiently formal manner in 
the past – to be laid down in writing. The integration of Compliance in the company process-
es - which has only been partly implemented to date - must be continued to be consistently 
perused.  

The responsibility for the Corporate Compliance Management is directly allocated to the 
board level at present, whereby the executives at the middle level will in future continue to 
play a key role in the operative realisation of the Compliance guidelines in accordance with 
their role model function. 

At the present stage of the new and further development of the Compliance structure as well  
as due to the heterogeneity of potential Compliance-relevant circumstances, the Compliance 
activities are currently focused on the maintenance of an adequate Compliance culture in al l  
business segments. This is all the more important in view of the growth objectives of the 
SPORTTOTAL Group which require numerous new employees in the existing Compliance or-
ganisation. An appropriate awareness of the employees for potential Compliance risks not 
only serves to identify Compliance infringements, but also to in particular prevent such in-
fringements. In this context, the role model function of the board and the middle manage-
ment level play a key role ("tone from the top“). 

6.5 Gender quota - proportion of women in executive positions at SPORTTOTAL AG 

Supervisory Board 

In October 2014, Dr. Michael Kern, Hans J. Zimmermann and Jens Reidel were appointed 
members of the Supervisory Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG in accordance with the resolution 
passed by the general meeting. Taking into account the regular term of office of four years, 
the general meeting will not reappoint the Supervisory Board prior to 2019. For formal rea-
sons, the SPORTTOTAL AG can therefore only increase the proportion of women in the Su-
pervisory Board if at least one of the acting members resigns. 

The target rate for the proportion of women in the Supervisory Board of the SPORTTOTAL 
AG is therefore 0% as per 30 June 2018. 

Also in the future, the condition and the most important deciding factor for the proposal of a 
candidate to the general meeting shall continue to be qualification and the experience of a 
candidate - regardless of the candidate’s sex, age or nationality. 
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Management Board 

Due to its size that relates to that of a medium-sized company, the SPORTTOTAL AG is man-
aged by one CEO and a CTO. From 2013 to February 2016, Peter Lauterbach ran the company 
as the sole CEO. In March 2016, the Supervisory Board appointed Mr Oliver Grodowski as 
CTO. 

The Supervisory Board's decision to appoint the board positions with the currently acting 
CEO and CTO was based solely on qualifications, an in-depth knowledge of the sector and 
entrepreneurial experience. 

Due to the positive corporate development of the SPORTTOTAL AG over the past years, the 
progress made in the positioning of the Group on the market and the aspired goals, the Su-
pervisory Board expressly wishes to continue the appointment of Peter Lauterbach as CEO 
and Oliver Grodowski as CTO.  

The target rate for the proportion of women in the Management Board of the SPORT-
TOAL AG is therefore 0% as per 30 June 2018.  

Also in the future, the Supervisory Board will continue to treat the qualification and experi-
ence of a candidate as the most important decision-making factor – regardless of the candi-
date's sex, age or nationality. 

Top and middle management level 

Relevant for the recruitment of the executive positions at the top and middle management 
level at SPORTTOTAL AG are solely the qualification and experience of a candidate – regard-
less of his or her sex, age or nationality.  

At present, the proportion of women at top management level lies at 14%; one of seven posi-
tions are occupied by a female executive. The target rate of 10% as per 30 June 2018 has thus 
been met and shall continue to be met in the future. 

If however top management level positions should become vacant before or in 2018, it is our 
declared goal to increase the proportion of women to over 20%, i.e. if possible we want to fil l  
in two of seven positions with qualified women.  

At the middle management level, the proportion of women currently amounts to 33%, i.e. 2 
of 6 management positions are filled in with 2 qualified female executives. This means that 
the SPORTTOTAL AG already lies clearly above the average proportion of women in the IT 
sector. The comparably high proportion of women shall be continued to be maintained. The 
target rate as per 30 June 2018 therefore amounts to 30%.  
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7 Remuneration report 

The overall remuneration of the Management Board of the SPORTTOTAL AG amounted to 
EUR 1,544 thousand in 2017. In the profit and loss statement for the year 2017, personnel 
expenses relating to the paid remuneration were only recognised at EUR 943 thousand (EUR 
421 thousand for allocations to provisions and EUR 28 thousand offset directly against equi-
ty).  

For the two active members of the Management Board, a remuneration agreement has been 
concluded, determining that an annual variable share shall be granted in addition to the fixed 
salary. The determination of the variable share is based on the Group's results of operations. 
The level of this management bonus is determined per annum with a contractually agreed 
maximum amount. The management bonus as well as all additional benefits alongside remu-
neration were not paid in 2017; merely a provision was made over the maximum amount. 

The Chairman of the Management Board, Mr Peter Lauterbach shall also be granted a long-
term share-based remuneration component. For one thing this is provided as a share option 
programme and secondly as a long-term incentive (LTI) paid in cash. 

Within the scope of the share option programme, the Group granted Mr Peter Lauterbach 
the right to acquire up to 500,000 no-par value bearer shares after expiry of a four-year wait-
ing period at an exercise price of 3.81 €/share. The exercise of the option is linked to a per-
formance target; i.e. the condition that the share price exceeds the exercise price by 20% or 
more after expiry of the waiting period and prior to exercise.  

The long-term bonus granted to Mr Peter Lauterbach in 2017 is subject to a term of five 
years and is linked to the development of the market capitalisation within this period. It 
amounts to 5% of the long-term normalised increase of the corporate value in terms of mar-
ket capitalisation (total shares x share price) and not exceed EUR 2.5 million. The long-term 
bonus, as well as the annual bonus also serve as security for the loan granted to Mr Peter 
Lauterbach in 2013 (also see business relationships with related parties / enterprises). 
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The remunerations granted for the acting members of the Management Board can therefore 
be presented as follows for the financial year 2017 (presentation in acc. with DRS 17): 

  
Total 

 
 Peter Lauterbach 

 
 Oliver Grodowski 

  
2017   2016 

 
2017 2016 

 
2017 2016 

Remuneration EUR   EUR 
 

EUR EUR 
 

EUR EUR 

  
      

      Fixed remuneration 451,000   417,500 
 

295,000 282,500 
 

156,000 135,000 
Ancillary 
benefits 

 
43,458   32,061 

 
25,341 18,962 

 
18,117 13,099 

Total   494,458   449,561   320,341 301,462   174,117 148,099 
          

  
  

 
    

Variable remuneration for one year 150,000   36,667 
 

120,000 0 
 

30,000 36,667 
Variable remuneration over several years       

      

 

Share option programme 2017 – 
2024 450,305   0 

 
450,305 0 

 
0 0 

 
Long-term incentive 2017 – 2022 449,644   0   449,644 0 

 
0 0 

Total   1,049,949   36,667   1,019,949 0   30,000 36,667 

 
        

 
          

Total remuneration 1,544,407   486,228   1,340,290 301,462   204,117 184,766 
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8 Notes in accordance with Section 289a of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) 

8.1 Compilation of the subscribed capital  

The capital of the SPORTTOTAL AG is divided into 21,415,529 (PY: 17,652,375) bearer shares. 

8.2 Direct or indirect shareholdings in the capital, exceeding 10% of the voting rights 

At the balance sheet date, we have no information regarding direct or indirect shareholdings 
in the capital, exceeding 10% of the voting rights. 

In the period until 31 December 2017, the members of the Supervisory Board or related par-
ties held a total of 2,026,773 shares (amounting to 9.47% of the voting rights) in the Group. 

8.3 Legal provisions and provisions of the articles of association on the appointment 
and dismissal of members of the Management Board and amendments to the articles 
of association 

The legal provisions for the appointment and dismissal of members of the Management 
Board (Sections 84, 85 AktG) as well as for the amendment of the articles of association (Sec-
tions 133, 179 AktG) are sufficiently complied with. 

8.4 Powers of the Management Board regarding the issue and repurchase of shares 

In the general meeting held on 20 July 2017, the existing conditional capital 2016 as well as 
the authorised capital 2016 (as not yet exhausted) was repealed; at the same time the for-
mation of a new conditional capital 2017/I and conditional capital 2017/II and a new author-
ised capital 2017 were decided.  

The Management Board - with the approval of the Supervisory Board - is authorised to in-
crease the share capital of the Group in the period until 19 July 2022 by up to EUR 
8,803,482.00; this increase shall serve to grant shares to the holders or creditors of converti-
ble and/or warrant-linked bonds (conditional capital 2017/I), under the condition that the 
shares are issued against cash contributions.  

The conditional capital 2017/II amounts to EUR 500,000.00 and is intended solely for the sat-
isfaction of subscription rights (share options).  
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The Management Board - with the approval of the Supervisory Board - is authorised to in-
crease the share capital of the Group in the period up to 19 July 2022 by up to EUR 
9,649,731.00 on the no-par bearer shares against a cash contribution and/or contribution in 
kind once or several times by max. EUR 9,649,731 (authorised capital 2017). The authorised 
capital 2017 was set at EUR 9,649,731 and now amounts to EUR 7,703,065 as per 31 Decem-
ber 2017. 

The Management Board is authorised for the period until 22 July 2018, to conditionally in-
crease the share capital by up to EUR 176,849.00 by issuing up to 176.849 of the no-par value 
bearer shares ("conditional capital 2013“). The conditional capital is intended to grant shares 
to the holders or creditors of convertible and/or warrant-linked bonds. 

Cologne, 27 March 2018 

SPORTTOTAL AG 

 

 

Peter Lauterbach       Oliver Grodowski 

- CEO -                              - CTO- 
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We hereby declare to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable re-
porting principles, that the consolidated financial statement gives a true and fair view of the 
actual situation with regard to the net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group and that in the management report and the consolidated management report the 
business development including the operating results and the situation of the Group are re-
ported in such a way that a true and fair view of the actual situation is conveyed, and that the 
most important opportunities and risks regarding the expected development of the Group 
are set out. 

 

Cologne, 27 March 2018 

SPORTTOTAL AG 

 

Peter Lauterbach       Oliver Grodowski 

- CEO -                              - CTO- 
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  31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

Assets No. EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

A. Non-current assets     
 I. Intangible assets (1) 1,091 4,378 

 II. Property, plant and equipment (2) 3,154 1,480 

 
III. Financial assets recognised at equity (3) 19 11 

 IV. Deferred tax assets (4) 128 603 

  V. Other non-current assets (5) 510 495 

  4,902 6,967 
B. Current assets     

 I. Inventories (6) 977 1,228 

 II. Receivables and other assets (7)    
  1. Trade receivables  6,592 3,294 

  2. Payments due from customers for production orders  4,652 155 

  3. Other assets  1,464 4,599 

 
III. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
15,692 3,880 

  IV. Assets held for sale   0 2,143 

        29,377 15,299 

   34,279 22,266 
Equity and liabilities     
A. Equity     

 I. Subscribed capital (8) 21,416 17,652 

 II. Capital reserve (9) 13,618 5,407 

 III. Retained profit (10) 805 805 

 IV. Total assets  -16,674 -16,938 

  V. Equity shares of other shareholders   0 614 

  19,165 7,540 
B. Non-current liabilities     

 I. Non-current financial liabilities (11) 306 1,181 

 II. Pension obligations (12) 481 500 

  III. Non-current provisions  (13) 271 540 

  1,058 2,221 
C. Current liabilities     

 I. Current financial liabilities (14) 2,249 1,084 

 II. Trade payables  4,464 3,095 

 
III. Prepayments received (15) 6,299 4,732 

 IV. Current provisions (16) 22 20 

 V. Other current liabilities (17) 1,022 1,720 

  VI. Liabilities relating to assets held for sale   0 1,854 

        14,056 12,505 

    34,279 22,266 
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No. 

01.01 – 
31.12.2017 

01.01 – 
31.12.2016* 

      EUR thousand EUR thousand 

1. Sales revenue (18) 55,747 50,843 
2. Decrease / increase in work in progress 

 
-272 708 

3. Other own work capitalised 
 

25 0 

4. Other operating income (19) 3,117 3,013 
5. Cost of materials (20) -44,768 -40,358 

6. Personnel expenses (21) -8,087 -10,911 

7. Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 
 

-623 -1,621 

8. Expenses from fair value measurements 
 

0 -517 

   9. Other operating expenses (22) -4,624 -4,767 

10. Result from continuing operations 
 

515 -3,610 
11. Result from associated companies (23) -1 -1 

12. Financing income (23) 19 24 

 13. Financing expenses (23) -197 -375 

14. Earnings before income taxes 
 

336 -3,962 

15. Income taxes (24) -1,036 227 

16. Result from continued operations after income taxes 
 

-700 -3,735 

17. Result from discontinued operations (25) 1,001 -2,621 

18. Result for the period  
 

301 -6,356 
19. Of which result for the period attributable to non-controlling 

interests   16 -157 
20. 

Result for the period attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company 

 
285 -6,199 

21. Actuarial gains/losses from performance-based pension 
obligations 

 
-31 -37 

22. Taxes on gains/losses from items in other comprehensive 
income that are never to be reclassified   10 12 

23. 
Other result (after taxes) from items never to be reclassified 

  -21 -25 
24. Total result attributable to the shareholders of the parent 

company   
264 -6,224 

25. Total result attributable to non-controlling interests   16 -157 

26. Total result 
 

280 -6,381 

 
 

 
  

 
 

Result for the period per share in EUR (26) 0.01 -0.40 

 
From continued operations 

 
-0.04 -0.24 

 
From discontinued operations 

 
0.05 -0.16 

 

* Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 5 
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01.01 – 
31.12.2017 

01.01 – 
31.12.2016* 

    (No.) EUR thousand EUR thousand 
Result for the period 

 
301 -6,356 

+/- Current result from discontinued operations 
 

126 1,166 
+ Depreciation and amortisation on non-current assets 

 
623 1,620 

+ Expenses from fair value measurements 
 

0 517 
+/- Income tax expenses/income 

 
1,036 -227 

+/- Balance of interest expenses and income 
 

178 249 
+/- Losses/gains from the disposal of non-current assets 

 
-6 -781 

+/- Losses/gains from the disposal of business units 
 

-1,127 1,455 
+/- Other non-cash expenses/income 

 
-793 205 

+/- Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets 
 

-9,380 1,288 
+/- Changes in non-current provisions 

 
-372 -67 

+/- Changes in other liabilities 
 

2,193 -943 
+/- Income tax refunds/payments 

 
-50 1 

- Interest paid 
 

-111 -121 
+ Interest received   4 7 
Cash flow from operating activities of continued operations (30) -7,378 -1,987 
Cash flow from operating activities of discontinued operations (30) 322 630 

      
+ 

Cash inflows from the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

 

3,771 0 

+ Cash inflows from the disposal of intangible assets 
 

139 0 

+ Cash inflows from the disposal of shares in fully consolidated 
companies 

 

2,729 0 

- Cash outflows for investments in intangible assets 
 

-18 -275 
- Cash outflows for investments in property, plant and equipment 

 
-2,637 -1,624 

- Cash outflows for investments in financial assets  -9 -12 
- Cash outflows for the acquisition of subsidiaries   0 -1,126 
Cash flow from investing activities of continued operations (30) 3,975 -3,037 
Cash flow from investing activities of discontinued operations (30) -35 -243 

      
+ Assumption of current financial liabilities 

 
2,500 45 

- Repayment of current financial liabilities 
 

-1,205 -860 

+ Assumption of medium-term and non-current financial 
liabilities 

 

0 87 

- Repayment of medium-term and non-current financial liabilities 
 

-420 -190 
- Repayment of finance lease liabilities 

 
-52 -82 

+ Cash inflows from capital increases   11,574 6,834 
Cash flow from financing activities of continued operations (30) 12,397 5,834 
Cash flow from financing activities of discontinued operations (30) -109 -567 

        
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period   3,520 2,890 
Net cash   9,172 630 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   12,692 3,520 
* Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 5 
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  Subscribed Capital Retained 
Balance sheet 

profit / Equity Non-controlling Total 
  capital reserve profit loss before non-controlling interests Equity 

  
    

interests 
 

  
  EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand 

As of 31 December 2015 12,752 1,174 805 -10,714 4,017 0 4,017 
Cash capital increase 3,579 3,467 0 0 7,046 0 7,046 
Costs for issuing capital 0 -212 0 0 -212 0 -212 
Capital increases from transitions 1,321 876 0 0 2,197 0 2,197 
Costs for issuing bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Changes in income taxes 0 102 0 0 102 0 102 
Addition from initial consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 771 771 
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Result for the period 0 0 0 -6,199 -6,199 -157 -6,356 
Other earnings after income taxes 0 0 0 -25 -25 0 -25 
As of 31 December 2016 17,652 5,407 805 -16,938 6,926 614 7,540 
Cash capital increase 3,555 8,447 0 0 12,002 0 12,002 
Costs for issuing capital 0 -428 0 0 -428 0 -428 
Capital increases from transitions 209 152 0 0 361 0 361 
Changes in income taxes 0 12 0 0 12 0 12 
Addition from initial consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassification 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Share-based remuneration 0 28 0 0 28 0 28 
Result for the period 0 0 0 285 285 16 301 
Other earnings after income taxes 0 0 0 -21 -21 0 -21 
Disposal due to deconsolidation 0 0 0 0 0 -630 -630 
As of 31 December 2017 21,416 13,618 805 -16,674 19,165 0 19,165 
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A) General information 

SPORTTOTAL AG (formerly _wige MEDIA AG) maintains its head office at Am Coloneum 2, 
50829 Cologne, Germany, and is registered in the commercial register at the Cologne District 
Court under HRB 41998. 

SPORTTOTAL AG is the parent company of a group with head office in Germany and 
therefore must prepare consolidated financial statements and a group management report in 
accordance with Section 290 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB).  

As a company with focus on the capital market, SPORTTOTAL AG has also prepared its 
consolidated financial statements for financial year 2017 in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as prescribed by Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of international 
accounting standards. SPORTTOTAL AG further prepared the consolidated financial 
statements in compliance with the additionally applicable provisions of German commercial 
law. 

The financial year matches the calendar year. The consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in euros (EUR). Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are stated in thousand euros 
(EUR thousand). This form of disclosure may create rounding differences. 

On 27 March 2018, the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG approved the consolidated 
financial statements for release to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is 
responsible for auditing the consolidated financial statements and issuing a declaration of 
approval. 
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B) Overview of the key accounting principles 

I. Bases for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements of SPORTTOTAL AG were prepared in compliance with 
IFRS as applicable in the EU and the additional provisions of German commercial law in 
accordance with Section 315e Paragraph 1 HGB.  

The consolidated financial statements in their current version comply with the provisions of 
Section 315a HGB which form the legal basis for the group accounting principles in 
accordance with international standards in Germany, together with Regulation (EC) No 
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application 
of international accounting standards (in the respective applicable version). 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical 
costs are generally based on the fair value of the consideration paid in return for the asset. 

 

II. Application of new and/or amended financial reporting standards 

The following new and/or amended standards had to be applied for the first time in the 
current financial year: 

• Amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows (disclosure initiative) 

• Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes (clarification of deferred tax claims in connection 
with unrecognised losses) 

The amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows serve to provide the stakeholders with 
more information on the changes in financial liabilities which is useful to them for making 
their decisions. In the consolidated financial statements of SPORTTOTAL AG, the 
amendments resulted in additional disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements but had no effect on net assets, financial position and results of operations. As 
the amendments were published less than one year before the effective date, no previous 
year’s comparable figures have to be published. 

The clarifications regarding IAS 12 do not have any effect on the consolidated financial 
statements of SPORTTOTAL AG. 
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III. Published but not yet applied financial reporting standards 

The following new and/or amended standards and/or interpretations have already been 
approved by the IASB but have not yet become mandatory in their application. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (from 01.01.2018) 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and 
related clarifications (from 01.01.2018) 

IFRS 16 Leases (from 01.01.2019) 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Disposal or acquisition of assets between an 
investor and associated company or joint 
venture (initial application date postponed 
indefinitely) 

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of business 
transactions with share-based payments 
(01.01.2018) 

Annual improvements to IFRS Cycle 2014 – 2016 (from 01.01.2017 and 2018 
respectively)   
Cycle 2015 – 2017 (from 01.01.2019) 

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of investment property (from 
01.01.2018) 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration (from 01.01.2018) 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (from 
01.01.2019) 

 

SPORTTOTAL AG chose not to apply the standards early and is unlikely to do so. The EU has 
not yet endorsed some of the above amendments.   
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These are the material new regulations: 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement (from 01.01.2018) 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments contains provisions on the recognition, measurement and 
reversal of financial instruments and hedge accounting and therefore replaces IAS 39 
Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The key requirements of the final 
version of IFRS 9 can be summarised as follows: 

• Compared with the previous standard IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, the requirements of IFRS 9 regarding the scope of application as well 
as additions and reversals are largely unchanged. 

• However, in contrast to IAS 39, the provisions of IFRS 9 provide for a new 
classification model for financial assets. 

• In the future, the subsequent measurement of financial instruments will be based on 
three categories with different standards and a different recognition of changes in 
value. The categories are selected depending on the contractual cash flows of the 
instrument as well as the business model in which the instrument is held.  
As a general rule, these therefore are mandatory categories. However, companies 
have certain options to choose from. 

• Most of the existing provisions for financial instruments, on the other hand, were 
included in IFRS 9. The only amendment pertains to financial liabilities in the fair value 
option for which fair value fluctuations have to be recorded in other income due to 
the changes to the company’s own default risk. 

• IFRS 9 provides for three levels which will determine the amount of losses to be 
recognised and interest income in the future. It states that expected losses must be 
recognised straight away upon addition in the amount of the cash value of an 
anticipated 12-month loss (Level 1). In the event of the default risk increasing 
significantly, the risk provision must be topped up to cover the expected loss over the 
entire remaining term (Level 2). If an objective indication of impairment is detected, 
the interest received must be based on the net carrying amount (carrying amount less 
risk provision) (Level 3). 

• In addition to extensive transitional provisions, IFRS 9 also contains extensive 
disclosure requirements, both during the transition period and ongoing application. 
New features compared with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements primarily result from the impairment 
regulations. 
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The Management Board further assumes that the application of IFRS 9 will have a rather 
immaterial impact on the presentation of financial assets and liabilities of the Group. From 
today’s perspective, in particular, no effects are to be expected regarding the new regulations 
for hedge accounting. The standard becomes mandatory on 1 January 2018. It was not 
applied early. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and related clarifications (from 
01.01.2018) 

The aim of the new IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is to pool the multitude 
of revenue recognition regulations in one standard. IFRS 15 will therefore replace the 
previous standards pertaining to revenue recognition (IAS 11, IAS 18) and the related 
interpretations. The new standard generally is to be applied to all contracts with customers 
(except contracts subject to IAS 17, IFRS 4, IFRS 9, IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IAS 27 or IAS 28) and in 
contrast to the currently applicable provisions provides for just one, principle-based, five-step 
model, according to which the contract with the customer is to be initially determined (Step 
1). In Step 2, the independent service obligations in the contract are to be identified. 
Afterwards (Step 3), the transaction price is to be determined in accordance with explicit 
provisions on the treatment of variable consideration, financing components, payments to 
the customer and swaps. Once the transaction price has been determined, it is to be 
allocated to the individual service obligations in Step 4 on the basis of the individual sales 
prices of each service obligation. Finally (Step 5), the income can be recognised if the 
company has fulfilled the service obligation as long as the power of disposition regarding the 
goods and/or services has been transferred to the customer. 
IFRS 15 stipulates that upon conclusion of a contract it is required to determine if the income 
resulting from the contract is recognised on a specific date or over a period of time. First of 
all, it is to be clarified on the basis of certain criteria if the power of disposition regarding the 
service obligation is being transferred over a period of time. If this is not the case, the income 
must be recognised on the date on which the power of disposition is transferred to the 
customer. Respective indicators include the legal transfer of title, the transfer of the material  
opportunities and risks or a formal final inspection and approval. If, on the other hand, the 
power of disposition is transferred over a period of time, the income may only be recognised 
over the same period if the percentage of completion of the service provision can be reliably 
determined on the basis of input or output-based methods. In addition to the general 
income recognition principles, the standard contains detailed implementation guidelines on 
topics such as sales with the right of return, customer options for additional goods or 
services, relationships between principals and agents as well as bill-and-hold agreements. 
New guidelines on the costs for the fulfilment and attainment of a contract as well  as on the 
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question of when to capitalise such costs were also added to the standard. Costs which do 
not meet the specified criteria must be recognised as expenses when they are incurred. 
Finally, the standard contains new, extensive regulations regarding disclosures on income to 
be made in the financial statements under IFRS. In particular, qualitative and quantitative 
disclosures must be made on each of the following topics: 

• Contracts with customers, 
• Material discretionary decisions and their amendments which were implemented 

when applying the income regulations to these contracts, 
• All assets resulting from capitalised costs for the attainment and fulfilment of a 

contract with a customer. 

IFRS 15 must be applied to the first annual financial statements for reporting periods starting 
on or after 1 January 2018. It was not applied early. 

SPORTTOTAL AG analysed the business models of the various units with regard to potential 
effects of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements, particularly the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The previous deliberations for the separate business 
units have led to the following conclusions:  

 

LIVE segment 

It generally has to be pointed out that the majority of the contracts with customers currently 
in existence in the LIVE segment pertain to one or several events with specific dates, e.g. 
(racing) sport events such as the 24-hour race in Zurich, (corporate) events, trips (as part of 
the Porsche experience) or similar. As a rule, the related income used to be recognised on the 
specific date. According to the current status of the analysis, the application of IFRS 15 should 
not result in a different accounting method and therefore temporal shift of the income 
recognition compared with the previous method.  

For the assessment of selected contractual relationships regarding the question if 
SPORTTOTAL AG acts as a principal or agent, the more detailed provisions of IFRS 15 do not 
result in the accounting method differing to the previous method applied, in the opinion of 
the Management Board.   
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VENUES segment 

The activities of the SPORTTOTAL Group in the racing sport technology sector (conceptual 
design, planning, production, delivery and commissioning of electronic infrastructure for 
sports facilities and race tracks) are generally projects of a potentially long-term nature. The 
Group does not use any standardised contracts as each project has an individual nature and 
therefore always requires the development of customer-specific solutions, which make it 
necessary to tailor individual contractual provisions specifically suited to each project. The 
project income will therefore still have to be recognised for specific periods instead of 
specific dates as an asset is generally created with no alternative use and SPORTTOTAL 
VENUES has a legal right to receive payment for all services provided.  

Based on the analyses performed, the application of IFRS 15 will tend to result in a delay in 
income recognition compared with the current method (percentage of completion method in 
accordance with IFRS 11) within the Group. As the transfer of control will be the key income 
recognition criterion in the future, it may only be possible to recognise the income generated 
from the planning and design phase as well as potential pre-production of individual 
components at a later date than at present.  
In accordance with IFRS 15, a suitable method for measuring the percentage of completion 
must be determined for period-based income recognition. The effects of the period-based 
income recognition criteria only being met after the start of the contract on the measurement 
of the percentage of completion are still being discussed in this respect. The professional 
opinions on this matter differ at present and the author of the standard has failed to provide 
clarification up to now. SPORTTOTAL is monitoring the progress of this debate and 
continuously checks for any potential future temporal effects on income recognition.  

The consolidated balance sheet will change due to the separate recognition of contractual 
assets and liabilities and the notes to the consolidated financial statements due to extended 
quantitative and qualitative disclosures.  

 

DIGITAL segment 

Advertising and sponsoring activities currently are the main income sources in connection 
with the operation of the amateur sport platform. Up to now, the income has been 
recognised on a specific date or during a certain period of time, depending on the contents 
of the contractual provisions. According to the current status of the analyses performed, it is 
expected that the application of IFRS 15 will not have any material effects on the scope and 
date of the income recognition. 
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Potential income generated from swapping advertising and other services is also not 
expected to be materially affected by the new standard in terms of type, scope and date of 
income recognition. 

 
IFRS 16 Leases (from 01.01.2019) 

IFRS 16 Leases replaces the previous standard on lease accounting, IAS 17 Leases, and related 
interpretations. For lessees, IFRS 16 introduces a standardised approach for the recognition 
of lease agreements in the balance sheet according to which assets have to be recognised for 
the usage rights in the leased items and liabilities for the payment obligations received for all  
leases.  

Easements are provided for low-value leased items and short-term leases (less than 12 
months). The accounting regulations for lessors, on the other hand, remain largely 
unchanged, particularly with regard to the continued requirement for the classification of 
leases in accordance with IAS 17. The standard must be applied for the first time in reporting 
periods starting on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted if IFRS 15 is already 
being applied.  

The Group expects the introduction of IFRS 16 to have effects on the components of the 
consolidated financial statements and the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group. 

Balance sheet:  

With regard to the recognised financial liabilities from operating leases, the initial application 
of the standard will result in an increase of both assets (recognition of usage rights) and 
financial liabilities (recognition of the corresponding lease liabilities). The Group’s equity ratio 
will decrease and the net financial position increase accordingly due to this addition to the 
balance sheet. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:  

In contrast to the previous recognition of expenses from operating leases, future write-downs 
on usage rights and interest expenses from the compounding of lease liabilities will be 
recognised, resulting in an increase of operating income (EBIT). 

 

At present, the quantitative effects from the application of IFRS 16 on the consolidated 
financial statements are regarded as low, particularly as the Group no longer has any material 
operating leases after the disposal of the media and transmission technology segments.  
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IV. Consolidation 

a) Disclosures on the group of consolidated companies 

In addition to SPORTTOTAL AG, Cologne, the parent company, the following subsidiaries 
were fully included in the consolidated financial statements in the financial year: 

 

    

 
Share in 
capital 

Share in 
capital 

 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

   
 

SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH, Cologne 100% 100% 
sporttotal.tv gmbh, Cologne  100% 100% 
SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH, Cologne 100% 100% 

SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, Cologne 100% 100% 
SPORTTOTAL LIVE GmbH, Cologne 100% 100% 
SPORTTOTAL VENTURES GmbH, Cologne 100% 100% 

SPORTTOTAL MARKETING GmbH, Cologne  0% 100% 
_wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, Munich 0% 100% 
sport media group GmbH, Haar 0% 51% 

 
  

     
 

The remaining Group subsidiaries were renamed at the same time as the parent company, 
which changed its name to SPORTTOTAL AG. _wige SOLUTIONS gmbh was renamed to 
SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH to reflect the changed business model.  
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In addition, the following companies were included in the consolidated financial statements 
as associated companies: 

 

    

 
Share in 
capital 

Share in 
capital 

 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

   
 

SPRTSBK GmbH, Cologne 49% 49% 
China Media Sports Holding Ltd., Hong Kong 45% 0% 

China Media Sports Ltd., Hong Kong 45% 0% 

 
  

  

All associated companies are currently inactive and did not hold any material assets and 
liabilities as of 31 December 2017.  

 

Changes during the financial year 

No additions were recognised for the fully consolidated companies in financial year 2017. 

The companies newly established in Hong Kong in 2017 were consolidated for the first time 
as associated companies.  

_wige MARKETING gmbh was merged with SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH with 
effect from 1 January 2017. The type and scope of business activities remained unchanged 
compared with the previous year. 

Disposals of subsidiaries resulted from the disposal of the shares in _wige SOUTH & 
BROWSE gmbh and sport media group GmbH. Please refer to the disclosures in “C) Disposal 
of subsidiaries”. 
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Equity as of 31 December 2017 and the net income/loss for financial year 2017 generated by 
the direct and indirect investments of SPORTTOTAL AG are as follows (list of shareholdings in 
accordance with Section 313 Paragraph 2 HGB): 

Name and head office of company Equity 

Share in 

subscribed 

capital 

Net income/loss 

for the financial 

year 

SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH, Cologne  EUR 1,108  100% EUR 164  

sporttotal.tv gmbh, Cologne EUR 7  100% EUR -21  

SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, Cologne  EUR 1,954  100% EUR 893  

SPORTTOTAL LIVE GmbH, Cologne EUR 3,417  100% EUR 108  

SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH, Cologne EUR 25  100% EUR 474  

SPORTTOTAL VENTURES GmbH, Cologne EUR 24  100% EUR -2  

SPRTSBK GmbH, Cologne EUR 20  49% EUR -3  

China Media Sports Holding Ltd., Hong Kong HKD 10,000  45% -1 

    
1The company was newly established in 2017 and is inactive; no annual financial statements are available 

 

The net income/loss for the financial year presents the figures recognised in the trade 
balance sheet before profit transfers and loss assumptions. 

 

b) Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements contain the annual financial statements of the parent 
company and the companies under its control. The company obtains control when it: 

• Has the power of disposition over the investment, 
• Is subject to fluctuating yields from its investment, and  
• Has influence over the yields due to its power of disposition. 

 
The company re-assesses its control over an investment if facts and circumstances indicate 
that one or several of the above control criteria have changed. 

A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the 
company obtains control of the subsidiary until the date on which the company’s control 
ends. The income/loss generated by the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
course of the year is recognised accordingly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income from the actual date of acquisition until the actual date of disposal. 
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The income/loss and each component of the other result are allocated to the shareholders of 
the parent company and, if applicable, the non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
recognising a negative figure for the non-controlling interests. 

The reporting date is 31 December, the same for all consolidated companies. 

If required, the annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted to match their 
accounting methods to those applied by the Group. 

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows in connection with 
business transactions between Group companies are fully eliminated during the 
consolidation. 

 
V. Currency translation 

During the preparation of the annual financial statements of each Group company, business 
transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the parent 
company (foreign currencies) are translated at the exchange rate prevalent on the day of the 
transaction. On the reporting date, cash items denominated in foreign currency are translated 
at the exchange rate prevalent on the reporting date. Non-cash items denominated in 
foreign currency recognised at fair value are translated at the exchange rate prevalent at the 
time the fair value was determined. Non-cash items recognised at cost are translated at the 
exchange rate prevalent at the time of their initial recognition in the balance sheet. 

Translation differences from cash items are recognised in income in the period in which they 
occurred. 

 

VI. Fair value determination 

The fair value is the price that would be obtained from the sale of an asset and/or paid for 
the transfer of a liability in an orderly business transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date, regardless of the price being observable directly or it being estimated 
by applying a measurement method. 

The fair value of an asset or liability is measured on the basis of the assumptions which 
market participants would use for determining the price for the acquisition of the respective 
asset and transfer of liability on the measurement date, with it being assumed that the 
market participants would be acting in their best economic interest.  

The fair value is not always available in the form of the market price. It often has to be 
determined on the basis of various measurement parameters. Depending on the avai lability 
of observable parameters and the importance of these parameters for the determination of 
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the fair value as a whole, the fair value is allocated to Levels 1, 2 or 3 according to the 
following provisions: 

• Level 1 input parameters are listed prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities to which the company has access on the measurement date. 

• Level 2 input parameters are other input parameters than the listed prices contained in 
Level 1 which are either observable directly for the asset or liability or can be indirectly 
derived from other prices. 

• Level 3 input parameters are parameters that cannot be observed for the asset or liability. 

All assets and liabilities whose fair value is to be determined or recognised in these 
consolidated financial statements are allocated to this measurement hierarchy. The Group 
applies measurement methods that are appropriate in the respective circumstances and for 
which sufficient fair value measurement data is available. The use of material, observable 
input factors is to be preferred. The use of non-observable input factors is to be kept to a 
minimum.  

 

VII. Accounting principles 

Standardised accounting principles have been determined for all Group companies. These 
have not changed compared with the previous year. 

The balance sheet is divided into current and non-current assets and liabilities. The 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income is prepared using the total costs method. 

These are the material accounting principles: 
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Intangible assets 

Separately acquired intangible assets with a determinable useful life are recognised at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and impairments. The amortisation is recognised as an 
expense in a straight line over the expected useful life. The expected useful life and 
amortisation method are audited on each reporting date and all changes in estimates 
accounted for prospectively. Separately acquired intangible assets with an indeterminable 
useful life are recognised at cost less accumulated impairments. 

The following useful lives are used as a basis for intangible assets:  

    Years Amortisation rates 
Domains / trademarks 6 – 10 10% - 16.67%  
Apps 5 20% 
Websites 5 20% 
Purchased software programs, including licenses 3 – 10 10% - 33.33% 

 

Intangible assets acquired as part of a company merger were measured separately from 
goodwill at their fair value on the date of acquisition. 

In the subsequent periods, intangible assets acquired as part of a company merger, as well as 
individually acquired intangible assets, are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairments. 

Goodwill resulting from company mergers is recognised at cost less impairments, if required.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill has to be divided among each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units (or groups thereof) which are expected to benefit from the 
synergies created by the merger. 

Cash-generating units which have been allocated part of the goodwill must be tested for 
impairment once a year. To determine the value of goodwill, SPORTTOTAL AG Group always 
refers to the value in use of the cash-generating unit concerned. The smallest cash-
generating unit is always the segment allocated to goodwill, unless largely independent cash 
flows can be identified within the segment, such as at the level of the legal units. The current 
planning prepared by management forms the basis for this procedure. The detailed planning 
phase usually covers a period of three years. For subsequent years, the results are amortised 
on the basis of plausible assumptions regarding future developments, if this appears to be 
appropriate in view of the respective business model. The planning assumptions are adjusted 
to match current findings. Reasonable assumptions regarding macroeconomic trends and 
historical developments are taken into consideration in this respect. Any impairments of 
goodwill are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
Any impairment recognised for goodwill must not be compensated in future periods. 
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When disposing of a cash-generating unit, the related amount of goodwill is taken into 
consideration when determining the income from disposal. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less scheduled straight-line 
depreciation. The expected useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are audited 
on each reporting date and all changes in estimates accounted for prospectively. Self-
produced fixed assets contain material, personnel and other directly allocable costs as well as 
appropriate shares of the allocable overheads. The component method in accordance with 
IAS 16 is applied for assets containing components with significantly different useful lives. 
Interest on liabilities to be capitalised did not have to be recognised. 

The following useful lives were used as a basis for determining the depreciation: 

   Years 
Outdoor installations 15 
Buildings, furnishings 5 
Vehicles 3 – 5 
Technology and other equipment 5 – 7 
Other technical plant and machinery 3 – 7 
Operating and office equipment 5 – 10 
    

In accordance with IAS 17, the ownership of the leased items is to be allocated to the lessee if 
the latter is also to be allocated the material opportunities and risks resulting from the leased 
item (finance lease). Technical accessories acquired as part of a finance lease are capitalised 
at the cash value of the minimum lease payment and depreciated in a straight line over the 
useful life of comparable assets. 

 

Financial assets recognised at equity 

An associated company is a company over which the Group has significant influence. 
Significant influence means the possibility to influence the financial and business-related 
decisions of the company in which an investment is held. The decision-making processes are 
neither controlled nor jointly managed. 

The results, assets and liabilities of associated companies are recognised at equity in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

When applying the equity method, shares in associated companies must be recognised at 
cost in the balance sheet. These are then adjusted to account for changes in the Group’s 
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share in the profit or loss and other result of the associated company after the acquisition 
date.  

 
Deferred taxes 

Using the liabilities method, deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences on the 
reporting date between the value of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its value in 
the tax balance sheet as well as arising from consolidation processes. 

Deferred tax assets are always recognised for deductible temporary differences between the 
values in the tax and Group balance sheets. Deferred tax assets are recognised on tax losses 
carried forward if it can be expected that they may be used in the next three years. Deferred 
tax liabilities are always recognised for all taxable temporary differences between the values 
in the tax and Group balance sheets. The taxes are deferred in the amount of the expected 
tax liability and/or asset in subsequent financial years based on the tax rate to be expected at 
the time of recognition. Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities if they 
pertain to the same taxable entity and tax authority and the additional requirements for 
offsetting have been met. 
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Inventories 

In inventories, raw materials, consumables and supplies and purchased goods are 
recognised at cost and/or at the lower of net disposal value, which is determined from the 
expected sales income less all costs incurred until the date of disposal. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost, taking into account directly allocable unit costs and 
overheads. 

 

Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are contracts which simultaneously create a financial asset for one 
contracting party and a financial liability or equity instrument for the other contracting party. 
They are only recognised in the consolidated financial statements if a Group company 
becomes a contracting party to a financial instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities (financial instruments) are recognised in accordance with IAS 
39, according to which they are allocated to the following categories at the time of addition, 
depending on their type and purpose of acquisition:  

Financial assets  

• Financial assets recognised at fair value in income 
• Financial investments held to maturity 
• Financial assets available for sale 
• Loans and receivables  

Financial liabilities  
• Financial liabilities recognised at fair value in income 
• Financial liabilities recognised at amortised costs 

 
The Group exclusively holds original (non-derivative) financial assets and liabilities, which are 
allocated to the categories “Loans and receivables” (financial assets) and/or “Liabilities 
recognised at amortised cost” (financial liabilities). 

Financial assets in the form of loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not listed in an active market. They primarily 
comprise loans, trade receivables, other receivables and cash in hand and at bank. They are 
initially recognised at fair value plus directly allocable transaction costs. Loans and receivables 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

If there are doubts about the recoverability of receivables, these are recognised at the lowest 
recoverable amount. An impairment is assumed if there are objective indications, particularly 
the credit rating of the respective customer, current industry-specific developments and/or a 
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previous analysis of defaulted receivables, that the Group will not be able to recover all 
outstanding amounts on the dates they are due. The carrying amounts of the receivables 
recognised correspond with the fair values in the opinion of the Group.  

Allowances for trade receivables are recognised in separate allowance accounts. The carrying 
amount is only decreased or previously recognised allowances are only reversed once a 
receivable has become unrecoverable. In addition to the required individual allowances, 
general allowances are recognised to account for the discernible risks arising from the 
general credit risk.  

If an impaired trade receivable is finally assessed as being unrecoverable, it is allocated to the 
allowance account. Subsequent additions to amounts previously recognised as an 
impairment are also reclassified to the allowance account. Changes to the carrying amount of 
the allowance account are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Petty cash and cash at bank is recognised at cost. It comprises cash, bank balances at call 
and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets with a maximum term of three months at 
the time of acquisition. 

Financial liabilities of the Group include current and non-current financial liabilities, trade 
accounts payable and other non-derivative liabilities. They are initially recognised at fair value 
less directly allocable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Liabilities bearing low or no interest are recognised at their 
cash value and compounded until their maturity in the correct periods. 

An equity instrument is a contract which forms the basis for a residual claim in the assets of 
a company after all related liabilities have been deducted. Equity instruments are recognised 
at the income generated from their issue less directly allocable issue costs. Issue costs are 
costs that would not have been incurred if the equity instrument had not been issued. 

Buy-backs of own equity instruments are deducted directly from equity. Neither the disposal , 
issue or redemption of own equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss. 

Third-party and own equity instruments issued by a Group company are classified as financial 
liabilities or equity, according to the economic value of the contractual agreement and the 
definitions. 

The components of a compounded instrument (convertible bond) issued by the company 
are recognised separately as financial liabilities and equity instruments, according to the 
economic value of the agreement and the definitions. A convertible bond which is only 
fulfilled by exchanging a fixed amount of cash and cash equivalents or other financial assets 
against a fixed number of own equity instruments is an equity instrument. 
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At the time of issue, the fair value of the debt component is determined on the basis of the 
market interest rate for comparable, non-convertible instruments. This amount is recognised 
as a financial liability on the basis of the amortised costs and using the effective interest rate 
method until fulfilment of the convertible bond or the maturity of the instrument. 

The convertible bond classified as equity is determined by subtracting the value of the debt 
component from the fair value of the entire instrument. The resulting value is recognised a 
part of equity and is therefore not measured. The convertible bond classified as equity further 
remains in equity until it is exercised. Once exercised, the amount recognised in equity is 
reclassified to subscribed capital and the capital reserves. The convertible bond remains in 
equity if it has not been exercised upon maturity. No profit or loss is generated by exercising 
the convertible bond or holding it until maturity. 

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the instrument are divided between the debt 
and equity components in relation to the division of net income. The transaction costs 
allocable to the equity component are recognised directly in equity. The transaction costs 
allocable to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of the liability and are 
amortised over the term of the convertible bond using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Share-based remuneration 

The liabilities from share-based remuneration are calculated using financial mathematical 
models on the basis of recognised option price models. 

Share-based remuneration settled with equity instruments is recognised at the time of 
issuance at the fair value of the equity instruments vested until such date. The fair value of 
the liability is recognised in instalments over the vesting period in personnel expenses and is 
directly offset against the capital reserve. 

Liabilities from share-based remuneration settled in cash are recognised as other provisions 
and remeasured at fair value on each reporting date. The expenses are recognised as 
personnel expenses over the vesting period (see disclosures in note (21) on provisions and 
note (33) on share-based remuneration). 

 

Pension obligations 

The pension obligations are measured using the projected unit credit method and pertain 
to an individual pension benefit granted to a former member of the Management Board 
(defined contribution plan). The pension obligations are measured annually by an 
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independent actuarial expert on the basis of the expectations regarding the period over 
which the obligation has to be fulfilled in existence on the respective reporting date. 

Remeasurements due to actuarial gains or losses are recognised directly in other income. 
They form part of the retained profit and are no longer reclassified to the income statement. 
Interest expenses are calculated by multiplying the discount rate with the liability at the start 
of the financial year and recognised in the interest result.  

The Group regularly does not have to recognise any current or past service costs.  

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised if there is a legal or factual liability to third parties due to a past 
event, its draw-down is probable and the expected amount of the required provision can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are discounted if the resulting effect is material. Effects from the 
compounding of provisions over a period of time are recognised in interest expenses. The 
discount rate corresponds to rate before taxes which reflects the current expectations in the 
market. 

Provisions for contracts with a negative impact on income are recognised if the expected 
economic use arising from the contract falls below the unavoidable costs for fulfilling the 
contractual obligations. The provision is recognised in expenses at the cash value of the 
fulfilment obligation or potential compensation and/or financial penalty for exiting the 
contract and/or non-fulfilment, whichever the lower. 

Provisions are measured regularly and adjusted to account for new findings or changed 
circumstances. 

 

Sales revenue  

Trade income is recognised once the material opportunities and risks related to the 
ownership of goods or services has been transferred to the customer. For service 
transactions, this often is the date on which the service is provided. 

Sales revenue from swapping advertising services and other services are only recognised in 
income if different types of services with different values are swapped and the amount of 
sales revenue can be reliably determined.   
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Non-current contract manufacturing 

If the result of a production order can be reliably estimated, the sales revenue and contract 
costs relating to this production order are recognised according to the percentage of 
completion on the reporting date. The percentage of completion is determined on the basis 
of the contract costs incurred for the work performed in relation to the expected contract 
costs. Changes to the contractual work performed, claims and performance premiums are 
included to the extent that their amount can be reliably determined and compliance can be 
regarded as probable. 

If it is impossible to reliably determine the result of a production order, the contract income 
is only recognised in the amount of the actual contract costs incurred, which look probably to 
be recovered. Contract costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred. 

If it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract income, the expected loss is 
recognised immediately as an expense. 

If the contract costs incurred until the reporting date plus recognised profit, less recognised 
losses, exceeds the interim invoices, the excess is recognised as production order with 
customer credit. For contracts where the interim invoices exceed the contract costs incurred 
plus recognised profit, less recognised losses, the excess is recognised as production order 
with customer debit. Payments received before the provision of the production service are 
recognised as liabilities in prepayments in the consolidated balance sheet. Invoiced amounts 
for previously provided services that are yet to be paid by the customer are included in trade 
receivables and other receivables in the consolidated balance sheet. 

 

Lease payments for operating leases are recognised in a straight line over the term of the 
lease in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Finance lease assets are 
recognised in property, plant and equipment and finance lease liabilities in liabilities. They are 
recognised at the cash value of the minimum lease payment. The underlying internal interest 
rate is used for calculating the cash value of the minimum lease payments. The lease 
payments are divided into an interest and repayment component to ensure that interest is 
applied consistently to the respective remaining liabilities. The repayment component 
decreases the liabilities and the interest component is recognised as interest expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Interest 

Interest is recognised as expense and/or income in the respective period on the date it is 
incurred. 
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Income taxes 

Income taxes take into consideration current income taxes as well as deferred taxes and are 
recorded in the consolidated income statement, unless the underlying events have to be 
recognised in other income or are offset immediately against equity.  

Current taxes are determined on the basis of the taxable income for the year in compliance 
with the applicable tax laws. Expected and actually paid tax back payments for previous years 
are included. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined with the balance sheet in mind (liabilities 
method). Deferred taxes for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their taxable values as well  
as for tax losses carried forward are determined for the consolidated financial statements. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available in the future against which the deductible temporary differences and unused losses 
carried forward can be offset.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences resulting from shares 
in subsidiaries or associated companies (outside basis difference), unless the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is measured on each reporting date and 
impaired if it becomes improbable that sufficient taxable income is available to fully or 
partially realise the asset. 

Due to a lack of differing expectations, the current corporation tax rate of 15% plus solidarity 
surcharge of 5.5% as well as trade tax of 16.63% are used for calculating deferred tax assets 
and liabilities.  

Earnings per share are generally determined both as undiluted and diluted earnings. The 
undiluted earnings per share are determined by dividing the net income/loss for the year by 
the weighted average number of shares issued in the respective financial year. For the diluted 
earnings per share, the adjusted consolidated result is divided by the number of outstanding 
shares, assuming that all potentially diluting rights will be exercised. If all potential ordinary 
shares protect against dilution, they are not included in the calculation of the diluted 
earnings.   
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VIII. Estimates and discretionary decisions for recognition and measurement 

Discretionary decisions have to be made when preparing consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS. These have an effect on factors such as the amount and recognition of 
the assets and liabilities, income and expenses and contingent liabilities in the reporting 
period that are stated in the balance sheet. The assumptions and estimates primarily refer to 
the assessment of the value of intangible assets, standardised determination of the useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment throughout the Group, recognition and measurement 
of deferred tax assets, recoverability of receivables and the recognition and measurement of 
provisions. 

The underlying premisses of the assumptions and estimates are based on the respective 
currently available findings. In particular, the circumstances prevailing at the time of the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as well as the future development of the 
global and industry-specific environment which is assumed to be realistic were used as a 
basis for forecasting the expected future business trend. The actual amounts may deviate 
from the originally anticipated estimates due to the developments of these general 
conditions differing from these assumptions and falling outside the scope of control of 
management. If actual developments deviate from expected developments, the premisses 
and, if required, the carrying amounts of the affected assets and liabilities are adjusted 
accordingly. 

On the reporting date, the Management Board made and/or amended the following key 
forward-looking statements and identified material sources of uncertainties regarding 
estimates which may cause the risk of a major adjustment of the recognised assets and 
liabilities being required in the coming financial year. 

 

Impairments 

To determine the existence of an impairment of goodwill, it is necessary to determine the 
value in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated. The 
calculation of the value in use requires an estimate of future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate for the calculation of the cash value. Factors such 
as lower than expected results and resulting lower net cash flows as well as changes to the 
discount rates may result in an impairment. 

The carrying amount of the goodwill recognised as of 31 December 2017 amounted to EUR 
940 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,948 thousand).  

Deferred taxes: The value, in particular, of the deferred tax assets on losses carried forward 
depends on future profit developments and the possibility of offsetting. The actual profit 
generated may deviate from the expected profit. Tax laws, and therefore the possibility of 
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offsetting, may also change with effect on tax assets to be recognised in future reporting 
periods. The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets from losses carried forward 
amounted to EUR 113 thousand (previous year: EUR 573 thousand) at of the current 
reporting date.  

 

Share-based remuneration: A selection of suitable measurement methods is required for 
estimating the fair value of the share-based remuneration, depending on the terms and 
conditions of the agreements. An option model based on Black/Scholes is used, containing 
the key input factors, volatility of the share, share price and expected term of the agreements. 
For share-based remuneration with cash settlement, the liability has to be remeasured at the 
end of each reporting period and on the date of fulfilment. Changes to fair value are 
recognised in personnel expenses. The estimates made on each reporting date have to be re-
assessed as a result.  
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C) Disposal of subsidiaries 

As part of the further realignment and focussing of activities of SPORTTOTAL Group, the 
Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, resolved 
in April and July 2017 to dispose of its shares in _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh (hereinafter 
referred to as “S&B”) (100%) and sport media group GmbH (hereinafter referred to as “SMG”) 
(51%). Both companies, which in the previous year had still been reported as independent 
segments, are discontinued operations within the meaning of IFRS 5. They are presented 
accordingly in the consolidated financial statements and the previous year’s figures were 
adjusted insofar as required by IFRS 5. 

The shares in _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh were disposed of on 30 September 2017 and 
the shares in sport media group GmbH on 31 July 2017. The companies’ expenses and 
income generated until this date are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income under result from discontinued operations. 

Intra-group expenses and income between the discontinued and continued operations were 
fully eliminated. For the previous intra-group deliveries and services, which are continued 
with the companies or third parties after their deconsolidation, the eliminations were fully 
allocated to the discontinued operations. 
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The assets and liabilities disposed of as part of the sale and consideration received are l isted 
below: 

Assets and liabilities disposed of 
due to loss of control 

   
 

SMG S&B Total 
  31.07.2017 30.09.2017 2017 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 2,784 357 3,141 
Deferred tax assets 0 46 46 
Inventories 0 203 203 
Trade receivables 
and other assets 940 213 1,153 
Cash and cash equivalents 187 181 368 

Assets disposed of 
due to loss of control 3,911 999 4,910 

   
  

Deferred tax liabilities 509 0 509 
Non-current financial liabilities 0 51 51 
Current financial liabilities 400 267 667 
Prepayments received 750 0 750 

Liabilities disposed of 
due to loss of control 1,659 318 1,977 

   
  

Disposal of net assets 2,252 681 2,933 

    
    Income from the disposal of 
subsidiaries 

   
 

SMG S&B Total 
  31.07.2017 30.09.2017 2017 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Consideration received 2,448 982 3,430 
Disposal of net assets -2,252 -681 -2,933 
Non-controlling interests 630 0 630 

   
  

Income from disposal 826 301 1,127 
 

The income from disposal is recognised in the result from discontinued operations. 
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The net cash inflow in the reporting year relating to the disposal of the two subsidiaries is 
shown below: 

Net income from the disposal of 
subsidiaries 

SMG S&B Total 
31.07.2017 30.09.2017 2017 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Consideration received as cash and cash equivalents 2,448 982 3,430 
Purchase price reduction (to be recognised in income 
in 2018) 0 78 78 
Outflow of cash and cash equivalents -187 -181 -368

Total cash inflow 2,261 879 3,140 

The cash and cash equivalents of _wige BROADCAST gmbh, which was already disposed of by 
agreement dated December 2016, amounted to EUR 156 thousand and were reversed from 
the consolidated financial statements in 2017, as planned. 

The result from discontinued operations is stated below, taking into consideration the 
corresponding adjustment of the previous year’s figures compared with the reporting dates: 

2017 2016 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Income 4,379 13,113 
Expenses -4,534 -10,309
Current result from discontinued 
operations before taxes -155 2,804

Income taxes (deferred taxes) 29 52 

Current result from discontinued 
operations after taxes -126 2,856 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment held for sale 0 -1,455
Parent company’s waivers of receivables 0 -4,022
Income from disposal 1,127 0 

Measurement result from discontinued 
operations after taxes 1,127 -5,477
Result from discontinued operations 1,001 -2,621

The results from the disposal of _wige BROADCAST gmbh are also included in the previous 
year’s consolidated financial statements. The result from discontinued operations amounted 
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to EUR 985 thousand (previous year: EUR -2,464 thousand) and is allocable to the 
shareholders of the parent company.  

SPORTTOTAL AG’s waiver of receivables from _wige BROADCAST gmbh in the previous year 
is disclosed at this point to facilitate better understanding. 

The cash flows pertaining to the discontinued operations are included in the cash flow 
statement. 
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D) Segment reporting 

Once all of the reorganisation measures within the scope of the strategic realignment had 
been completed, the Management Board decided on the future management and 
segmentation of the Group segments.  

In contrast to the previous management and segmentation based on legal units, the three 
segments, LIVE, VENUES and DIGITAL, in which the Group’s activities are pooled, were 
established at the start of financial year 2017. These three segments are reporting segments 
within the meaning of IFRS 8. 

The LIVE segment pools the activities of CONTENT MARKETING, LIVE and EVENT relating to 
sport and automotive events. This segment contains the competences in the areas of 
marketing, conceptual design, planning, implementation and medialisation of events, 
including major events (such as the ADAC Zurich 24-hour race). Editorial services, particularly 
in the branded content environment, and the conceptual design, organisation and 
implementation of live experiences (such as driving events as part of the Porsche Experience) 
round off the service portfolio. Concepts and creative strategies are realised for both 
traditional TV channels and digital platforms.  

The VENUES segment pools the activities in the racing sport technology sector, including 
conceptual design planning, production (primarily in the form of software development), 
delivery and commissioning of electronic infrastructures for race tracks and all kinds of sports 
facilities. 

The DIGITAL segment is currently represented by sporttotal.tv gmbh, which provides an 
innovative camera system to facilitate live transmissions from the amateur sport sector 
through a new streaming service (via www.sporttotal.tv and related app).  

Until the decision to dispose of _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh and sport media group 
GmbH, these companies also belonged to this segment.  

The Group subsidiaries, which continue to act as independent profit centres, are allocated to 
the segment according to the type of their business activities (product / service portfolio, 
focus of activities) so that the segments have similar economic characteristics (such as target 
customers, sales channels, etc.).  

The segments’ earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), which are determined in accordance 
with IFRS, are monitored by the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (CODM), for measuring success, which is used as a decision-making basis for 
allocating resources within the Group. The previous management and segmentation, which 
were based on earnings after taxes under commercial law, have been changed as well  in this 
respect. 
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Due to the manageable size and complexity of the organisation, each member of the 
Management Board assumes the function of segment manager for one or several segments 
in addition to the CODM function.  

Upon the disposal of _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, sport media group GmbH and _wige 
BROADCAST gmbh (the latter by previous agreement dated December 2016), the results in 
accordance with IFRS 5 had to be recognised as results from discontinued operations. The 
segment overview was therefore divided into continued and discontinued operations already 
in the previous year, particularly as the companies were still reportable segments at the time 
of the last consolidated financial statements. 

Taking into consideration the changes described above compared to the previous financial 
years, segment reporting now is as follows: 
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Accumulated Dec. 2017 – IFRS Accumulated Dec. 2016 – IFRS 

  Revenue 

Of which 
external 
revenue 

Of which 
internal 
revenue EBIT EBT Revenue 

Of which 
external 
revenue 

Of which 
internal 
revenue EBIT EBT 

Segments                     
VENUES 9,292 T€ 9,082 T€ 210 T€ 1,975 T€ 1,973 T€ 12,764 T€ 11,114 T€ 1,650 T€ 584 T€ 504 T€ 

                      
DIGITAL 6,847 T€ 6,633 T€ 214 T€ -49 T€ -176 T€ 6,378 T€ 5,749 T€ 629 T€ -531 T€ -559 T€ 

                      
LIVE 36,160 T€ 34,809 T€ 1,351 T€ 2,182 T€ 2,168 T€ 42,536 T€ 34,540 T€ 7,996 T€ 4,261 T€ 4,070 T€ 

                      
Segment total 52,299 T€ 50,524 T€ 1,775 T€ 4,108 T€ 3,965 T€ 61,678 T€ 51,403 T€ 10,274 T€ 4,314 T€ 4,015 T€ 

                      
Other / reconciliation 7,979 T€ 9,443 T€ -1,464 T€ -2,621 T€ -2,657 T€ -2,028 T€ 8,207 T€ -10,235 T€ -10,536 T€ -10,650 T€ 

                      
SPORTTOTAL – Group 60,278 T€ 59,966 T€ 312 T€ 1,487 T€ 1,308 T€ 59,649 T€ 59,610 T€ 39 T€ -6,222 T€ -6,635 T€ 

                      
SPORTTOTAL – Group  –                      
Discontinued operations 4,531 T€ 4,531 T€ 0 T€ 972 T€ 972 T€ 8,806 T€ 8,806 T€ 0 T€ -2,612 T€ -2,673 T€ 

                      
SPORTTOTAL – Group – 
Continued operations 55,747 T€ 55,435 T€ 312 T€ 515 T€ 336 T€ 50,843 T€ 50,804 T€ 39 T€ -3,610 T€ -3,962 T€ 
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As per definition, the “Other/reconciliation” item contains segments and business activities 
which are not to be classified as reportable segments within the meaning of IFRS 8 as well  as 
consolidation effects. Within the scope of segment reporting, the external sales revenue of 
the parent company, SPORTTOTAL AG, which is transferred within the Group, is allocated to 
the reportable segment to which the subsidiary providing the individual service belongs (EUR 
1,069 thousand in 2017; previous year: EUR 10,605 thousand). 

Intra-group sales revenue in the amount of EUR 1,464 thousand (previous year: EUR 10,235 
thousand) had to be eliminated. 

The subsequently recognised sales revenue of EUR 7,979 thousand pertains to orders 
processed for the last time through SPORTTOTAL AG from customer relationships transferred 
following the disposal of large parts of the media and transmission technology segments. 

The result recognised in the transition period contains items such as expenses from the 
administrative units of SPORTTOTAL Group, and therefore expenses which either constitute 
reportable segments within the meaning of IFRS 8 or were not transferred to the reportable 
segments due to the inability to allocate them.  

The intra-group sales revenue recognised in the continued operations of SPORTTOTAL Group 
are expected to be realised from third parties in the future. 

Of the Group’s sales revenue in the amount of EUR 55,747 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 50,843 thousand), EUR 5,953 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,059 thousand) pertains to 
revenue from the Group’s largest customers. EUR 4,718 thousand of this sales revenue was 
generated by SPORTTOTAL AG (recognised in the “Other / reconciliation” item) and EUR 
1,234 thousand by the LIVE segment. No other individual customer contributed more than 
10% to the Group’s sales revenue in 2017 or 2016. 

The “Discontinued operations” item contains the separate effects from the discontinuation of 
business units. 

In the previous year, the VENUES segment result contained income from the disposal of 
property, plant and equipment within the scope of the disposal of parts of the media 
technology segment in the amount of EUR 822 thousand.  

Of the scheduled depreciation on property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 441 
thousand, EUR 233 thousand primarily pertains to the DIGITAL segment.  
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E) Disclosures and explanations on the consolidated balance

sheet and consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(1) Intangible assets and goodwill

The composition and development as of 31 December 2017 is stated below: 

Purchased 
software 
programs 

Customer 
base Brands/logo/domain Goodwill Prepayments Total 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR  
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand   

EUR 
thousand 

Acquisition values 
As of 01.01.2017 1,700 800 570 2,328 48 5,446 
Additions 31 0 0 0 10 41 
Disposals 514 0 0 0 0 514 
Disposals due to changes to the 
group of consolidated 
companies 809 800 475 1,008 0 3,092 
Reclassifications 48 0 0 0 -48 0 
As of 31.12.2017 456 0 95 1,320 10 1,881 
Accumulated write-downs 0 
As of 01.01.2017 522 53 113 380 0 1,068 
Additions continued operations 182 0 0 0 0 182 
Additions discontinued 
operations 59 80 27 0 0 166 
Disposals 357 0 0 0 0 357 
Disposals due to changes to the 
group of consolidated 
companies 91 133 45 0 0 269 
As of 31.12.2017 315 0 95 380 0 790 
Residual carrying amount 141 0 0 940 10 1,091 

The main changes in the financial year include EUR 2,823 thousand in the disposal of net 
carrying amounts in connection with the deconsolidation of sport media group GmbH (EUR 
2,779 thousand) and wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh (EUR 43 thousand). The residual carrying 
amounts of the intangible assets regarding the acquired domains, formel1.de and 
motorsport-total.com, and related applications as well as the acquired customer base and 
goodwill created by the transaction in the amount of EUR 968 thousand, which were 
identified for the purpose of the acquisition of a 51% share in sport media group GmbH 
within the scope of the purchase price allocation in the previous year, which were determined 
taking into consideration scheduled depreciation and amortisation until 30 June 2017, had to 
be reversed. 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2017 

PAGE 118 

The composition and development of the intangible assets and goodwill in the previous year 
is stated below: 

Purchased 
software 
programs 

Customer 
base Brands/logo/domain Goodwill Prepayments Total 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand   

EUR 
thousand 

Acquisition values 
  As of 01.01.2016 1,249 0 95 1,470 0 2,814 

Additions 328 0 0 0 0 328 
Additions to the group of 
consolidated companies 697 800 475 968 48 2,988 
Disposals 539 0 0 110 0 649 
Reclassifications due to changes to 
the group of consolidated 
companies -35 0 0 0 0 -35
As of 31.12.2016 1,700 800 570 2,328 48 5,446 
Accumulated write-downs 
As of 01.01.2016 785 0 0 68 0 853 
Additions continued operations 193 0 0 0 0 193 
Additions discontinued operations 39 53 18 0 0 110 
Disposals 466 0 0 110 0 576 
Reclassifications due to changes to 
the group of consolidated 
companies -29 0 0 0 0 -29
Impairment test 0 0 95 422 0 517
As of 31.12.2016 522 53 113 380 0 1,068 
Residual carrying amount 1,178 747 457 1,948 48 4,378 

The residual carrying amount of the goodwill pertains to the following cash-generating units: 

 2017 2016 

EUR thousand EUR thousand 

SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, Cologne 850 850 

SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH, Cologne 90 90 

_wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, Munich 0 40 

sport media group GmbH, Munich 0 968 

940 1,948 

In connection with the conceptual design, development and expansion of the amateur sport 
streaming service, sporttotal.tv, research and development expenses in the amount of EUR 
189 thousand were recognised personnel expenses in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in financial year 2017. These were not capitalised as it is impossible to 
distinguish between the conceptual design and realisation phase (also in terms of time scale), 
which is a requirement for capitalising an item. Contrary to the specifications of IAS 38, ideas 
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are created and realised not in sequence, but rather within a dynamic process which accounts 
for the continuously changing requirements and general conditions over the course of time 
and when adding new cooperation partners, due to the complexity and dynamics of the 
project.    

Impairment test of the recognised goodwill 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the level of the cash-generating units below the 
segments. The recoverable amounts for the recognised goodwill were determined on the 
basis of the values in use. The cash flow forecasts are based on past experiences, current 
operating results and the best possible estimate of future developments by management as 
well as externally published market data.  

The detailed plans are prepared by management and the individual units in the form of an 
income statement for a three-year period and are primarily based on information from 
existing contracts and assumptions regarding the continuation of long-term business 
relationships. Investments are planned on the basis of existing investment projects and recent 
experiences. The thus derived cash flows before taxes are adjusted for one-off effects for 
deferrals to periods outside the detailed planning horizon, if required.  

The CAPM method was applied for determining the weighted cost of capital. The discount 
rate is determined on the basis of a risk-free interest rate and market risk premium. Beta 
factors used, leverage and debt capital costs are taken from the published data of the peer 
group media. The pre-tax discount rate applied is 9.97%. 

In addition to the impairment test, sensitivity analyses were performed with regard to the 
interest rates used. The increase of the capitalisation rate by 2.5 percentage points would not 
result in an impairment of goodwill in any of the cash-generating units.  
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(2) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment structure and development: 

Land with 
buildings and 

outdoor 
installations 

Technical 
plant and 
machinery 

Operating and 
office 

equipment 
Plants under 
construction Total 

EUR
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Acquisition values 
As of 01.01.2017 63 2,624 2,345 100 5,132 
Additions 0 0 1,364 1,484 2,848 
Disposals 0 390 1,116 0 1,506 
Disposals due to changes to the group 
of consolidated companies 0 148 318 0 466 
Reclassifications -63 -327 1,840 -1,450 0 
As of 31.12.2017 0 1,759 4,115 134 6,008 
Accumulated write-downs 
As of 01.01.2017 12 2,366 1,274 0 3,652 
Additions continued operations 0 31 410 0 441 
Additions discontinued operations 0 13 25 38 
Disposals 0 353 777 0 1,130 
Disposals due to changes to the group 
of consolidated companies 0 30 117 0 147 
Reclassification as assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairment test 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassifications -12 -285 297 0 0 
As of 31.12.2017 0 1,742 1,112 0 2,854 
Residual carrying amount 0 17 3,003 134 3,154 

The additions of EUR 2,848 thousand in the financial year primarily pertained to the 
investments in the sporttotal.tv segment in connection with the scheduled fitting of 
innovative camera technology in sports facilities. These additions were offset by disposals 
with a net carrying amount of EUR 376 thousand, mainly after the separation of other 
transmission and media technology segments in the previous year. 

EUR
thousand 

EUR
thousand 

EUR
thousand 
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The comparable presentation for the previous year is stated below: 

Land with 
buildings and 

outdoor 
installations 

Technical 
plant and 
machinery 

Operating 
and office 
equipment 

Plants under 
construction Total 

 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Acquisition values 
  As of 01.01.2016 1,666 13,342 5,644 123 20,775 

Additions 2 405 1,379 1,640 3,426 
Additions to the group of 
consolidated companies 0 0 9 0 9 
Disposals 89 5,706 4,078 0 9,873 
Reclassification as assets held for sale 1,516 6,174 1,515 0 9,205 
Reclassifications 0 757 906 -1,663 0 
As of 31.12.2016 63 2,624 2,345 100 5,132 
Accumulated write-downs 
As of 01.01.2016 948 9,686 2,978 0 13,612 
Additions continued operations 61 624 743 0 1,428 
Additions discontinued operations 8 843 426 0 1,277 
Disposals 40 4,673 1,920 0 6,633 
Impairment test 0 1,455 0 0 1,455 
Reclassification as assets held for sale 965 5,569 953 0 7,487 
As of 31.12.2016 12 2,366 1,274 0 3,652 
Residual carrying amount 51 258 1,071 100 1,480 

EUR 
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Lease agreements 

The technical equipment acquired as part of finance leases was capitalised at the cash value 
of the minimum lease rates. 

The carrying amount of the leased technical equipment developed as follows: 

Acquisition 
costs 

Carrying 
amount 

Carrying 
amount Original term of 

agreement 
Interest 

rate 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

910 0 637 Jul. 2015 – Jun. 2019 3.39% 

94 0 78 May 2016 – Apr. 2020 4.36% 
80 0 78 Dec. 2016 – Nov. 2020 3.79% 
50 0 38 Oct. 2015 – Sep. 2018 9.44% 

46 0 39 Jun. 2016 – May 2020 4.56% 
40 0 0 Mar. 2012 – Apr. 2016 6.30% 
32 17 24 Sep. 2015 – Aug. 2018 7.28% 

18 0 15 Jun. 2016 – May 2020 4.59% 

1,230 17 909 

1,198 0 -715
Reclassification according to IFRS 5 
or disposal 

32 17 194 Residual carrying amount in assets 

(3) Financial assets recognised at equity

The 49% share in SPRTSBK GmbH, Cologne, and the 45% share in China Sports Media 
Holding Ltd., Hong Kong, which was newly established in the financial year, and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, China Sports Media Ltd., Hong Kong, were recognised as financial assets 
recognised at equity. 

All three companies are currently inactive, meaning that no material financial information has 
to be reported. 
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(4) Deferred tax assets 

The deferred taxes recognised pertain to the following balance sheet items: 

 
    

  
 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

  
Deferred tax 

asset 
Deferred tax 

liability 
Deferred tax 

asset 
Deferred tax 

liability 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

 
    

 Intangible assets 506 20 606 571 
Property, plant and equipment 0 6 0 295 
PoC receivables 0 592 0 5 
Pension obligations 45 0 46 0 
Lease agreements 3 0 300 0 
Convertible bond 0 10 0 32 
Provisions 88 0 0 20 
At equity measurement 1 0 1 0 
Loss carried forward 113 0 573 0 
Subtotal 756 628 1,526 923 
Balances -628 -628 -923 -923 
Deferred taxes recognised in 
balance sheet 128 0 603 0 

 
    

   

The changes in deferred tax assets are composed as follows: 

    2017 2016 

 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Addition/disposal (+/-) of deferred tax assets and 
addition/disposal (-/+) of deferred tax liabilities 
   
recognised directly in equity 11 102 
recognised in other income 10 12 
recognised in the income statement -952 279 
disposed of / added 
due to company transactions 456 -583 
Total  -475 -190 
 

 

 

 

   

The tax expenses in the amount of EUR 952 thousand (including tax income from 
discontinued operations in the amount of EUR 29 thousand) recognised in continued 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2017 

PAGE 124  

operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income primarily include EUR 
587 thousand for the pro-rata realisation of the results from a long-term production order 
(please refer to the disclosures in No. (7) Payments due from customers for production 
orders). The EUR 460 thousand change in deferred tax assets in connection with existing tax 
losses carried forward is also included in this item.  

In accordance with IAS 12.74, the deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the net 
amount which pertains to the same tax subject and is stated by the same tax authority and to 
the extent that the further conditions for offsetting are being met. 

Deferred tax assets from losses carried forward are only recognised to the extent to which it 
can be assumed with sufficient reliability that there will be sufficient taxable income for 
realising the corresponding use. Current company planning was used as a measurement base 
in this respect. Due to the typical industry risks linked to the Group’s business activities and 
due to the loss situation in the past, the planning figures were supported with a significant 
security allowance. The limitations of the loss deduction in accordance with Section 10d 
Paragraph 2 of the German Income Tax Act (Einkommenssteuergesetz – EStG) are also taken 
into consideration. This resulted in deferred tax assets in the amount of EUR 7,576 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 7,014 thousand) in connection with tax losses carried forward not being 
capitalised. 

The deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences are offset by a similar amount of 
deferred tax liabilities from taxable temporary differences. 

 

(5) Other non-current assets 

Other non-current assets contain a non-current loan to a related party in the amount of EUR 
480 thousand (previous year: EUR 465 thousand). A non-current loan in the amount of EUR 
80 thousand was also issued to SPRTSBK GmbH, of which EUR 30 thousand remained drawn-
down. The loans carry arm’s length interest. 

 

(6) Inventories 

Inventories pertain to work in progress in connection with several ongoing projects for which 
services will only be provided in the following year and for which expenses incurred before 
the reporting date are recognised. It is assumed that the projects can be completed with a 
balanced result at the minimum.  
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(7) Receivables and other assets 

Receivables and other assets are comprised as follows:  

         
  31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

  EUR thousand EUR thousand 

 
      

Trade receivables   6,592 
 

3,294 

Payments due from customers for production orders   4,652 
 

155 

Other assets:   1,464 
 

4,599 

VAT receivables  167   440   

Accruals and deferrals 276   231   

Prepayments 759   162   

Other receivables from security deposits 146   109   

Receivables from employees 3   0   

Other 113   3,657   
          
    12,708  8,048 
         
 

Receivables and other assets are recognised at the lower of nominal and fair value. All 
discernible risks are accounted for with individual allowances. As of the previous year’s 
reporting date, other assets contained the receivable from the disposal of assets in the media 
technology segment of SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH in the amount of EUR 2,950 thousand, 
which has been redeemed in the meantime. 

Allowances for trade receivables developed as follows: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

As of 01/01 120 269 
Draw-down -33 -111 
Reversal -55 -95 
Addition 88 57 
As of 31/12 120 120 

 
  

 
 

  
  

EUR 58 thousand (previous year: EUR 32 thousand) of the allowances as of the reporting date 
pertained to the LIVE segment. The general default risks of the receivables are accounted for 
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with individual allowances (3%). Additions to allowances are recognised in other operating 
expenses. 

The carrying amount of the overdue trade receivables, which were not impaired, are 
structured as follows: 

Overdue since 

 1-30 days 30-60 days More than 60 days Total 
 EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand 

31.12.2017 1,597 820 371 2,788 
31.12.2016 1,040 379 357 1,776 
     
 

With regard to the non-impaired trade receivables, there were no indications of debtors not 
fulfilling their payment obligations in the future at the time of the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

A security in the form of an assignment of certain trade receivables was issued for a loan of 
Postbank AG, which totalled EUR 2,240 thousand as of the reporting date. As the Group did 
not assign the material opportunities and risks related to these receivables, they continue to 
be recognised at their full amount and the cash received as secured loan. 

As of the reporting date, there were no trade receivables assigned as securities within the 
scope of the global assignment that had been assigned but not reversed. 
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Customer payments due for production orders: 

 31.12.2017 
EUR thousand 

31.12.2016 
EUR thousand 

Production orders not yet completed 
as of the reporting date: 

  

   

Costs incurred until the reporting date 
plus profit recognised 

7,936 155 

Less: Partial invoices -3,284 0 
 4,652 155 

Recognised in the financial statements as payments due:   

- From customers for production orders  4,652 155 
- To customers from production orders  0 0 

 4,652 155 

Receivables recognised in the financial statements: 4,652 155 

 

The costs incurred for 2017 and realised pro-rata profits are linked to the major project in 
Kuwait. 97% of this project was completed in 2017 and it will be fully completed at the 
beginning of financial year 2018. The customer has provided confirmation of the percentage 
of completion at year-end. 

 

The allowance for other assets developed as follows in financial year 2017: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

As of 01/01 180 1,032 
Draw-down -180 -847 
Reversal 0 -5 
Addition 0 0 
As of 31/12 0 180 
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(8) Subscribed capital 

On 1 January 2017, share capital amounted to EUR 17,652,375, divided into 17,652,375 bearer 
no-par value shares with a mathematical share in share capital of EUR 1.00 each. 

On 11 March 2014, the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, resolved to issue a convertible bond 2014/2019 with a total volume of up 
to 1,842,106 partial debt instruments with a nominal value of EUR 1.90 each totalling up to 
EUR 3,500,001.40 with a 2019 maturity and the right to convert it into up to 1,842,106 bearer 
no-par value shares (no-par value shares) with a pro-rata share in share capital of EUR 1.00 
per share. In the period from 1 January 2017 to 6 April 2017, a total of 38,800 new no-par 
value shares were issued from the contingent capital 2013 in return for conversion of the 
above-stated convertible bond 2014/2019 in the nominal amount of EUR 38,800.00. 

On 6 April 2017, the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, resolved to increase the company’s share capital by partially uti l ising the 
approved capital 2016 in return for a cash deposit by up to EUR 1,608,288.00 by issuing up to 
1,608,288 new bearer no-par value shares (no-par value shares) with a pro-rata share in share 
capital of EUR 1.00 per share. 

The capital was increased by EUR 1,608,288.00 to EUR 19,299,463.00. The capital increase was 
registered in the commercial register on 6 April 2017. 

In the period from 6 April 2017 to 2 November 2017, a total of 169,200 new no-par value 
shares were issued from the contingent capital 2013 in return for conversion of the above-
stated convertible bond 2014/2019 in the nominal amount of EUR 169,200.00. 

On 7 November 2017, the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, resolved to increase the company’s share capital by partially uti l ising the 
approved capital 2017 in return for a cash deposit by up to EUR 1,946,666.00 by issuing up to 
1,946,666 new bearer no-par value shares (no-par value shares) with a pro-rata share in share 
capital of EUR 1.00 per share. 

The capital was increased by EUR 1,946,666.00 to EUR 21,415,329.00. The capital increase was 
registered in the commercial register on 8 November 2017. 

In the period from 2 November 2017 to 31 December 2017, a total of 200 new no-par value 
shares were issued from the contingent capital 2013 in return for conversion of the above-
stated convertible bond 2014/2019 in the nominal amount of EUR 200.00. 

On 31 December 2017, the share capital therefore amounted to EUR 21,415,529 (previous 
year: EUR 17,652,375) and was divided into 21,415,529 (previous year: 17,652,375) bearer no-
par value shares with a mathematical share in share capital of EUR 1.00 each. The shares were 
fully issued and paid in as of the reporting date. 
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At the shareholder’s meeting on 20 July 2017, the existing contingent capital 2016 and 
approved capital 2016 (to the extent that it had not yet been exhausted) were rescinded and 
at the same time the creation of the new contingent capital 2017/I and contingent capital 
2017/II and new approved capital 2017 resolved.  

 

The contingent capital 2017/I amounts to EUR 8,803.482 and serves to issue shares to the 
owners or creditors of convertible bonds and/or options.  

The contingent capital 2017/II amounts to EUR 500,000.00 and exclusively serves to fulfil 
subscription rights (share options).  

The approved capital 2017 was resolved at EUR 9,649,731, thus amounting EUR 7,703,065 on 
31 December 2017. 

The contingent capital 2013 amounted to EUR 176,849.00 on 31 December 2017. 

 

(9) Capital reserve 

The capital reserve contains items such as the equity component (right to convert) of the 
convertible bonds not yet converted as of the reporting date as well as the premium for 
newly issued shares. The capital reserve developed as follows in financial year 2017: 

 
2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

As of 01/01 5,407 1,174 

Premium from issuing new shares 8,447 3,467 
Issuing costs -428 -212 
Premium from conversion 152 876 
Related income taxes 12 102 
Share-based remuneration 28 0 

As of 31/12  13,618 5,407 
 

 

(10) Retained profit 

Like in the previous years, retained profit continues to include the reversal of the provision 
for treasury shares in the amount of EUR 26 thousand in financial year 2007, the profit from 
the deconsolidation of WIGE DATA GmbH in financial year 2006 in the amount of EUR 995 
thousand and the provision for currency translation in the amount of EUR -216 thousand 
recognised in financial year 2006 due to the initial application of IFRS. 
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Debt capital 

Any changes in debt capital resulting from the loss of control over subsidiaries are 
recognised in a separate item in the cash flow statement (Cash flow from financing activities 
of discontinued operations) as the disposed companies are operations within the meaning of 
IFRS 5. No further changes arose in the financial year which have to be reported under IAS 
67. 

 

(11) Non-current financial liabilities 

As of 31 December 2017, non-current financial liabilities pertained to liabilities of the issued 
convertible bond and, as in the previous year, are recognised with remaining terms between 
one and five years: 

 
  

 
 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

 
Total Total 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Liabilities to banks – loans 0 420 
Lease liabilities 0 127 
Bonds 306 634 

 
306 1,181 

 
  

  

On 11 March 2014, the company issued convertible bonds with 6% interest and a nominal 
amount of EUR 3,500 thousand. The bond holder may convert it into no-par value shares at 
the conversion price of EUR 1.90, thus resulting in a contingent capital increase of EUR 1,842 
thousand. The right to convert may be exercised at any time in the period from 1 April 2014 
to 7 March 2019. If the right to convert is not exercised, the bonds will be repaid at EUR 1.90 
each as of 17 March 2019. 
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The convertible bonds are comprised of two components, a debt capital component 
(financial liability) and an equity component. The equity component is recognised in equity 
under “Capital reserve” and the debt capital component at EUR 306 thousand as a non-
current financial liability, in accordance with the right to convert until 2019. The effective 
interest rate of the financial liability upon addition is 11.5% p.a. The item developed as 
follows: 

 
  

  2017 2016 

 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Debt component as of 01/01 634 2,744 
Interest incurred and reversal of costs for debt component 57 175 
Interest paid -25 -88 
Conversions -360 -2,197 
Debt component as of 31/12 (recognised as “Financial liabilities”) 

306 634   

 
  

  

No new lease liabilities were taken out in the financial year (previous year: EUR 238 
thousand). The following total (non-current and current) payments on the concluded lease 
agreements are due: 

 
  

   31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

For financial year 2017 (2016)   
 Minimum lease payments 9 70 

Less interest payments 0 -10 
Minimum net lease payments cash value 9 60 
For financial years 2018 to 2021 (2011 to 2020)     
Minimum lease payments 0 133 
Less interest payments 0 -6 
Minimum net lease payments cash value 0 127 
Total minimum lease payments 9 203 
Less interest payments 0 -16 
Minimum net lease payments cash value 9 187 
Finance lease liabilities 9 187 

 
  

  

The finance lease liabilities contain purchase price payments in the amount of EUR 1 
thousand (previous year: EUR 30 thousand) required due to more favourable purchase 
options. 
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(12) Pension obligations 

The Group has defined benefit obligations from direct pension commitments. 

SPORTTOTAL AG maintains a pension plan for a former member of the Management Board. 
The plan guarantees monthly pension payments since the former employee reached the age 
of 65. The pensioner does not have to pay any contributions toward this plan. SPORTTOTAL 
AG expects to pay annual pension obligations in the amount of EUR 57 thousand in 2018 and 
beyond. As the pension plan has previously been paid up and constitutes a pension 
commitment due, no sensitivity analysis was performed due to reasons of immateriality.  

As of 31 December 2017, the pension obligations amounted to EUR 481 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 500 thousand). 

The pension obligations were calculated on the basis of the 2005 mortality tables of 
Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck. Dynamic pension obligation trends were not taken into 
consideration as the pension commitment is fixed. 

The pension obligations are calculated on the basis of actuarial reports.  

 

Movement of the present value of the obligations during the reporting period: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

  
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
As of 01/01 500 509 
Interest expenses 7 10 
Actuarial gains and losses 31 38 
Benefits paid -57 -57 
As of 31/12 481 500 

 
  

  

The interest expenses are recognised in the income statement and actuarial losses in other 
result. 
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Actuarial assumptions: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

  
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 

Discount rate  1.03% 1.41% 

Expected pension increases 1.75% 1.75% 

      
 

 

Figures in the current and last four reporting periods: 

       31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 

 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Cash value of the 
obligation 481 500 509 555 531 
Fair value of the plan 
assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Recognition of provisions 481 500 509 544 531 

 
      

(13) Non-current provisions 

Structure and development of non-current provisions: 

Provisions for 
As of 

01.01.2017 Reversal 

Accreted/        
discounted 

interest Addition 
As of 

31.12.2017 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Process risks 540 586 46 0 0 
Personnel expenses 0 0 0 271 271 

 
540 586 46 271 271 

     
  

 

The provision for legal risks recognised in previous years with regard to the existence of a 
potential claim of the insolvency manager of a former subsidiary was fully reversed in the 
amount of EUR 586 thousand as it now looks improbably that it will be needed.  
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The provisions for personnel costs include EUR 271 thousand for a long-term bonus 
agreement concluded in 2017 with Peter Lauterbach, member of the Management Board. 
Please refer to the disclosures in No. (33) and in the summarised management report 
(Section 7 “Remuneration report”). The provision is recognised at the share in the respective 
current fair value of the commitment on each reporting date. The fair value is determined by 
an external expert on the basis of an option price model in accordance with Black/Scholes. 

(14) Current financial liabilities

The current financial liabilities are comprised as follows: 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Liabilities to banks: 

Loans 2,240 945 

 
Current accounts 0 79 

Lease liabilities 9 60 

Financial liabilities 2,249 1,084 

(15) Prepayments received

The prepayments received primarily pertain to event trips to be completed in 2018. 

(16) Current provisions

Structure and development of current provisions: 

Provisions for 
As of 

01.01.2017 
Draw-
down Reversal Reclassifications Addition 

As of 
31.12.2017 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Process risks 20 0 0 0 2 22 
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(17) Other current liabilities 

The other current liabilities are comprised as follows: 

 
  

   31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

Other liabilities 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 

 
Liabilities to employees 598 1,020 

 
Liabilities from outstanding holiday entitlements 106 311 

 
Other tax liabilities 131 226 

 
Liabilities to social insurance companies 10 83 

  Other     177 80 
  1,022 1,720 
 

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 

The following disclosures on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
exclusively pertain to continued operations. The previous year’s figures were adjusted for the 
discontinued operations of the subsidiaries, _wige SOUTH&BROWSE gmbh, sport media 
group GmbH and _wige BROADCAST gmbh, sold in 2017 and 2016. Their current results and 
gain / loss from disposal are recognised in a separate item and explained under “C – 
Disposals of subsidiaries”. 

 

(18) Sales revenue 

Breakdown of sales revenue: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

Continued operations EUR thousand EUR thousand 
   

 Sales revenue from services 55,747   50,205 
Sales revenue from production orders 7,782   155 
Sales revenue from sale of goods 0   483 
  63,529 50,843 

 
  

  

Sales revenue in 2017 contained EUR 128 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand) resulting 
from swap transactions.  
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Sales revenue included EUR 11,726 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,833 thousand) was 
generated abroad (determined by the location in which income tax is payable for the service), 
of which EUR 2,800 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,551 thousand) within the EU. 

Sales revenue contains income from production orders recognised using the percentage of 
completion method in the amount of EUR 7,782 thousand (previous year: EUR 155 thousand). 

 

(19) Other operating income 

Other operating income takes account of the following facts: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

  
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Continued operations   

 Intra-group charges 2,271 1,487 
Reversal of other liabilities 302 130 
Insurance payouts 190 183 
Reversal of allowances for receivables 58 121 
Disposal of assets 20 792 
Exchange rate differences 7 1 
Other 269 299 

  3,117 3,013 

 
  

  

The transferred amounts primarily refer to personnel expenses of SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH 
in the amount of EUR 2,029 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,214 thousand).  
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(20) Cost of materials 

The cost of materials is composed as follows:  

 
  

   2017 2016 

  EUR thousand EUR thousand 
Continued operations:   

 Purchased services 40,241 39,716 
Raw materials, consumables and supplies and purchased goods 4,527 642 
  44,768 40,358 

 
  

  

(21) Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses are composed as follows: 

   
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Continued operations:   
 Wages and salaries 6,979 9,202 

Social insurance contributions and pension expenses 1,108 1,709 

   
8,087 10,911 

   
  

  

Personnel expenses contain expenses in connection with share-based remuneration in the 
amount of EUR 299 thousand. 
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(22) Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses in the continued operations comprise the following individual 
items: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Legal, audit and consulting fees 1,378 1,273 
Costs of premises 756 730 
Vehicle fleet 505 901 
Administrative costs 557 447 
Ancillary costs for monetary transaction 235 168 
Acquisitions and advertising 225 161 
Maintenance expenses 178 559 
Expenses from other periods 167 111 
Insurance, contributions, fees 148 134 
Receivables measurement and losses 138 105 
Other 337 178 

 
4,624 4,767 

 

Miscellaneous other operating expenses comprise losses from exchange rate differences in 
the amount of EUR 27 thousand (previous year: EUR 1 thousand).  

 

(23) Financial result 

The financial result is composed as follows: 

   
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Earnings from associated companies -1 -1 
Interest income 19 24 
Interest expenses -197 -375 

   
-179 -352 

   
  

  
Total interest income from financial assets not recognised at fair value in the income 
statement amounted to EUR 19 thousand (previous year: EUR 24 thousand). 

Total interest expenses from financial assets not recognised at fair value in the income 
statement amounted to EUR 190 thousand (previous year: EUR 365 thousand).  
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(24) Income taxes 

Tax expenses contained deferred taxes as well as corporation and trade taxes of the 
companies.  

Reconciliation of the expected tax income / expenses and the tax income / expenses 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 

 
   

  2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand % EUR thousand % 

Result from continued operations before income taxes   336     -3,962   
Expected trade tax expenses/income -56   16.63 659  16.63 
Expected church tax and solidarity surcharge 
expenses/income  -53   15.83 627  15.83 

Mathematical tax expenses/income   -109   
 

1,285 
 Tax effects from non-deductible expenses and permanent 

differences 188 
    

-254   

Tax expenses from previous periods -55     0   
Tax effects from the amortisation of goodwill 0     -137   
Consolidation effects without effect on taxes 177     0   
Tax effects from measurement changes and non-
recognition of losses carried forward -1,237 

    
-667   

    -927     -1,058   
Tax expenses/income from continued operations   -1,036    227  

 
         

 

The tax income / expenses resulted from the following circumstances: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

Continued operations 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Current income taxes 0 0 
Income taxes from previous periods -55 0 

 
-55 0 

Deferred income taxes   
 

Due to the creation and reversal of temporary differences -521 178 
On losses carried forward -460 49 
  -981 227 
Tax expenses/income -1,036 227 
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(25) Result from discontinued operations 

Please refer to the disclosures in  

“C) disposal of subsidiaries” for the results from discontinued operations. 

 

(26) Earning per share  

Undiluted earnings per share: 

2017 2016

EUR per share EUR per share
from continued operations -0.04 -0.24
from discontinued operations 0.05 -0.16
undiluted earnings per share 0.01 -0.40

 

In accordance with IAS 33, earnings per share are calculated by dividing the total result 
allocable to the shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of 
shares in circulation during one financial year. 

An average of 19,267,367 shares were in circulation in 2017. The number of circulating shares 
developed as follows: 

01.01.2017 At the start of the period 17,652,375 
01.01 – 05.04 Conversions 38,800 
06.04.2017 Capital increase 1,608,288 
07.04 – 07.11 Conversions 169,200 
08.11.2017 Capital increase 1,946,666 
09.11 – 31.12 Conversions 200 
31.12.2017 At the end of the period 21,415,529 
 

Undiluted earnings per share amounted to EUR -0.01 (previous year: EUR -0.40) and the share 
in the result for the period allocable to the shareholders of the parent company to EUR 285 
thousand (previous year: EUR -6,199 thousand). 

176,849 of the convertible bonds issued in 2014 had not yet been converted by the reporting 
date. 500,000 potential no-par value shares in connection with the share option programme 
launched in September 2017 were also in existence as of the reporting date (see disclosures 
in No. (33)).  

Taking into consideration potential results of issuing these two instruments, their issuance 
did not have any diluting effect or protected against dilution. As therefore neither the 
potential no-par value shares from the convertible bond nor those from the share option 
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programme would have to be included in the calculation of the diluted earnings, these did 
not have to be determined, as in the previous year.  

(27) Disclosures on the financial risk management

Classes of financial instruments 

Carrying amount of the financial instruments by measurement categories in accordance with 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement: 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Loans and receivables 12,010 7,741 

Trade receivables 6,592 3,294 
Payments due from customers for production orders 4,652 155 
Receivables from companies in which a participating 
interest is held 30 30 
Receivables from related parties and employees 480 465 
Other assets 256 3,797 

Cash in hand and at bank 15,692 3,880 

Financial instruments available for sale 0 0 
27,702 7,741 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

EUR thousand EUR thousand 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 7,153 5,390 

Bank loans with terms of more than 1 year 0 420 
Bank loans with terms of less than 1 year 2,240 945 
Bonds with terms of more than one year 306 634 
Current accounts 0 79 
Lease liabilities 9 187 
Trade payables 4,464 3,095 
Other liabilities 134 30 

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 

7,153 5,390 
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The fair value of the non-derivative financial instruments classified as not held for sale mainly 
corresponds to the carrying amount, as in the previous year. Overall, the financial instruments 
are not subject to any material cash flow risk caused by interest rate fluctuations. 

 

Net result of the financial instruments 

The net income / loss from financial instruments recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, divided by the measurement categories of IAS 39, is comprised as 
follows: 

2017 2016

EUR thousand EUR thousand
granted loans and receivables -80 -58
financial assets held-for-trading 0 0
available-for-sale financial instruments 0 63
financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost

193 143
273 138

 

The allowances for capitalised financial instruments exclusively pertain to loans and 
receivables and developed as follows: 

 
  

   2017 2016 

 
EUR thousand EUR thousand 

As of 01/01 300 1,301 
Draw-down -213 -958 
Reversal -55 -100 

Addition 88 57 

As of 31/12 120 300 
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Financial risk management 

The Group is exposed to various financial risks resulting from operating and financing 
activities, which can be broken down into the following risk categories: 

• Liquidity risks 
• Default risks (credit risks) 
• Market risks 

 

The liquidity risk is the risk that future payment obligations cannot be covered by existing 
liquidity or credit facilities. The Group’s liquidity management aims to ensure that, insofar as 
possible, there are always sufficient liquid funds to be able to meet the payment obligations 
upon their due dates under normal as well as difficult conditions without suffering 
unsustainable losses or damaging the Group’s reputation. 

In the last instance, the responsibility for the liquidity risk management lies with the 
Management Board, which has developed an adequate concept for managing current, 
medium-term and non-current financing and liquidity requirements. The Group manages 
liquidity risks by keeping adequate cash reserves, credit facilities with banks and other 
facilities, by continuously monitoring the forecast and actual cash flows and by reconciling 
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The Group aims to maintain cash and cash equivalents at a level which exceeds the cash 
outflows from financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) expected over the next 60 days. 
The Group also monitors the amount of the expected cash inflows from trade receivables and 
other receivables, together with the expected cash outflows from trade payables and other 
liabilities. The potential effects of extreme circumstances (such as natural disasters) that 
cannot be realistically forecast are not taken into consideration. 

The default risk is the risk of financial losses incurred by a customer or the contracting party 
of a financial instrument failing to meet their contractual obligations or failing to do so on 
time. The default risk is always related to the Group’s trade receivables, other assets and cash 
and cash equivalents. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets correspond to the maximum default risk. 

The Group’s default risk related to trade receivables and other assets is primarily influenced 
by the customers’ individual characteristics. The Management Board also takes into 
consideration characteristics of the entire customer base, including the default risk of the 
industry and countries in which the customers operate as these factors may impact the 
default risk. 
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The customers are divided into groups based on their credit ratings to monitor the default 
risk. Characteristics such as geographical location, industry, age structure of the receivables 
as well as the occurrence and duration of past payment problems are taken into 
consideration in addition to the size and legal structure of the customers. 

With regard to the Group’s largest customer, which contributes more than 10% to sales 
revenue, the Group expects the accumulated concentration of default risks to be acceptable, 
particularly in view of the long-standing customer relationship and past experiences.  

On 31 December 2017, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 15,692 
thousand (previous year: EUR 3,880 thousand). This total amount therefore also represents 
the maximum default risk with regard to these assets. Cash and cash equivalents are 
deposited with banks or financial institutions with an AA- to AA+ rating. The default risk of 
cash and cash equivalents is therefore to be classed as low. 

The market risk is the risk of market prices, such as exchange rates or interest rates, 
changing and impacting the Group’s income or the value of the financial instruments held as 
a result. The market risk management aims to manage and control the market risk within an 
acceptable bandwidth and at the same time optimise returns. 

The Group is exposed to currency risks to the extent that disposals and acquisitions as well as 
credit transactions are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
Group companies. The functional currency of the Group companies is the euro. These 
transactions are primarily concluded in euros (EUR) and to a minimal extent in US dollars 
(USD). 

The Group is exposed to only few interest rate risks as most of the Group companies’ lending 
bears fixed interest and only a minimal amount variable interest. The Group manages this risk 
by maintaining a corresponding reasonable ratio between fixed and variable interest loans. 

 

The company’s Management Board is responsible for developing and controlling the Group 
risk management. The Group’s risk management policy was developed for identifying and 
analysing the Group’s risks so as to implement suitable risk limits and controls and monitor 
the development of the risks and compliance with the limits.  

Two types of risk concentration are applied when determining the risk concentration:  

On the one hand, these are existing risks that can only occur within an individual risk 
category. These risks are determined by the person responsible for the individual risk 
category as part of individual risk monitoring. On the other hand, a risk concentration can 
result from synergies between several risk categories. An individual and cumulative analysis 
of the risk concentration is performed for all risk categories and any necessary risk reduction 
measures implemented. 
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To reduce risks in the case of a risk concentration, the following conditions have been 
specified regarding the default, liquidity and market risks: 

• Additional customer credit rating enquiries for sales volume of more than EUR 100 
thousand and security in the form of guarantees or corresponding advance 
payments, if required  

• Considering the geographical selection of countries in which an order is executed 
according to the economic and political situation in these countries 

• The widest possible diversification of suppliers  
• Extended testing of orders in foreign currency accounting for more than 5% of 

sales revenue 
  

None of the risk categories showed major risk concentrations. None of the customers’ default 
risks were above a relevant limit. There was also no risk concentration spanning the risk 
categories in 2017.  

The risk management policy and risk management system are audited regularly to pick up on 
changes in market conditions and the activities of the Group. The existing training and 
management standards and related processes aim to ensure that a meaningful control 
environment is created in which all employees understand their respective tasks and 
responsibilities. 

 

(28) Capital management 

The Group’s capital management aims to ensure the company’s continued existence as a 
going concern and to maintain sufficient liquidity to cover all liabilities. It further aims to 
improve access to credit, particularly bank loans, to facilitate easier project financing. The 
(planned) positive contributions to income in the following financial years form the basis for 
improving the Group’s credit rating.  

Further measures for using the capital employed as efficiently as possible and therefore also 
achieving an attractive return are strict requirements regarding the profitability of 
investments and a clearly structured innovation process. 

The regular calculation and reporting of performance indicators to management ensures that 
required measures in connection with the capital structure can be implemented in good time. 

As of the reporting date, equity amounted to EUR 19,165 thousand (previous year: EUR 7,540 
thousand), whereas debt capital amounted to EUR 15,114 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 14,726 thousand). As of 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents less current 
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financial liabilities amounted to EUR 13,443 thousand compared with EUR 2,796 thousand in 
the previous year. 

 

(29) Other financial liabilities 

The financial liabilities from multiple-year rental and operating lease agreements are due on 
the following dates:  

 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

 
EUR 

thousand 
EUR 

thousand 
Rental and lease liabilities   
For 2018 (2017) 789 1,009 
For 2019 to 2021 (2018 to 2020) 1,899 2,858 
For 2022 and beyond (2021 and beyond) 237 714 

 2,925 4,581 
 

As of the reporting date, the purchase commitment regarding outstanding deliveries of fixed 
assets amounted to EUR 2,830 thousand (previous year: EUR 225 thousand).  

SPORTTOTAL AG has an existing loan commitment to SPRTSBK GmbH in the amount of EUR 
80 thousand from a loan agreement concluded in 2016. As of 31 December 2017, this loan 
commitment was drawn down by SPRTSBK GmbH in the amount of EUR 30 thousand. The 
loan can be terminated for the first time as of 31 December 2018.  
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F) Cash flow statement 

(30) Cash and cash equivalents 

In accordance with IAS 7 (Cash Flow Statement), the cash flow statement shows the 
development of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents during the course of the financial year 
due to cash inflows and outflows. When deriving the operating cash flows, only changes to 
the respective balance sheet items with an effect on income were taken into consideration.  

Cash and cash equivalents are composed as follows: 

 
  

   31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

 

EUR 
thousand 

EUR 
thousand 

Petty cash 13 14 
Cash at bank 15,679 3,866 

Cash and cash equivalents recognised in the balance sheet 15,692 3,880 
Plus:   

 Liquid funds held in discontinued operations 0 156 

Less:   
 Non-current cash and cash equivalents -3,000 -516 

Cash and cash equivalents 12,692 3,520 

 
  

  

Cash at bank has a remaining term of less than three months. 

Cash at bank includes frozen accounts in the amount of EUR 3,000 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 516 thousand), which serve as securities for bank loans received and are therefore 
only available in the short term. 

As of the reporting date, the majority of this amount, EUR 2,500 thousand, pertained to cash 
held at Postbank AG by sporttotal.tv, which is a direct security for the loan agreement with 
Postbank AG. Unchanged to the previous year, EUR 500 thousand pertains to a liquid security 
issued to the benefit of Zurich Insurance plc, Germany branch (hereinafter referred to as 
Zurich) in connection with a security deposit insurance agreement. The object of the 
agreement is the assumption of a guarantee by Zurich to the benefit of customers of 
SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH for advance payments and payments of balance made by them 
on the tour price (in return for the issuance of a secured payment certificate for package tour 
participants).  
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(31) Non-cash business transactions 

No non-cash investing and financing activities not recognised in the cash flow statement 
were reported in the financial year. Cash inflows in connection with the disposal of the media 
technology segment in 2016 started to have an effect of EUR 3,391 thousand on liquidity in 
the past financial year. 
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G) General information 

(32) Information on and relationships with related parties 

The business relationships with related parties are generally based on contractually agreed 
provisions and are provided at arm’s length prices. 

In the financial year, transactions with related parties were concluded as follows: 

 

Peter Lauterbach 

Peter Lauterbach was classified as a related party as he is a member of the Management 
Board of SPORTTOTAL AG. In 2013, Peter Lauterbach was issued a loan of EUR 400 
thousand, for which a loan commitment had previously been issued in 2011. The loan 
bears interest in line with the market, currently 4% p.a. (5.5% until 2014), and is repayable 
in full on 28 February 2022. The receivable amounted to EUR 480 thousand as of the 
reporting date. As a security for the issuance of the loan, the Management Board pledged 
its current and future claims arising from the one-year variable bonus and long-term 
bonus (see section 7 “Remuneration report” of the management report). 

Please refer to the remuneration report in the summarised management report and the 
disclosures in No. (34) for information on the total remuneration of the management 
Board and Supervisory Board. 

No further transactions with related parties were concluded in financial year 2017.  

 

(33) Share-based remuneration 

As part of the share option programme launched in 2017, the company granted Peter 
Lauterbach the right to acquire up to 500,000 no-par value shares at a strike price of EUR 
3.81 per share at the end of a four-year waiting period. The exercising of the option is 
linked to the achievement of the performance target that the share price must exceed the 
strike price by at least 20% at the end of the waiting period and before exercising the 
option.  

In 2017, Peter Lauterbach was also granted a long-term bonus with a term of five years, 
which is linked to the development of the company’s market capitalisation within this 
period. The payment claim amounts to 5% of the long-term normalised increase in 
corporate value within the meaning of the stock market capitalisation (total number of 
shares x share price), up to a maximum amount of EUR 2.5 million. The payment claim 
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serves as security for the loan issued to Peter Lauterbach in 2013 (see related party 
transactions). 

The respective liability is measured using an option price model in accordance with 
Black/Scholes (European option), based on the following parameters: 

  Share option Long-term bonus 
Share price               3.68 €                  3.81 €  
Strike price               3.81 €                  2.39 €  
Risk-free interest rate 0.02% 0.47% 
Volatility 24.31% 24.20% 
Total maturity 7.25 years 5.0 years 
Remaining maturity on the reporting date 7.25 years 4.17 years 
Dividend                  -   €                     -   €  
Exercise limit               4.57 €                     -   €  

 

The values regarding the selected share option pertain to the date of issue and those 
regarding the long-term bonus to the reporting date. 

Due to the extensive realignment of the Group, the historical volatility of the SPORTTOTAL 
AG share was regarded as non-representative of future developments. The derivation of 
the volatility used was therefore based on the historical values of a group of peer 
companies operating in the most comparable environment possible. The majority of the 
selected companies operate in the media sector. The volatility used was derived from time 
series over the past five years. 

The use of a European option model suits the purpose as the early exercising of the 
granted share option is not rational and there are no plans to exercise the long-term 
bonus early. 

 

 

(34) Management Board and Supervisory Board remuneration 

The remuneration system for the members of the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG 
comprises a fixed as well as variable salary component. The variable component is l inked 
to the achievement of certain targets, primarily income targets within the SPORTTOTAL AG 
Group.  

The fixed salary component consists of the fixed salary plus the use of a company car and 
insurance payments. The bonus is calculated on the basis of the income situation of the 
Group and is contractually specified.  
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Total remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board of SPORTTOTAL AG 
for their activities in financial year 2017 amounted to EUR 1,544 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 486 thousand) and was comprised as follows (presentation in accordance with DRS 
17):  

  
Total 

 
Peter Lauterbach 

 
Oliver Grodowski 

  
2017   2016 

 
2017 2016 

 
2017 2016 

Remuneration EUR   EUR 
 

EUR EUR 
 

EUR EUR 

  
      

      
Fixed remuneration 451,000   417,500 

 
295,000 282,500 

 
156,000 135,000 

Ancillary 
benefits 

 
43,458   32,061 

 
25,341 18,962 

 
18,117 13,099 

Total   494,458   449,561   320,341 301,462   174,117 148,099 

          
  

  
 

    

Variable remuneration for one year 150,000   36,667 
 

120,000 0 
 

30,000 36,667 

Variable remuneration over several years       
      

 

Share option programme 
2017 – 2024 450,305   0 

 
450,305 0 

 
0 0 

 

Long-term incentive 2017 – 
2022 449,644   0   449,644 0 

 
0 0 

Total   1,049,949   36,667   1,019,949 0   30,000 36,667 

 
        

 
          

Total remuneration 1,544,407   486,228   1,340,290 301,462   204,117 184,766 

 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2017 contains personnel expenses 
in connection with the remuneration granted of only EUR 943 thousand (of which 
provisions recognised in the amount of EUR 412 thousand; of which EUR 28 thousand 
recognised directly in equity). Please refer to the remuneration report in the summarised 
management report for further details. 

The pension obligations contain commitments to former members of the Management 
Board in the amount of EUR 481 thousand. 

The members of the Management Board were granted EUR 81 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 70 thousand) for their activities in financial year 2017. Remuneration includes EUR 33 
thousand for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 
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(35) Executive bodies 

Management Board 

Peter Lauterbach, Hürth, journalist and presenter 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

 

Oliver Grodowski, Meckenheim, businessman 

Chief Technical Officer (CTO)  

 

Supervisory Board 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Dr. Michael Kern, Cologne, graduate economist 
 

Other board memberships:  

• Brink Group B.V., Netherlands – member of the advisory board  
• NanoRepro AG, Marburg, – member of the supervisory board 

Member of the Supervisory Board, Deputy Chairman 

Hans J. Zimmermann, Essen, businessman / senior consultant  
 

Other board memberships:  

• ante-holz GmbH, Bromskirchen – chairman of the advisory board 
• noa bank GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt a.M. – member of the board of creditors 

Member of the Supervisory Board 

Jens Reidel, Rotkreuz (Switzerland), business graduate 
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(36) Auditor’s fee – disclosures in accordance with Section 314 Paragraph 1 No. 9 

HGB 

Breakdown of the auditor’s fee recognised as an expense in financial year 2017: 

 

2017 2016

EUR thousand EUR thousand
the audit 80 79
other consulting services 14 21
tax advisory services 0 0
other services 0 0

94 100
 

 

(37) Employees 

The Group employed an annual average of 202 (previous year: 311) people. 

 

(38) Disclosures in accordance with Section 264 Paragraph 3 HGB 

All subsidiaries listed below for which SPORTTOTAL AG, as the parent company, is obliged 
to directly or indirectly assume losses (through a continuous chain of domination and 
profit and loss transfer agreements) apply the easement option provided by Section 264 
Paragraph 3 HGB. 

• SPORTTOTAL EVENT GmbH, Cologne 
• SPORTTOTAL LIVE GmbH, Cologne 
• SPORTTOTAL CONTENT MARKETING GmbH, Cologne 
• SPORTTOTAL VENUES GmbH, Cologne  
• SPORTTOTAL VENTURES GmbH, Cologne 
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(39) Subsequent events after the reporting date 

Rescission of the loan agreement with Postbank AG by sporttotal.tv  

With effect from 31 January 2018, the contractual relationship between Postbank AG and 
sporttotal.tv was rescinded, the loan recalled in full and the cash deposit and other loan 
securities released. 

 

(40) Appropriation of profits of SPORTTOTAL AG (annual financial statements) 

The unappropriated loss (HGB) recognised in financial year 2016 in the amount of EUR -
12,340 thousand was carried forward to new account in financial year 2017. 

The Management Board proposes to the shareholders’ meeting to carry the balance sheet 
loss of financial year 2017 (HGB) in the amount of EUR -14,607 thousand forward to new 
account. Dividends are generally only distributed on the basis of the annual financial 
statements of the parent company, SPORTTOTAL AG, which have been prepared in 
accordance with German commercial law. In accordance with Section 268 Paragraph 8 
HGB, profits may only be distributed if the unrestricted reserves plus the remaining profit 
carried forward less the remaining loss carried forward exceed EUR 672 thousand. This 
distribution limit is comprised of EUR 652 thousand from the capitalisation of deferred 
taxes and EUR 20 thousand from the difference caused by the changed interest rate for 
compounding pension provisions. 

 

(41) Corporate governance statement in accordance with Section 161 of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG) 

In March 2018, the Management Board and Supervisory Board of SPORTTOTAL AG issued 
the corporate governance statement in accordance with Section 161 AktG and 
permanently published it on the website of SPORTTOTAL AG. 

 

Cologne, 27 March 2018 

SPORTTOTAL AG  

 

Peter Lauterbach       Oliver Grodowski 

– CEO –        – CTO – 
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